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OVERSIGHT HEARING ON THE PROBLEM OF
"BRITTLE BOOKS" IN OUR NATION'S LIBRARIES

TUESDAY, MARCH 3, 1987

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION,

COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:05 a.m., in Room
2261, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Pat Williams (chairman
of the subcommittee) presiding.

Members present: Representatives Williams, Owens, Hayes, Mar-
tinez, and Coleman.

Staff present: Gray Garwood, staff director; Anne Haasmann,
legislative associate; Colleen Thompson, clerk; and Paula McCann,
minority legislative associate.

Mr. WILLIAMS. I call this hearing of the Postsecondary Education
Subcommittee on the subject of the problem of America's "brittle
books" to order.

Someone once described time as a thief, who loves to get sweets
into its book; and time is slowly stealing America's and the world's
cherished past. This year, perhaps unlike any other in America's
history, being our bicentennial of the Constitution, it is perhaps a
most appropriate time to consider the problem that has been char-
acterized as a national emergencyappropriately so, I believe.

Today, many documents that represent this Nation's cultural
and intellectual heritage are literally eroding away. While esti-
mates vary, librarians tell us.that millions of books in America's
libraries are now in great danger. These are the "brittle books"
and they could soon be lost forever.

We know the major cause of the problem of brittle books is the
acid content of the paper upon which they are printed. The tech-
nology to prevent this problem from occurring in the future is now
being developed. We also have the technical capability through
microfilming these documents to resolve part of the present dilem-
ma, thus, there is reason to hope that the knowledge contained in
brittle books can be saved.

A small number of people with limited resources have been
working for a number of years in the public and private sector, and
some progress has been made.

Federal efforts are contributing to the progress. The National
Endowment for the Humanities Office of Preservation Programs,
Title II-C programs of the Higher Education Act, the Library of
Congress Preservation Program, the National Commission on His-

(1)
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torical Records, the National Library of Medicine, and the National
Agricultural Library, all have important ongoing preservation pro-
grams

During fiscal year 1986, approximately $121/2 million was spent
for preservation activities through all these various efforts. Howev-
er, it is important to note that not all of these dollars were spent
on preserving books; in fact, many of these dollars were spent to
fund needed conferences, specialized training, and other secondary
activitiesall related to the need to spread awareness of the prob-
lem and develop the expertise to confront it realistically.

There is clearly more to be done, and soon. It is our Nation's
very memory that is at risk.

Our purpose today, then, is to hear what the experts believe
might be done. We want to explore solutions and we want to deter-
mine the appropriate Federal, State, and private sector roles.

We need to know the magnitude of costs and who should bear
them. Since it is unlikely that all books and collections will be pre-
served, we are interested in exploring what procedures are neces-
sary to insure that selection decisions are made equitably and that
the public can fully participate in all aspects of the process and the
solution.

Let me turn now to the ranking minority member of the commit-
tee, Mr. Coleman.

Mr. CoimmAN. Mr. Chairman, I think you have covered the prob-
lem of what we are looking at this morning. I will, in the interest
of time, forego any statement and look forward to the statements
of the witnesses.

Thank you.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you.
We will ask both members of our first panel, Ms. Lynne Cheney

and Dr. Vartan Gregorian, to come to the table.
It is nice to see you both again. Chairperson Cheney, you may

proceed.

STATEMENTS OF LYNNE CHENEY, CHAIRPERSON, NATIONAL EN-
DOWMENT FOR THE HUMANITIES, AND CHAIRPERSON, NA-
TIONAL COUNCIL ON THE HUMANITIES, ON BEHALF OF THE
NATIONAL ENDOWMENT FOR THE HUMANITIES; AND VARTAN
GREGORIAN, PRESIDENT, THE NEW YORK PUBLIC LIBRARY

Ms. CHENEY. Thank you very much.
I appreciate greatly this opportunity to appear before the sub-

committee to talk about brittle books. As you made very clear in
your opening statement, brittle books is a large and general term,
and when we at the Endowment speak of preservation, we mean
not only books but also newspapers, periodicals, and important doc-
uments that are crucial to our Nation's heritage.

I notice that both Greg and I have brittle books for you here
today to illustrate the problem. His is rather dainty and delicate
and mine is rather large and cumbersome. But they do make an
important point.

Mr. Gregorian was showing me before the meeting that he has a
long and detailed accounting of his book and of its historical impor-
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tance. It happens to be the only copy of that book presently avail-
able in the United States.

My book is more of a mystery. Y-iti can see, though, that it is in
great danger. It falls apart as I pick it up. The book is in Spanish.
It is a military history of the Pacific War. It is impossible for a lay
person or Em expert in a field outside Spanish history to determine
the importance of saving this book.

So one of the efforts that we have made at the Endowment in
our Office of Preservation, which we established in 1985, is to be
sure that humanities scholars come together with librarians, come
together with archivists, and come together with professionals in
the field to help make those important decisions about which books
will be preserved.

Our thrust at the Endown:ent has been on intellectual content
rather than on the book itself. As we see it, the best way to pre-
serve that intellectual content is through microfilming. The process
of selecting those volumes, as I say, is not only one that involves
humanities scholars, it requires coordination and planning on a
grand scale with a number of groups. We have some grants that we
have provided which we hope will serve as models to others who
arc interested in the preservation effort.

One of our important grants was to the Research Libraries
Group in Stanford, California, to conduct a nationwide microfilm-
ing program of endangered books on American history and culture.
RLG is coordinating the microfilming of about 45,000 titles at 10 of
the Nation's largest research libraries.

This project is significant not only for the scholarship that is
being preserved as a result of it, but also because of the coopera-
tion participating libraries have shown in ensuring that there is no
duplication of microfilming. Not only are the decisions that have to
be made upfront important, they also require great coordination
after the fact to make sure that the books that are microfilmed are
entered onto some central record list so that different libraries
won't find themselves having to use funds, which are always in
scarce supply, to duplicate efforts that have been made in other
places.

We are supporting a major project of the Association ofResearch
Libraries to bring together in machine-readable form the National
Register of Microform Masters, which, when it is completed, will
make it easier for researchers and the staff of preservation projects
to know what exists on microfilm.

Today, I want to spend just a few minutes of my time talking
about newspapers. As someone who has written history, I am well
aware that it is often the case that the kind of detail that can
make the past come alive can only be found in the Nation's news-
papers. And yet, newspapers published after 1850 are at risk in the
same way that books and documents are.

Consequently, the Endowment launched in 1982 the United
States Newspaper Program. Our goal is to establish a central bibli-
ographic record of all 250,000 newspaper titles that have been pub-
lished since 1690 and to microfilm copies of the most historically
important of those newspapers which are endangered.

We make grants to individual State projects. We make grants to
national libraries and other repositories. Twenty-five States, two
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Tethiories, and eigh national repositories are now involved in this
effort.

I am happy to report to you, Mr. Chairman, that in Montana the
newspaper project has been one of the most exemplary. It is the
first State, in fact, to complete all phases cf its activities. Under
the guidance of Mr. Robert Clark at the Montana Historical Socie-
ty in Helena, this project has managed to register over 1,000 titles
of newspapers held in Montana, and most of these newspapers
have been preserved on microfilm.

Another thrust of our efforts at the Endowment has been to
make sure that personnel are in place who are knowledgeable
about the preservation :Mit Unless the number of people who can
organize and manage a major preservation program grows, the
number of institutions that can become involved in preservation
will be limited. Only 25 to 30 libraries now have established pro-
grams.

Last month the Endowment made a major award to the Colum-
bia University School of Library Service to continue its training
program for preservation administrators and conservators.

Columbia's program, which the Endowment has supported since
it began in 1981, offers the Nation's only formal curriculum in
preservation administration. We are looking for other ways to help
increase the Nation's suptly of trained preservationists.

We recently provided partial funding .For a preservation training
institute for archivists, under the direction of the Society of Ameri-
can Archivists and the Northeast Document Conservation Center
and that event will occur this June.

For the national effort on preservation to move ahead, there
simply must be more public awareness of the issues involved. That
public awareness is also necessary to stimulate the non-Federal
support that is needed for this to be successful.

I, as a scholar myself, spent many years working in libraries,
working with newspapers particularly, that were in the state that
this book is in now, without having any grasp of the total problem.
I would go home after a day in the Library of Congress reading old
newspapers and feel the resin on my hands and fi.cid pieces of
paper clinging to my clothes. Though I was involved with these
documents, I did not understand the magnitude of the problem.

One cf the efforts we have undertaken at the Endowment to in-
crease public awareness of the problem is to help fund a film on
the subject of preservation. It is -Slow Fires". It will exist in
both a one-hour and a half-hour version. The hour-long version will
air on PBS.

We are hoping that both versions of this film will be of help to
people involved in preservation efforts to raise not only F ublic con-
sciousness but to raise the non-public funds that this effort will in-
volve.

I understand that the President's Committee on the Arts and the
Humanities will be submitting testimony to today's hearing and
their efforts to increase financial support from the private sector
for preservation activities is most heartening.

Preservation, if it is to be successful and cost efficient, will in-
volve commitment and cooperation. The libraries, archives, and
other repositories that hold endangered materials must demon-
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strate a commitment to saving their own holdings. State and local
governments must show a willingness to preserve books and peri-
odicals under their control. Foundaaons, corporations, and other
private funders must be encouraged to contribute to the preserva-
tion of our intellectual heritage.

The Endowment, for its part, will use its good offices to further
these activities and to help coordinate them, and to continue to
fund model projects, after which others may pattern their efforts.

Thank you, and I am happy to entertain questions now or to
listen to my good friend Greg.

[The prepared statement of Lynne Cheney and additional materi-
al fullowl
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Mr. Chairman and Members of tne Subcommittee:

Thank you for the opportunity to appear before this Subcommittee
to discuss the topic of preservation. I understand that the focus of
today's hearing is "brittle books." Tnis is certainly a major problem,
but at the Endowment "brittle books" are only part of what concerns
us. Also at risk are newspapers, periodicals, and documents that are
crucial to our nation's heritage. Many of these materials published
after 1850 have already deteriorated or will eventually be endangered
because of the high acid content of tne paper on which they were

4 printed. Poor handling, care, and storage accelerate their decay.

So numerous are the research resources at risk in our nation's
libraries, so complex are the problems associated witn saving them, we
at the Endowment decided in 1985 to establish a special Office of
Preservation to concentrate our activities and to draw attention to
preservation. As we set it, efforts must proceed along many fronts at
once, bat' always with an emphasis on coordination and management.
National planning is essential, and so the Endowment encourages
cooperation among libraries and archives, professional groups and
organizations, state and local governments, foundations and other
private funders to set forth effective strategies. The goal is to move
forward in a way that ensures that limited financial resources are put
to best use and that wasteful duplication of effort is avoided.

As far as books and periodicals are concerned, we at tne Endowment
are primarily interested in intellectual content rather than the
volumes themselves. We have found that the best way to preserve that
content is through micro laming. The process of selecting which
volumes are to be microfilmed, of deciding which are vital for
research, requires coordination an& planning on a grand scale. Tne
Endowment has been encouraging this approach through a number cf
grants. We have provided major funding to the Researcn Libraries Group
(RLG) in Stanford, California, for example, to conduct a nationwide
microfilming program of endangered books on American history and
culture. RLG is coordinating the microfilming of about 45,000 titles
at ten of the nation's largest research libraries. The project is
significant not only for the scholarship that is being preserved but
also for the cooperation the participating libraries have shown in
ensuring against wasteful and needless duplication in microfilming.
The Endowment also has supported national cooperative microfilming
projects in other subject areas of interest to humanities scholars
including the classics, East Asian studies, and Latin American
studies. Similar projects in art history, foreign languages and
literatures, and English literature may be undertaken in the future.

It is essential that information abOut what has been preserved on
microfilm is widely known and available -- to scholars, of course, who
will use these materials, Out also to other preservation projects so
that they do not duplicate what has already been filmed. The Endowment
therefore urges its grantees to contribute a record of their work to
national library data bases and other bibliographic resources. More
specifically, we are supporting a major project of the Association of

11
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Research Libraries to bring together in lachine-readable form the
National Register of Microform Masters, wnich, when completed, will
make it easier for researcners and the staff of preservation projects
to know what exists on microfilm.

Because newspapers chronicle the major events and everyday
occurences that make up the fabric of our nation's past, tOey are a
major research resource for scholars of American history and culture.
Yet, until re,ently, it was often difficult for scholars to locate and
use certain newspapers necessary to their research. To remedy this
situation, in 1982 the Endowment launched the nationwide United States
Newspaper Program to establin a central bibliogaphic record of all
250,000 American newspaper titles published since 1690 and to microfilm
copies of the most historically important of these that are
endangered. Through this program, now administered in our Office of
Preservation, we make grants to individual state projects to survey,
catalogue, and preserve newspapers held by institution.; within their
b6undaries. Grants =re also made to national libraries and other
repositories to catalogue and preserve important titles in their
holdings. This monumental undertaking has now involved twenty-five
states, two territories, and eight national repositories. These
projects collectively have brought over 60,000 titles into a national
data base, making information about these newspapers accessible for the
first time at more than 6,000 computer terminals in libraries
throughout the country.

Mr. Chairman, I am happy to report rNat the Montana neespaper
project has been one of the exemplary projects in o',r program. In

fact, Montana is the first state to complete all phases of its
activities. Under the guidance of Mr Hobert Clark at the Montana
Historical Society in Helena, over 1,000 titles of newspapers held in
Montana have been catalogued and cntereo into the national data base.
Most of these newspapers have at:2 been preserved on microfilm. while
some of this work was accomplished before the NCH grant, Endowment
funds of $126,181 allowed th, project to come to fruition. This
included 518,000 to match non-federal funds contributed to the project
by third-party donors in Montana.

(Attached to this statement is a copy of a news release tne
Endowment made in January that describes in more detail the U.S.
Newspapers Program, The Associated Press picked up the piece, and many
newspapers across the country ran related stories. We hope this wide
coverage will help stimulate third-party support for individual state
projects.)

The nation's libraries must have specially trained and
knowledgeable preservation personnel if our national planning
initiatives are to be effective. Unless tne number of persons who can
organtze and manage a major preservation program is increased, tne
number of institutions that can become involved in preservation will be
limited. Indeed, only about twenty-five to thirty libraries now have
establisned programs. Last month, the Endowment made a major award of
3ac1,453 to the Culumble University School of Library Service to
continue its training program for preservation administrators and
conservators. Columbia's program, wnich tne Endowment has supported

12
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since it began in 1981, offers the nation's only formal curriculum in
preservation administration. Under this program, libraries from across
the country are invited to nominate personnel to attend the school to
learn how to direct preservation programs at their home institutions;
instruction is also offered in conservation techniques. The program
has graduated 26 students to date; the Endowment's latest grant will
help produce another 38 graduates over the next three years.

To complement Columbia's pioneering efforts, the Endowment has
recently begun to explore the possibility of establishing other grant
mechanisms for increasing the nation's supply of trained
preservationists. We have also provided partial funding for a
preservation training institute for archivists, under the direction of
the Society of American Archivists and the northeast Document
Conservation Center, that will take pla. this June.

For the national coordinated preservation effort to move forward,
it is necessary to heighten public awareness of the issues involved and
to generate greater non-federal support. Accordingly, an Endowment
grant of $150,000 to the Council on Library Resources has helped
produce a documentary film, "Slow Fires," that should enlighten the
general public and library professionals alike about the seriousness of
the problem. The full one-hour film will be broadcast on public
television; a shorter half-hour version is being prepared for
educational and fund-raising purposes. These films should prove to be
important tools for assisting our grantees, as well as others involved
in preservation, in raising non-federal funding for their projects.
Increasing private support for individual projects and programs is one
of the cornerstones of the Endowment's preservation initiative.
Through our matching grant mechanism, we have helped stimulate to date
over $1.73 million in third-party donations to preservation projects
funded by the Endowment.

I understand that the President's Committee on the Arts and the
Humanities will ;as,: be submitting testimony to today's hearing on
their efforts to increase financial support from the private sector for
preservation activities. T'a President's Committee, acting in concert
with the National Institute for the Conservation of Cultural Property,
has established the National Committee to Save America's Cultural
Collections to pursue this goal. I am encouraged by this initiative
and look forward to working with the Committee to expand the base of
private support for preservation.

Preservation, if it is to be successful and cost efficient, must
involve commitment and cooperation. The libraries, archives, and other
repositories that hold the endangered materials must demonstrate a
commitment to saving their own holdings. State and local governments
must show a willingness to preserve books and periodicals under their
control. Foundations, corporations, and other private funders must be
encouraged to contribute to the preservation of our intellectual
heritage. The Endowment, for its part, will use its good offices to
further these activities and to help in the effort of coordinating
them. Cooperation on this scale will not be easy, but with so much at
stake, surely we can achieve it.
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE:

HUMANITIES ENDOWMENT SUPPORTS.PROGRAM TO PRESERVE U.S. NEWSPAPERS
PUBLISHED SINCE 169P

NEH has granted $6.4 million for projects to date, including $1.48 'anion
just announced for Arkansas, Colorado, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania,

and Wisconsin

WASHINGTON -- Twenty-four states and two territories now are involved in

a long-range program funded by the National Endowment for the Humanities

(NCH) to locate and preserve millions of newspapers and to catalogue in a

national database an estimated 250,000 newspaper titles published in this

country from 1690 to the present.

Humanities Endowment Chairman Lynne V. Cheney said that the United

States Newspaper Program (USNP), a coordinated national effort conducted

with the Library of Congress, is making three hundred years of the nation's

news available to the public, in many cases for the first time.

To date, the NEH has awarded grants totaling $6.4 million to the USNP.

Non-federal funds contributed to USNP projects amount to an additional $2.0

million.

"Few primary resources are more important for informing us about our

past than our newspapers, said Cheney. They are a continuing chronicle of

the events, large and small, that woven together comprise the historical

fabric of the nation, beginning with Publick Occurrence:, published in

Boston in 1690.

- More -

14
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NEM USNP Mews Release
1/15/07
Page 2

"Up to now there has been no comprehensive program for locating,

cataloguing, and preserving the wealth of information in tre nation's

newspapers," Cheney added. "NOw, through tne United States Newspaper

Program, many of the historical and cultural riches locked away in our

newspapers are being brought to light.

'Thousands of newspapers have been located and catalogued for the first

time and made available to scholars, students, genealogists and the general

Public. In many cases these newspapers also are being preserved for future

generations of readers,' Cheney said.

Cheney announced USNP planning grants for Arkansas ($6,072) and Coloraoc

(510,000). Planning grants allow project directors to survey and estimate

newspaper holdings within their states and to develop long-range

'implementation' plans for cataloguing and preserving the state's newspapers.

Cheney also announced implementation grants to New York (S258,668), Ohio

(5169,349), Wisconsin ($131,415) and Pennsylvania ($805,602, or which

$300,000 is being matched from private sources).

One of the most exciting aspects of this program is that new newspaper

titles and whole runs of old newspapers are being discovered,' sne said.

"Project directors intensively survey their states, the word gets out that

old newspapers are being sought, searches are made, and new material is

found in garages, attics, cellars, newspaper offices, and city halls.'

In fact, the increase between a state's first estimate of its newspaper

holdings and the discovery of new material can be more than 50 percent. In

Indiana, for example, researchers revised their estimate of Litles tram

3,200 to 5,500 as a result of new findings.

- More -
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In the process of cataloguing newspaper titles. Often tnose conducting

USNP Projects discover that entire runs of newspapers are in Pad condition

and must be Preserved through microfilming.
Preservation of newspapers Is

vital facet of the USNP because so many newspapers, especially those printed

after 1860, were printed on newspaper stock that is steadily deteriorating,

according to Cheney.

Once newspaper titles are catalogued and those newspapers with the

highest priority are microfilmed, information about them is entered into a

national library database monitored by the Library of Congress and

maintained through the computer facilities or the Online Computer Library

Center (0=), Inc., in Dublin, Ohio. OCLC computer terminals now are

located in more than 4,000 institutions nationwide.

Researchers can use the computer database from nearly anywhere in the

country to locate a specific newspaper title. When titles are not known,

researchers can locate newspapers geographically, by county or town, through

printed or microform listings Provided by each state project. Microfilm

copies of selected newspapers can be ordered through inter-library loan

services.

In addition to state projects, the Endowment has funded the cataloguing

of newspapers at eight national repository libraries and also funded

Preservation at one of the eight. Each of these libraries has extensive

newspaper collections containing titles from nearly all 50 states. ExPelses

for this total 52.120,964. This is part of the S6.4 million total which NEM

has put into the Program.

The National Endowment for the Humanities is an independent federal

agency that supports researcn. scnoiarshio. education and general audience

Programs in the humanities.

per
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INDIANA: ONE STATE'S EXPERIENCE WITH THE USNP

',Historians have an adage. No sources, no history.' In a great many

cases this comes down to 'No newspapers, no history.

So says Walter Nugent, WhO holds the Distinguished Andrew V. Tacks

History Chair at the University of Notre Dame. Nugent was an early advocate

for Indiana's newspaper project.

The histoiy-of newspaper publishing in Indiana began in 1804 with The

Indiana Gazette, a weekly published in Vincennes. Now, for the first time

in its history, the state is able to do a comprehensive survey to locate

newspapers and then catalogue and preserve them, according to Sally J.

Rausch, project director and associate dean for technical services at the

Indiana University Libraries in Bloomington.

Institutions participating with Indiana University Libraries include the

Indiana Historical Society, the Indiana State Library, and the Indiana

Cooperative Services Library Authority.

"Not surprisingly, those working on the Indiana Newspaper Project have

found that there are many more newspaper titles to be catalogued than had

been estimated originally," said Rausch.

She said that painstaking inventory work early in the project turned up

a number of titles whose existence had been unknown. Researchers revised

their estimate of titles from 3,200 to 5,500. They discovered, for example,

that the present Banner Graphic in Greencastle had 32 ancestor newspapers

between 1852 and 1970.

More -
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many of tnese titles turn up as tne public becomes aware of tne USW.

Ricnard Dodd, a resident of Gosport, brought to tne project's attention an

1885 issue of Tne Gosport meekly Spy preserved among his family's Japers far

Over a hundred years. Tne Indiana Historical Society re-examined its

holdings and discovered the first issue of the Anti-Slavery Cnronicle and

Free labor Advocate, published in New Garden in 1847.

Sometimes newspapers are found for communities tnat no longer exist. The

project haS catalogued the first issue of the Marble Hill Era, publisned in

that southern Indiana community April 5, 1894.

Observes Marvin 0. Williams, Jr., the principal cataloguer for the

Indiana project, "Marble Hill no longer exists as a town. Its nistory is

preserved for us only through its newspapers." milliams adds that tne Era's

motto was Not for love, honor or fame, but for Casn."

In tne process of locating and cataloguing old newspapers, researchers

have found that many are in deteriorating condition and must be preserved.

Their preservation through microfilming is being made possible by a number

of substantial gifts toward the project, including ones from the state's

legislature and its newspapers.

Gifts of $5,000 each have come to the project from Eugene S. Pulliam,

publisher of the Indianapolis Star and the Indianapolis News, and Richard G.

Inskeep, president and publisher of tne Fort Mayne Journal Gazette.

"Many Indiana newspapers, ours included, have provided moral and

material support to tne Indiana Newspaper Project because we feel it is an

important step in having available to future generations an almost unique

record of the communities whe., newspapers were published," said Pulliam, a

member of the Advisory Committee for Indiana's project.

- Hore -
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Once the newspapers have been identified and wnere necessary preserved,

they then become the tool of the researcher, the genealogist, tne scnolar,

the journalist.

Newspapers are essential, as Howard Caldwell, an Indianapolis TV news

anchorman, found in his research on the history of Indianapolis tneater.

"Only through newspapers can I easily find what played at these theaters

by using the advertisements and the printed reviews," Caldwell said.

"Newspapers reveal much more than the obvious facts. They reveal attitudes,

ethics and techniques on any given day."

19
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WHAT'S IN A TITLE?

History changes and sometimes newspaper titles do along with it.

That's one thing the U.S. Newspaper Program has shown.

According to David Hoffman, Director, Division of Library Services,

State Library of Pennsylvania, the Pittsburgh Post- Gazette has undergone 44

changes of title since 1786 when it began publishing.

In contrast the Bedford Gazette in Bedford, Pennsylvania, has been

published from 180S to the present without a title change, making it the

longest lasting newspaper title in Pennsylvania.

I
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U.S. NEWSPAPER PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS

This state-by-state list reflects the NEN funds awarded to date in
support of the USNP, the current status of each state's efforts with
estimates of the number of titles to be catalogued, and the name,
telephone number and institution for the state's project director.

ALABAMA. ($413,079) Cataloguing and microfilming. An estimated
3,000 titles to be located and recorded. Edwin C. Bridges,
Director, Alabama Department of Archives and History, Montgomery.
AL. 205/261-4361.

ARKANSAS. ($6,072) Planning. Michael J. Dabrishus, University of
ATEWiTai Libraries, Fayetteville, AR. 501/575-5577.

COLORADO. ($10,000) Planning. Katherine Kane, State Historical
SZErW5-of Colorado, Denver, CO. 303/866-4601.

DELAWARE. (;158,787) Cataloguing. An estimated 600 titles to be
TWE1RRand recorded. Harold D. Neikirk, Head Bibliographer,
University of Delaware Libraries, Newark. DE. 302/451-2432.

GEORGIA. ($10,000) Planning. J. Larry Gulley, Assistant
ETSFiTTan, Special Collections, University of Georgia Libraries,
Athens, GA. 404/542-7123.

HAWAII. ($49,900) Cataloguing completed, with 476 titles located
an recorded. John R. Hank, University Librarian, Hamilton Library,
University of Hawaii at Hanoi., Honolulu, HI. 808 /948-7205.

INDIANA. ($333,163) Cataloguing. An estimated 5,500 titles to be
located and recorded. Sally J. Rausch, Associate Dean for Technical
Services, Indiana University Libraries, Bloomington, IN.
812/335-3403.

IOWA. (8111.239) Cataloguing. An estimated 6.500 titles to be
located And recorded. Nancy Kraft. Director of Libraries, State
Historical Society of Iowa, Iowa City, IA. 319/335-3916.

- More -
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U.S. NEWSPAPER PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS

KENTUCKY. ($132,136) Cataloguing. An est!offed 5,590 titles to be
located and.recorded.. Judy Sackett, Head,
Periodicals-Newspapers-Microtexts Oepartment, N.!. King Library,
University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY. 606/2',7-5387.

LOUISIANA. (89,994) Planning. Elsie S. Hebert, Associate
Professor, Winship School of Journalism, Louisiana State University,
Baton Rouge, LA. 504/388-2336.

MASSACHUSETTS. ($10,000) Planning. B. Joseph O'Neil, Supervisor
of is Library Services, aOston Public Library, Boston, HA.
617/336 -3400.

MISSISSIPPI. ($171,700) Cataloguing. Pri estimated 2,100 titles to
be ccated and recorded. Nadel Morgan, Oirector, Archives and
Library Division', Mississippi Department of Archives and History,
Jackson, NS. 601/359-1424.

MONTANA. ($126,181) Cataloguing and microfilming completed, with
roirEitles located and recorded. Robert M. Clark, Librarian,
Montana Historical Society, Helena, MT. 406/444-4787.

NEVADA. (5135,315) Cataloguing. An estimated 600 titles to be
located and recorded. Robert E. Bless., Head of Special
Collections, University of Nevada-Reno Library, Reno, NV.
702/784-6538.

NE!! HAMPSHIRE. ($9,115) Planning. John R. James, Director of
MAITIZITTFUivelopment and Bibliographic Control, Dartmouth College
Library, Hanover, NH. 603/646-3187.

NEW JERSEY. ($189,208) Cataloguing. An estimated 3,020 titles to
be ocated and recorded. Lida Sak, Rutgers University Libraries,
New Brunswick, NJ. 201/932-7313.

NEW YORK. ($268,668) Cataloguing. An estimated 6,500 titles to be
located recorded. Patricia Mallon, Net York State Library,
Albany, NY. 518/474-6971.

OHIO ($179,318) Cataloguing. An estimated 3,400 titles to be
located and recorded. William G. Myers, Ohio Historical Society,
Columbus, OH. 614/297 -2331.

- More -
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U.S. NEWSPAPER PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS

PENNSYLVANIA. (51,216,061) Cataloguing and microfilming. An
estimated 9,500 titles to be located and recorded. David Hoffman,
Director, Oivision of Library Services, State Library of
Pennsylvania, Harrisburg, PA. 717/783-5968.

PUERTO RICO. ($9,000) Planning. Luisa Vigo-Cepeda, Oirector of
Special. Projects and Economic Resources, University of Puerto Rico,
Rio Piedras, PR. 809/764-0000.

TEXAS. ($215,623) Cataloguing. An estimated 5,000 titles to be
located and recorded. Bobby O. Weaver, Archivist, Panhandle-Plains
Historical Museum. Canyon, TX. 806/656-3146.

UTAH. (5115,582) Cataloguing completed, with 1,263 titles located
and recorded. Robert F. Holley, Assistant Oirector for Technical
Services, Harriett Lib* Jry, University of UL4h, Salt Lake City, UT.
801/581-7741.

VIRGIN ISLANDS. ($17,363) Cataloguing completed, with 57 titles
Mated and recorded. Henry C. Chang, Oepartment of Conservation
and Cultural Affairs, Oivision of Libraries, Museums, and
Archerlogical Services, St. Thomas, USVI. 809/773-5715.

WASHINGTON STATE. (510,000) Planning. Jeanne Engerman, Washington
Room Librarian, Washington State Library, Olympia, WA.
206/753-4024.

1 WEST VIRGINIA. (5185,319) Cataloguing and microfilming. An
estimated 1,100 titles to be located and recorded. Harold N.
Forbes, Associate Curator, West Virginia A Regional History
Collections, West Virginia University Library, Morgantown, WV.
304/293-3536..

WISCONSIN. (5131,415) Cataloguing and microfilming. An estimated
2,200 titles to be located and recorded. James P. Oanky, Newspapers
and Periodicals Librarian, State Historical Society of Wisconsin,
Madison, WI. 608/262-9584.

- More -
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U.S. NEWSPAPER PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS: GATIOVSI DEPOSITORY PPOJECTS

In addition to state projects, the Endowment has fundee the
cataloguing of newspapers at eight national repository libraries and
also funded p ion tt one of the eight. Fach of these
libraries has extensive newspaper collections containing titles from
nearly all SO states.

AMERICAN ANTIQUARIAN SOCIETY, ($425,794), Worcester,
Massachusetts. Cataloguing. An estimated 13,000 titles to be
located and recorded. Joyce Tracy, Newspaper and Serials
Librarian. 617/7SS-5221.

CENTER TOR RESEARCH LIBRARIES, (B35,145), Chicago, Illinois.
Cataloguing completed with 1.03$ titles located and recorded.
Karla D. Petersen, Director for Technical Services.
312/9Si-4SSS.

KANSAS STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY. (8415,840. Topeka, Kansas.
Cataloguing. An estimated 12,500 titles to be located and
recorded. Eugene Decker, State Archivist. 913/296-4792.

THE NEW YORK PUBLIC LIBRARY. ($246,568). New York, New York.
Cataloguing and microfilming. An estimated 6,000 tith's to be
recorded. Irene Percelli, Serials Department. 212/930-0639.

THE NEW-PORK HISTORICAL SOCIETY, ($298,316). New York, New York.
Cataloguing completed. with 9.080 titles recorded. Stephen Iletz,
Assistant Librarian for Technical Services. 212/173-3400. (ext.
22)

RUTGERS UNIVERSITY LIBRARY, ($140,000), New Brunswick. New Jersey.
Cataloguing completed. with 3,000 titles recorded. Lida Sak,
Rutgers University Libraries. 201/932:7513

WESTERN RESERVE HISTORICAL SOCIETY, ($207,689). Cleveland, Ohio.
Cataloguing completed. with 3,920 titles recorded. Kermit Pike,
Director of the Library. 216/721-5722.

STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF WISCONSIN, ($350,912), Madison.
Wisconsin. Cataloguing. An estinated 7,000 titles to be recorde4.
Janes P. Danky, Newspapers and Periodicals Librarian.
608/262-9584

1
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE LOCAL NEWS
ILLINOIS BECOMES 25TH STATE TO JOIN UNITED STATES NEWSPAPER PROGRAM

WASHINGTON, February 25 -- Lynne V. Cheney, Chairman of the National

Endowment for the Humanities, has announced that Illinois his become the

25th state to join the United States Newspaper Program (USNP).

The USNP is a long-range program funded by the Humanities Cndowment to

locate and preserve millions of newspapers and to catalogue in a national

database an estimated 250,000 newspaper titles published in this country

from 1690 to the present.

Cheney announced a planning grant for 516,177 to the Illinois State

Historical Library in Springfield. The grant will allow the Ilb.ary during

the next 12 months to develop a plan to survey he newspaper haldings in

Illinois, locate unknown titles, catalogue those titles, create a

COnOtehenSlve list of Illinois newspapers, and establish priorities for

microfilming the state's newspapers.

The project director for the USNP planning grant is Roger 0. Bridges,

assistant state historian at the Illinois State Historical Library.

"we are pleased that half the states in the nation now are involved in

this important national program," said Cheney, and we look forward to

working with the remaining states in coming years. The Endowment began

tne USNP in 1982.

NOTE TO EOITORS: ConPlete details on the USNP are attached in a news

release diStributed in January.
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Let's hear from Dr. Gregorian and then we will
ask both of you to submit to questions.

Dr. GREGORIAN. Any one of us who uses books and paper is ex-
posed to the problem of deterioration of paper. Looking at a four-
day-ole. Washington Post, or a four-year-old paperback, they decay
before our eyes. Millions of books, periodicals, manuscripts, and
other materials have already been lost, or at this very minute, are
on the verge of extinction due to ravages of time, pollution, use,
misuse, and the very content of the paper itself. Almost everything
published since the mid-nineteenth century has been printed on
paper containing self-destructive acids. It is ironic that the produc-
tion of cheap paper, which helped democratized the written word,
also bore the seeds of its own destruction.

I testify before you today not just as the President of the New
York Public Library, or as a member of the Commission on Preser-
vation and Access, but as an historian as well. Our current strug-
gle for the preservation of the endangered books, journals, periodi-
cals and papers is urgent and the problems we face are awesome.
Time is of the essence and national cooperation is an historical ne-
cessity. We must join forces and means. For the issue is not mere
preservation of millions of brittle books, but rather the preserva-
tion of mankind's heritage, and that goes beyond the doors of any
single library.

As we celebrate the 200th anniversary of our cherished Constitu-
tion, we must remind ourselves that celebration alone is not
enough. We have an historical obligation to preserve our history,
our culture, traditionsin short, the legacy of our forefathers, our
national heritage, and our memory. The library stands as an act of
honor to the past. and a witness to the future, thus, it constitutes a
visible judgment on both.

It is incumbent upon us as guardians of our Nation's heritage
and humanity's legacy to speak out, to expand and accelerate an
historical rescue operation in honor of the past and for the benefit
of the future.

The question of preservation of our Nation's and humanity's
record demands a sound plan, effective national and international
cooperation, a massive infusion of funds, and the introduction and
utilization of new scientific and technological tools.

In this domain the Federal Government has already shown great
leadership. The National Endowment for the Humanities' Office of
Preservation has been an excellent example of what a relatively
small program can accomplish, by supporting training, conferences,
microfilming, and other preservation projects.

I am glad that my distinguished friend as a historian is most famil-
iar with problems of records, journals, and archives, and every sort
of paper which carries seeds of its own destruction.

The Library of Congress, under the direction of Dan Boorstin and
William Welsh has led the Nation and brought its active filming
program and its research into better preservation methods. Still, in
the face of this national crisis, I believe the Federal Government
has yet a greater role to play among the array of sources commit-
ted to solving the problem, and that is in the area of preservation
microfilming. Because when a brittle book is microfilmed, its con-
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tents become accessible to the public, not only throughout the
United States, but throughout the world.

This process is therefore not just an act of preservation, it is an
act of democratization of access to information and knowledge as
well.

I have here a brittle book, the only copy of its kind in the United
States. It is about a small French town during World War I, and a
major work describing the Battle of Marne. As a result of this
being microfilmed, this is available now to all the libraries in the
country and to all the scholars in the country. Before, we could not
have mailed this to any scholar because it is almost a dead book.
We have resurrected it through microfilming.

This microfilming is essential because, in my opinion, this democ-
ratization process will allow us for the first time to compensate for
the fact that the vagaries of history on philanthropy led to the
greatest book collections being built in only a handful of locations.
In a sense, microfilming and preservation not only preserves, but
democratizes knowledge and its access to all Americans in all our
50 States.

The subcommittee's request for testimony raised the question of
the appropriate role of the Federal Government and other poten-
tial funding sources. The New York Public Library is an example
of an institution where government initiatives and private philan-
thropy have joined to support a fine preservation program. In this
country, our effort is second in size only to that of the Library of
Congress.

In fiscal year 1987 we will spend over $3 million on our preserva-
tion activities resulting in over 260,000 items receiving some kind
of preservation treatment. Our funding sources in this area are net
stable, however, and we may be faced with having to preserve less
in the future. Certainly, the Federal Government, in particular, the
National Endowment for the Humanities, has already been far-
sighted and generous in their support of this effort. However, even
though we have one of the largest programs in the Nation, we are
still filming only 14,000 volumes each year.

We also have one of the oldest programs, having begun our film-
ing effort over 50 years ago. In that time, we have filmed the equiv-
alnnt of 500,000 volumeshardly a dent when one considers that
there are 26 million items in our collections.

I am not here, however, to urge more funding for the New York
Public Library. The problem is inore complicated than that, and no
single institution cart solve it on its own.

I am here before you on behalf of a major national effort to film
more books and create a library of preserved titles for the future.
Such a national effort, to be successful, must inw.-Ave sustained sup-
port over several years. The New York Public Library would, of
course, be a willing participant in such an endeavor.

The work that has already been accomplished by the library as-
sociations, the NEH and other Federal agencies, the Library of
Congress, and most recently, the Commission on Preservation and
Access of the Council on Library Resources has brought us to the
point where we stand prepared to address this problem and its so-
lution. Private, local and State support is being developed. We

2,7
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know what we must do, and if we act now we can do it for less and
save more.

I am always moved by the appeal of the United Negro College
Fund: "A mind is a terrible thing to waste." I must remind you
that we stand to waste the fruit of many minds, indeed, many cul-
tures, if we hesitate in our response to this national crisis.

As custodians of the heritage of humanity, we have the historic
and moral obligation as well as the opportunity to rescue the
record of the past for the world of the future. Let us unite, and let
us begin.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Vartan Gregorian follows..]

1
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Testimony of Vartan Gregorian, President,

The New York Public Library

Subcommittee on Post Secondary Education

Representative Pat Williams, Chairman

March 3, 1987

Anyone of us who uses books and paper is exposed to the

problem of dotoriorat-ng paper. Look at a four day old

Washington Post, or a four year old paperback. They decay

before our eyes. Millions of books, periodicals, manuscripts,

and other materials have already been lost, or at this very

minute, are on the verge of extinction due to the ravages of

time, pollution, use, misuse and the very content of the paper

itself. Almost everything published since the mid-nineteenth

century has been printed on paper containing self-destructive

acids. It is ironic that the production of cheap paper--which

helped democratize the written word- -also bore the seeds of its

own destruction.

I testify before you today not just as the President of The

New York Public Library, or as a member of the Commission on

Preservation and Access, but as an historian as well. Our

struggle for the preservation of the endangered books, journals,

periodicals and papers is urgent and the problems we face are

awesome. Time is of the essence and national cooperation is an
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historical necessity. We must join forces and means. For the

issue is not more preservation of millions of brittle books, but

rather the preservation of mankind's heritage, and that goes

beyond the doors of any single library.

AA we celebrate the 200th anniversary of our cherished

Constitution, we must remind ourselves that celebration alone is

not enough. We have an historical obligation to preserve our

history, culture, traditions -- in short the legacy of our

forefathers and our national heritage. The Library has always

been not only a repository but a center of learning. The

Library has been a bulwark of democracy. It constitutes a

critical element in the free exchange of information which is

central to our democracy. The Library stands as an act of honor

to the past and a witness to the future, thus a visible judgment

on both. For what will befall our political system if a

majority of our people are ignorant of the ideals, traditions

and purpose of democracy? "If a nation expects to be ignorant

and free," wrote Thomas Jefferson, "it expects what never was

and never will be." That is why it is-incumbent upon us, as

guardians of our nation's heritage and humanity's legacy, to

speak out, to expand and accelerate an historical rescue

operation in honor of the past and for the benefit of the

future.

The question of'preservation of our nation's and humanity's

record demands a sound plan, effective national and inter-

national cooperation, a massive infusion of funds, and the

introduction and utilization of new scientific and technological

tools. In this domain the Federal government has already shown

-2-
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great leadership. The National Endowment for the Humanities'

office of Preservation has been an excellent example of what a

relatively small program can accomplish, by supporting training,

conferences, microfilming, and other preservation projects. The

Library of Congress, under the direction of Daniel Boorstin and

William Welsh, has led the nation in both its active filming

program and in its research into better preservation methods.

Still, in face of this national crisis, I believe the Federal

Government has yet a greater role to play among the array of

funding sources committed to solving the problem, and that is in

the area of preservation microfilming.

It io particularly appropriate that the Federal Government

take on the responsibility of expanding the national capacity

for preservation microfilming, for this is a process that makes

books available throughout the nation. A book is aimed; a

record of that fact is then entered into a national database

(for example, through the Research Libraries Information

Network, or RLIN), and a master negative, from which additional

copies can be made upon request, is retained in perpetuity in a

climate controlled vault. Thus, the knowledge in a book located

at The New York Public Library, in such bad condition that it

could not have been loaned or even copied on conventional

machines, is now accessible to the public not only throughout

the United States, but throughout the world. This process is

therefore not just an act of preservation, it is an act of

democratization of access to information and knowledge as well.

We now have the opportunity to compensate for the fact that the

vagaries of history and philanthropy led to the greatest book

collections being built in only a handful of locations.

-3-
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The subcommittee's request for testimony raised the

question of the appropriate role of the Federal government and

other potential funding sources. The New York Public Library is

an example of an institution.where government initiatives and

private philanthropy have joined to support a fine preservation

program. In this country, our effort is second in size only to

that of the Library of Congress. In Fiscal Year 1987 we will

spend over $3 million on our preservation activities resulting

in over 260,000 items receiving some kind of preservation

treatment. 'Our funding sources in this area are not stable,

however, and we may be faced with having to preserve less in the

future. Certainly, the Federal government, in particular the

National Endowment for the Humanities, has already been far

sighted and generous in their support of this effort. However,

even though we have one of the largest programs in the nation,

we are still filming only 14,000 volumes each year. We also

have one of the oldest programs, having begun our filming effort

over 50 years ago. In that time, we have filmed the equivalent

of 500,000 volumeshardly a dent when one considers that there

are 26,000,000 items in cur collections.

I am not here, however, to urge more funding for The New

York Public Library. The problem is more complicated than that,

and no single institution can solve it on its own. I am here

before you on behalf of a major national effort to film more

books and create a library of preserved titles for the future.

Such a national effort, to be successful, must involve sustained

support over several years. The New York Public Library would,

of.course, Le a willing participant in such an endeavor. The

-4-
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work that has already been accomplished by the library

associations, the NEH and other Federal agencies, The Library of

Congress, and most recentl!I; The Commission on Preservation and

Access of the Council on Library Resources has brought us to the

point where we stand prepared
to address this problem and its

solution. Private, local and State support is being dcreloped.

We know what we must do, and if we act now, we can do it for

less and save more.

I am always moved by the appeal of the United Negro College
Fund, "A mind is a terrible thing to waste." I must remind you
that we stand to waste the fruit of many minds, indeed many
cultures, if we hesitate in our response to this national

crisis. As custodians of the heritage of humanity, we have the

historic and moral ob:dgation as well as the opportunity to

rescue the record of the past for the world of the future. Let
us unite, let us begin.

-5-
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Thanks to both of you.
Mr. Coleman.
Mr. COLEMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Gregorian, as one who has sat in your institution and done

work and research, I can only say what a great library you have.
Let me ask you and Ms. Cheneyyou have given us a lot about

the facts and made an impression on us, and you outline the kind
of hit-and-miss type of operation we have now with some funds
from the humanities, some funds from private sources in the effort
to preserve endangered books.

I wonder if the purpose of why we are meeting here today is try
to tie all this up into framing it in some fashion that either some-
one is going to be selected to select the books or manuscripts that
need to be preserved and/or kept if we have to prioritize them, who
is to do that? How are these decisions made?

Do you have any sur?stions along those lines, because you have
very fine statements, but you kind of leave us at the point of em-
barkation and I would just like to have you go a little bit further.

What do you think truly is needed for us to do as a committee
here in the Congress, if you even feel we have something to do
other than to make it a public issue and make public awareness?

Ms. CHENEY. I think that public awareness is a very great contri-
bution that these hearings will make.

I come at this as the Chairperson of the National Endowment for
the Humanities, and we see a very precise role for ourselves in
this. Our role is to help build the infrastructure that has to be in
place for a larg and coordinated effort to take place.

I would probably not oversimplify to say that there are two main
ways in which we are trying to build that infrastructure. One is in
training preservationists, and the other is in setting forth model
programsfor example, the RLG project I described to you that in-
volves 10 research libraries.

I can't imagine one national plan to do all of this, but several
groupings together of major research libraries, for example.

Another grant we funded that I think might provide a model for
efforts along this line was to the American Philological Assccia-
tion. It brought together scholars in the classics with archivists and
librarians to discuss which titles in classical studies between 1850
and 1918 needed to be preserved. The problem is so complex that
one huge overarching plan may be overreaching.

What we need, though, are national efforts along several fronts
in different subject areas involving different groupings of institu-
tions, with all of them committed to the idea that whatever preser-
vation effort is undertaken needs to be registered in some central
source so that there won't be duplication.

Mr. COLEMAN. There have been some suggestions about a nation-
al commission. Do you have any thoughts or comments about that,
either of you?

Dr. GREGORIAN. There is already a commission established by the
Council on Library Resources, and the chairman of that commis-
sion will be testifying in the second panel. What they have done
throughout the years, they have raised the consciousness. But now
they have also established a possible effective mechanism to coordi-

34



/

31

nate their effortson the brittle book I am talking about now, be-
cause that is what we were asked to address today.

That Commission also has an Advisory Council, and has been in
touch with the American Association of Universities, American
Council of Learner Societies, Modern Language Association, and
many of the associations throughout the Nation, including Re-
search Libraries, including American Library Associationso there
is effective sounding of how we should do. .

The main thing is we cannot afford duplication of efforts, and we
cannot afford also to procrastinate. The time is of essence and also
effective utilization, as the Chairman of NEH mentioned, effective
plan and effective utilization of resource is also important. None of
us can be selfish in this.

What we are trying to do, and I would like to stress this, what is
New York Public Library, what is Library of Congress, Yale or
Harvard libraries, or University of California libraries, or any of
the research or university libraries. We are trying to nationalize in
a sense by democratizing clir holdingsis we are not doing a self-
ish act in this by getting more money for our institutions for the
first time, preservation has taken a national dimension. What they
will preserve in the Library of Congress or New York Public Li-
brary, Yale library, or any of them, becomes available for the first
time, nationally, in multiple copies, which we could not have done
before.

In order to do that we have to enjoy the confidence of not only
research libraries, public libraries, but also the library professionitself. I am delighted as to how thoughtful this Commission has
been on Preservation and Access. As a new member of it, I have
been impressed with the depth of their discussions, their concerns,
and most of the frank analysis of the difficulties facing us, because=
we have not done this before in such a massive case. But we are
facing some 77 million volumesthey are volumes that are facing
extinction. And unless we do something now to put our egos down
and bring our national sense of urgency and cooperation up, we are
going to harm our effort.

So to answer your question, we have cooperative mechanisms
now that would deal with this one issue. We will need other cooper-
ative mechanisms to deal with other issues.

Mr. COLEMAN. One final question, if I might, Mr. Chairman, to
Ms. Cheney. I am interested in your newspaper program, and I
note that right above Montana where Missouri would fall, there is
no Missouri listing.

Ms. CHENEY. Now somewhere in all this paper that I am sitting
up here with there is Missouri.

Mr. COLEMAN. Okay, my question is, is it a lack of interest on
our part? But I would like to say we have the oldest newspaper
continuing to be published west of the Mississippiand I want PatWilliams to hear thisin Liberty, Missouriand he knows where
Liberty isand probably the most historic thing that was ever re-
ported was the first daylight bank robbery in our history by Jesse
James, a local fellow. So I don't know if we want to preserve that,
but I know that Pat Williams is really interested in Liberty, like I
am, because that is in my district. Maybe we can get a grant forthat.
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Ms. CHENEY. I think, Congressman, that Missouri has just been
waiting for the other States to show them? [Laughter.]

In fact, though, a proposal for the planning stage of a newspaper
project in Missouri will be taken to our May council. A panel
review has already been conducted on this project. I am not sure
how much I am supposed to say about that panel review, but it was
very positive, I will say that much.

Mr. COLEMAN. Thank you.
Mr. WILLIAMS. I would tell the gentleman from Missouri, if one

can tell folks from Missouri anything. You see, I have been to Mis-
souri. Under Title II-C of the Higher Education Act, that is
strengthening research librar j resources, only Stanford, the Uni-
versity of California at Berkeley, and the University of Maryland
received a larger grant than did the Missouri Botanical Gardens.
so, Missouri is doing very well.

Dr. GREGORIAN. Mr. Chairman, if I may addI have sent my son
to study in graduate school in Missouri in order to preserve your
newspaper.

Mr. COLEMAN. What ^ln I say?
Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. MLrtinez.
Mr. MARTINEZ. I am not sure I want to get into this. Besides

that, I have got to confess my ignorancelike you, in talking about
reading books and using this, and being a part of that industry, I
really didn't realize that these books were deteriorating. I think
you have a massive job of having to educate a lot of people, includ-
ing myself. Like you, I neverin fact, when I first saw the infor-
mation packet that Chairman Williams, brittle books, I immediate-
ly thought of something like glass, or something that broke. They
do get brittle, they just fall apartI can see that they are falling
apart by your arm there.

I got to thinking then in terms of that memo and wondered well,
aren't the people that are originating the books, don't they reprint
the books every so oftenand I got to thinking of a lot of things
like that, just goes to show how simple people that really aren't fa-
miliar. with the problem think, in terms they think.

Then I started thinking about the other thinggenerally when
we hold hearings up here it is because we expect that we educate
Congress and Congress takes the responsibility and does something,
and generally it is providing funds. So the immediate idea came to
my mind, the first question to either of you that might knowand
incidentally, let me say Bar Ev to youhas anybody done anything
to find out how much it would cost, made an estimate, of the books
that generally need to be savel. I know all the books haven't been
determined yet. But generally, there has to be some idea of how
many need to be saved, without getting into it as deep as you prob-
ably will after you get started,

How many books are there? What is the cost of saving those
books, nationwide?

Ms. CHENEY. That is a very good question.
-The Council on Library Resources has come up with some esti-

mates that we have been following along with. There are approxi-
mately 76 million volumes published since 1850 that are endan-
gered. But this includes multiple copies of individual titles.
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So, you start with 76 million volumes and you factor in what is
going to happen over the next 20 years and you bring the total up
to 114 million volumes that are endangered.

Then you estimate that because of duplication, you actually have
11.4 million titles. You see, you estimate that there will be repeti-
tion of titles in there, so you are left with 11.4 million discrete
titles that are at risk, or will become endangered over the next 20
years.

Then you estimate that about a third of those are significant
enough to save-3.8 million volumes we are talking about. About
half a million volumes have already been preserved. '10 that leaves
you with 3.3 million significant, discrete titlesI'm sorry, I didn't
mean to say volumes a minute agosignificant, discrete titles that
will be in need of preservation over the next 20 years.

Again, we are dependent upon people to whom we give grants to
come up with figures for the amount of money needed to save
these. The Council on Library Resources estimates that in order to
film 3 million volumes over the next 20 years, $358 million is
needed, or about $15 million annually.

MI'. WILLIAMS. Would the gentleman yield?
Mr. MARTINEZ. Yes.
Mr. WILLIAMS. I asked the gentleman to yield because on that

point the Report of the Commission on Preservation and Access
they call brittle books cites this on page 8, referring to Mr. Hayes,
quote:

"His conclusion, based on saving only one-third of the titles now
at risk, or to become at risk in the next 20 years, was that $384
million would be required to preserve the content of 3.3 million vol-
umes."

Have they transposed the word "volumes" and "titles" there? We
do need an accurate for the purpose of our hearing record

Ms. CHENtY. Yes, they have.
Mr. WILLIAMS [continuing]. We need an accurate
Ms. CHENL.T. I don't mean to speak for the Council on Library

Resources, but according to the logic, as I understand it, they have
indeed transposed "volumes" and "titles" at that point. Of course,
the titles will be volumes.

Mr. WILLIAMS. All right. Greg wants to leave now.
The problem is obviously enormous and we are just trying to

grasp the enormity of it with some degree of specificity. I don't
mean to split hairs, but this is a pretty large hair that needs split
ting.

I thank the gentleman fur yielding. The gentleman has another
minute remaining on his time.

Mr. MARTINEZ. You mean you used up all my time? [Laughter.]
Just let me say that I don't think that is an astronomical sum

for the purpose it is intended, number one. But I don't think that
the Federal GJvernment should be expected to come up with the
total amount. I do think as New York has already doneand my
next question is to you, Dr. Gregorian, how many other entities,
large entities, like the New York Library, or even smaller ones,
across the country are into this preservation work now?

Dr. GREGORIAN. Most of the research libraries are, it's that
degree of their work. Because the Research Library Group, which
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contains as large as 38 major research libraries, the Research Li-
brary Group cooperates in this effort. Yale has a preservation pro-
gram, Berkeley has a preservation program; even small, some
small places have. But when we call preservation, you have to
know they are talking two different things. One is microfilming,
and the other, unique materials, which the cost is up to $400.
When you are talking about this others, $368 million is based on
mic ofilming brittle books at an average cost of $65. But preserva-
tion includes not merely microfilming but it is archival as well as
other material, which we did not discuss. But most institutions
have one sort or another.

What we are proposing here, my colleagues and I, is to coordinate
this effort so there would not be duplication. If we preserve some-
thing in the New York Public Library or if the Library of Congress
preserves something, automatically everyone is notified that we
have done that. For example, if we save El Diario, it automatically
goes on the computer data base notifying all the research libraries
that we have done that, so they can do something else now.

We have this effort, but the States, as later you will hearand I
don't want to preempt my colleagues' testimoniesthe State of
New York is doing a tremendous job, and other States are under-
taking new initiatives in this; some private institutions with pri-
vate funds will dc, it. Our $3 million, very little of it comes from
various public sources. We are raising private sources, but we have
to replenish that source every year.

So why we are here today is not to ask the Federal Government
to replace those funds. We are here for increasingkeeping our
effort, but increasing that effort throughout the Nation in a coordi-
nated fashion.

So New York is doingand California has started doing its share
now. Illinois is doing. There is a great deal of national awareness
what I call about yellow spring, because that's what it is, this corn
flake spring that we are getting in the form of brittle books .

Mr. WILLIAMS. The gentleman's time has expired.
Mr. MARTINEZ. Just one last question, please.
Mr. WILLIAMS. All right.
Mr. MARTINEZ. There was a while back a program that started,

"Adopt a Book," in some areas, where a person who wanted to sup-
port his local library would pay a dollarit was a dollar stated but
it could be more- -

Mr. GREGORIAN. We have that program at Nev., York. We are
saying if you pay 35 to $50 you can adopt a book. But the book is
the price consists of purchase, shelving, and cataloging. It does not
include- -

Mr. MARTINEZ. Preserving.
Mr. GREGORIAN [continuing]. Preserving. If we include preserving

cost, the total cost of a book may be $130. That's why many people
are upset when they bri4 books to the library and say I have free
books for you. And librarians are reluctant to take because the au-
dience does not see, or the person who brings does not see this
hidden cost. So that's what I would like you to know.

Mr. MARTINEZ. Thank you.
Mr. WILLIAMS. As all of you know, the Congress is, this year,

celebrating its 200th yearthis is the 100th Congressand it is our
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understanding that in all that time, Congress has had only one pro-
fessional librarian as a member of this body, and that is the gentle-
man from New York, Mr. Owens.

The Chair recognizes the gentleman.
Mr. OWENS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me begin by thanking you for holding these hearings. There

is a great deal of need to increase the public awareness of this
problem, including the awareness of Congressmen.

I also want to thank and welcome both of our witnesses, but par-
ticularly, I would like to welcome my hometown librarian, Dr. Gre-
gorian. The New York Public Library has always been a great li-
brary and always a leader in the library field, but under Dr. Grego-
rian particularly, I want to congratulate him on the degree to
which he has raised the level of public awareness about the li-
brarythe awareness of millionaires and the awareness of the av-
erage person down the street, in terms of the total range of prob-
lems faced by the Library and the kinds of benefits it could give.

I would like to just begin, Dr. Gregorian, you clarified to my col-
league before, and you also showed your sensitivity, I think, in
terms of no other chief librarian has ever, I think, undertaken to
preserve El Diario. It is very important in New York City.

You clarified the difference between a microfilming operation
with preserving the contents of the book and the preservation of
the book itself. My question relates to the relative cost. What per-
centage of the activity to preserve knowledge and what is con-
tained in books should be devoted to the actual preservation of ma-
terials, the actual book itself, and the relative cost there? How do
they justify it? And how are those decisions made?

Can you give us a few examples of what qualifies for the preser-
vation of the actual physical specimen of the book versus to go
ahead and pat it on the microfilm and letting that be enough?

Dr. GREGORIAN. My colleagues later will answer that, Major
Owens, but let me just give, a superficial fast answer to that.

The resources dictate our choices, unfortunately. In this moviethat was made yesterdaySlow FiresI hope you will see it, spon-
sored by NEH, among othersI mentioned the fact that librarians
are put in an unfortunate position of serving as French generals in
charge of triage, because we would like to save a lot. But at the
same time we don't want to become parochial in our choices to
save our region versus the rest of the Nation, because in scholar-
ship and in cultural, the unity of our heritage is important. So that
is one consideration.

We do it across the library. Each division curator who collected,
whose predecessors collected the material, who know fir_ collec-
tionsthey come forward saying, which are the immediate endan-
gered, dying patients? So we are taking care of immediate death
problem while putting some others in nursing homes, and some
others in ambulatory care, while waiting for their turn. So, there-fore, we are only preserving what may be lost, what may be thelast act. Or as an artifactthe book as an artifact and the book for
its content.

We have done 14,000 such titles, last year. And it is across
throughout the library, from Jewish division, to Slavic division, to
bird collection, to every collection of your public libraryevery cu-
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rotor designates on the basis of their knowledge which ones have to
receive immediate attention.

Mr. OWENS. What role does deacidification have in this process?
Dr. GREGORIAN. The deacidification process is for those materials

that have to be preserved for design and other contents, or artistic
and other intrinsic qualities. Out of $3 million, roughly, we spent $1
million, or $890,000 to $900,000 ,)ri microfilming; the other on pre-
serving materials due to cheap glue, binding, and other problems
are deterioratingbut are unique books.

Mr. OWENS. So those that you preserve physically, what percent-
age of those use the deacidification process, or need that?

Dr. GREGORIAN. I cannot give you the exact percentage, Major
Owens, because I do not know the exact percentage. But I will
mention this: there are documents like maps that we deacidify as
one item, and there are books that they are deacidified page by
page.

We have been waiting for the, hopefully, successful undertaking
of Library of Congress to bring massive deacidification of books.
But we do not have the capacity at this stage to do it.

Mr. OWENS. Recently tile New York limes had an article on a
book cleaning project.

Dr. GREGORIAN. Yes.
Mr. OWENS. It had a lady in an apron standing there wiping

books.
Where in the continuum is that in terms of bock preservation?

Was she ..gust wiping the dust off for the health of the patrons, or is
that important?

Dr. GREGORIAN. No, no, not exactly. What we did, for 75 years,
New York Public Library's 88-mile shelving did not enjoy tempera-
ture and humidity controls. We air conditioned now the stacks of
the New York Public Library as a major act of preservation. When
we did that, we did not want 75 years of dust to remain in the
books. So thanks to a companygave us a grantwe a:e dusting,
that number one; but we are also examining the health of each
book.

Furthermore, there is one other thing we are doing. Since card
catalogs were a grant innovation at the time, but any scholar or
any non-scholar who removed a card from that card catalog, a book
was lost forever. Now we are also checking our holdings versus our
catalogs.

So the cleaningwhat you read was merely about dusting, but
you did not read the other aspects of it.

Mr. OWENS. It was about 20 cents per book, I think it was, for
the dusting.

Ms. Cheney, just one question. I didn't quite get the answer you
gave in terms of the disparity between the figures that you give on
the preservationthe dollars needed for preservation versus the
Council of Library Resources.

Could you just tell me again? 1 don't think the figures are high
at all when you consider that one aircraft carrier costs $3.5 bil-
lionbilliondollars, I don't think these figures are very high in
terms of what they are preserving. But I would like, just for clarifi-
cation, why you think the discrepancy in the figures?
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Ms. CHENEY. I think the discrepancy was over a word rather
than a figure. Is that correct, Congressman Williams?

Mr. WILLIAMS. Volumes versus titles.
Ms. CHENEY. The discrepancy was over title versus volume

rather than a discrepancy with the Council on Library Resources,
whose figures I am using.

There was no discrepancy unless I misheard, except in thatah,I seethere was $386 million versus $358 million. Perhaps it has to
do with volumes already done.

I want to go back for a second to Greg's war metaphor though
the idea of being the French general conducting triage. It seems tomeand I am coming along here as a relative outsider myself,
though I have used the books, the problem has only been in the
forefront of my mind for eight or nine months now.

It seems to me that one of the most useful things that this con-gressional hearing can accomplish is stopping the war. Greg is talk-
ing about binding up the patients and putting them in different
forms of care. But as we speak, the war continues, and every day
Dan Boorstin.-dgets 6,000 more bodies brought into the Library of
Congress .

The publishing industry simply must become, it seems to me,more aware of this problem, more aware of its own responsibilities
for preserving the Nation's heritage.

The film, "Slow Fires," that Greg has mentioned and NEH
helped fund makes his point with great clarity. It will, if problems
of supply and demand and the right kind of paper can be solved,cost no more to produce a book on paper that is acid-free than it
now costs to produce a book on acid paper.

I think that it is very important that members of the publishing
community enter into this dialogue and begin to accept their re-sponsibilities for stopping the war.

Mr. OWENS. I have time for one more question. I would like bothof you to address it if you wish.
There has been some controversy about the DEZ program. It hasalso been pointed out that the Canadian deacidification programhas been a great success and the Library of Congress has had a lotof problems.
Do you have any comment on the Library Journal's editorial

calling for the dumping of DEZ?
Dr. GREGORIAN. I always defer that to a librarian of Congress

since they are the ones who- -
Mr. OWENS. I will ask him the question later on. I just wonderedif you had any--
Dr. GREGORIAN. I think whenever you make an experiment ofthis sort, you are liable to make errors as well as success. I havebeen waiting eagerly for some successful testing of a massive de-

acidification program. The origin is not that important as the actitself.
So our hope for the last several years has been that the Library

of Congress should take leadership in this on behalf of the Nation.I think they have tried their best to accomplish this. They havehad mishaps, about which they will talk about. But nothing in life,
including launching of rockets and so forth, are you immune todisaster.
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Mr. OWENS. You are using the wrong analogy.
I understand NASA is involved in the problem but- -
[Laughter]
Mr. OWENS. Do you care to comment, Ms. Cheney?
Ms. CHENEY. No, I think that Dan Boorstin will be able to ex-

plain deacidification with much greater skill than I could.
Mr. OWENS. Thank you very much. No further questions.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Dr. Gregorian, will you expand some for us on

your idea concerning the filming as a preservation tool versus, if I
may use that in a competitive sensethat may not be an appropri-
ate to phrase it for youversus the deacidification process?

Dr. GREGORIAN. Well, filming is immediate. We have this tested
technology and it is available, it is economical at this stage, and we
have to pursue while waiting for another technology . If another
technology comes up within the next several years that is more ef-
fective than filming, do this. But not all the books need to be pre-
served, to deacidify.

If we have at the New York Public Library 4,000 telephone
directories, we don't have to deacidify them. We can microfilm them
for their content.

But if we have this book, the only kind that I mentionedif it is
only of its kind in the country, we may have had to deacifidy this
to keep it in the book form. But the books cannot wait for our
debate and, therefore, that is one of the reasons we have tried for
the last 50 years, and we continue to microfilm, in order to pre-
serve immediately while waiting for better technologies to develop.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Ms. Cheney, in your :.estimonyand, by the way,
the entire testimony from both of you and our other witnesses as
well will be entered in their entirety in the recordin your testi-
mony, Ms. Cheney, you say, quoting now: "I understand that the
President's Committee on the Arts and Humanities will also be
submitting testimony to today's hearing on their efforts to increase
financial support from the private sector for preservation activi-
ties."

Later in this paragraph, quoting again: "I am encouraged by this
initiative and look forward to working with the Committee to
expand the base of private support for preservation."

Is there a continuing appropriate role for expanded public sup-
port, recognizing, of course, that the private sector gets its money
from the public toobut setting aside that major difference, and
it's majoris there, in your judgment, a role for expanded public
financial support for this effort?

Ms. CHENEY. You will hear today from people who have hold of
different parts of this elephant. The particular part of the -tlephant
that I have hold of I tried to explain in my testimonywe see
NEH's role as providing the infrastructure and as establishing
model programs.

What growth we see coming over the next few years should be
very slow. When you are building infrastructure, a great infusion
of money upfront is not usefulvarious libraries have to designate
the people in charge of these projects, they have to decide to have a
slot for someone who will be their preservationist. So, from my own
particular perspective, the role of public funding should be one
that expands slowly.
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Mr. WILLIAMS. We thank both of you very much for your good
counsel this morning.

Dr. GREGORIAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
MS. CHENEY. Thank you.
Dr. GREGORIAN. Thank you, Major Owens.
Mr. WILLIAMS. I will ask the next panel of four witnessesMr.

Boorstin, Ms. Huxley, Mr. Haas, Mr. Weberto please come for-
ward.

I want to note, of course, something I think I perhaps overlooked
and that is our two previous witnessesChairperson Cheney, of
course, is the Chair of the National Endowment for the Human-
ities, and was here representing that Endowment, and Dr. Gregori-
an is the President of the New York Public Library.

The witnesses before us now are the Honorable Daniel Boorstin,
Librarian of Congress. He is accompanied by Mr. Peter Sparks of
the National Preservation Program Office of the Library.

Carole Huxley is the Deputy Commissioner for Cultural Educa-
tion, New York State Department of Education.

Warren Haas is the President of the Council on Library Resources,
and he is representing that Council as well as the Association of
American Universities and the American Council of Learned Soci-eties.

David Weber is Director of the University Libraries, Stanford, and
is here representing the American Library Association and the As-
sociation of Research Libraries.

Mr. Boorstin, it is nice to have you with us. I want to take a
moment to tell you that we all very much enjoyed your challenging
remarks at the Conference at Greenbriar, and it is nice to see you
here. Please proceed.

STATEMENTS OF DANIEL J. BOORSTIN, THE LIBRARIAN OF CON-
GRESS, LIBRARY OF CONGRESS, ACCOMPANIED BY WILLIAM J.
WELSH, DEPUTY LIBRARIAN OF -CONGRESS, AND PETER G.
SPARKS, DIRECTOR, PRESERVATION OFFICE, LIBRARY OF
CONGRESS; CAROLE F. HUXLEY, DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FOR
CULTURAL EDUCATION, NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF
EDUCATION; WARREN J. HAAS, PRESIDENT, 'COUNCIL ON LI-
BRARY RESOURCES, ON BEHALF OF THE COUNCIL ON LI-
BRARY RESOURCES, THE ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN UNIVER-
SITIES AND THE AMERICAN COUNCIL OF LEARNED SOCIETIES;
AND DAVID C. WEBER, DIRECTOR, UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES,
STANFORD UNIVERSITY, ON BEHALF OF THE AMERICAN LI-
BRARY ASSOCIATION AND THE ASSOCIATION OF RESEARCH LI-
BRARIES

Mr. BOORSTIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
It is a pleasure to appear here to speak about one of our most

pressing national problems, a problem that confronts the future
scholarship our place in the world.

Across the country, in libraries and learned institutions, in every
State of the Union, books are becoming so brittle that their con-
tents can only be salvaged by microfilming and then only if funds
are available soon.
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These are books published since the mid-19th century when, as
Dr. Gregorian has mentioned, the rise of democracy and literacy
increased the demand for books and for paper. Then the growing
paper industry substituted chemically-treated woodpulp for rags.

In the Library of Congress alone, a 1984 survey estimated that
some 3 million books were in a condition that would not survive
normal use. Every year about 70,000 more volumes move into this
dangerously brittle state. Once a book becomes brittle, Mr. Chair-
man, it cannot be deacidified. The only way, then, to se., e its con-
tents is by microfilming .

Before 1967, the Library of Congress cievoted its microfilming re-
sources to newspapers. Since then, we have made a concerted effort
to microfilm books and bound serials that could clot be used with-
out destroying their content.

Although we have microfilmed some 113 million pages from
about 400,000 volumes we are still not keeping pace with the rate
of deterioration. We see the same menace across the Nation. In-
cluding the microfilming done at the Library of Congress, we esti-
mate that only about 100,000 volumes a year of the 76 million brit-
tle volumes are receiving attention.

We know the problem. How can it be solved? Of course, no one
institution can take sole responsibility for preserving our entire na-
tional heritage. We want to share the burden of preservation, and
we must. And we can, Mr. Chairman, if the additional resources
that are now requested are made available for a cooperative pro-
gram of microfilming brittle books.

Through the Library of Congress, librarians have long worked to-
gether, that is, since the early 1900s, to provide the National Union
Catalog which lists the holdings of all major North American li-
braries. This tool is now automated. By using it to access master
microfilm negatives and to assign responsibility for preserving each
class of materials, we can then build a national collection of micro-
film masters. Copies then can be made available for a small copy-
ing fee to libraries in all 50 States.

The Library of Congress is glad to cooperate with other research
libraries in this country toward fulfilling a national policy.

The Deputy Librarian of Congress, William J. Welsh, who is here
today, Mr. Chairman, led this effort here and abroad, and has en-
listed foreign support through the International Federation of Li-
brary Associations.

Meanwhile, we have been experimenting with optical disk tech-
nology as. a means of preservation, that is, by making it possible to
use materials at minimal risk.

I would like to mention also, Mr. Chairman, in view of some of
the comments that have been made beforeand this is something
that Congressmen Owens, as a professional librarian, will especial-
ly understand. We at the Library of Congress have been concerned
very much, not merely with preserving books by microfilming, but
with a program of preventive maintenance, and that really is what
the deacidification program is mainlyit should not be confused
with the program of microfilming.

Here at the Library of Congress, for the last two decades, we
have been experimenting with a process to deacidify books, and we
are optimistic about the proposed mass book deacidification facility,
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which is going to be built at Fort Detrick, Md. It is supported by
appropriated funds.

Pursuing the comment of Congressman Owens, I would like to
observe that this is a pioneer project, and like all pioneer projects,
is subject to risks. It is necessary for someone to take the risks and
we have been willing at the Library of Congress to take those risks,
we have kept the Congress informed of the progress. But it is really
impossible to tell how these programs will work out, especially on
the large-scale, without testing them, and we have been making
that effort.

So this is a problem of the pioneer, I suggest, Mr. Chairman.
But now we need to alert legislators, colleges, university adminis-

trators, and city councils to this crisis and the preservation of our
culture. The National Endowment for the Humanities under the
leadership of Lynne Cheney has been doing an excellent job and we
want to join in this.

Two hundred years ago this May, some remarkable men gath-
ered in Philadelphia to draft our Constitution, which was based on
a faith in man's ability to govern himself when properly informed,
and in the faith to man's insatiable appetite for knowledge.

Today we are talking about access to knowledge and the diffu-
sion of knowledge, and ways to keep that access and diffusion open.

In 1765, John Adams wrote: "Let us cherish the means of knowl-
edge. Let us dare to read, to think, to speak, and write . . . let
every sluice of knowledge be opened and set a-flowing."

Our task now is to use modern technology and the resources of
the public and private to pursue John Adams' dream.

I have with me today, Mr. Chairman, Peter Sparks, the Director
of the Library's Preservation Office, and also William J. Welsh,
who is the Deputy Librarian of the Congress, and has led our ef-
forts in this regard. They will be glad to answer any technical ques-
tions.

Thank you for this opportunity.
[The prepared statement of Daniel J. Boorstin follows:]
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Subcommittee on Postsecondary Education

Committee on Education and Labor'
U.S. House of Representatives

March 3, 1987

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

It is a pleasure to appear here to speak to one of the most pressing

protdcms confronting the future of scholarship in this country and in the world.

Acres, this nation, in libraries and learned institutions in every state of the

u:: on, books are becoming so brittle that their contents can only be salvaged by

microfilms 47 and then only if funds become available soon. These are books

published sine the mid-19th century when the rise of democracy and literacy

increased the demand for paper. Then the growing paper industry substituted

chemically-treated wood pulp for rags. In the Library of Congress alone, a 1984

survey estimates some 3 million books in a condition will not survive normal

use. Every year about 70,000 more volumes move into this dangerously brittle

state. Once a book becomes brittle, the only way to save its contents is by

microfilming.

Before 1967, the Library of Congress devoted its microfilming

resources to newspapers. Since 1967, we have made a concerted effort to

microfilm books and bound serials that could not be used without destroying

their content. Although we have microfilmed some 113 million pages from about

200,000 volumes we still are not keeping pace with the rate of deterioration.

we see the same menace across the nation. Including the microfilming done at

the Library of Congress, we estimate that only about 100,000 volumes a year out

of the 76 million brittle volumes are receiving attention.

We know the problem. How can it be solved? Of course no

institution can take sole responsibility for preserving our entire national

heritage. We want to share the burden of ireservation. And we can, if
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additional resources are available for a cooperative program of microfilming

brittle books.

Through the Library of Congress librarians have worked together

since the early 1900's to provide the National Union Catalog which lists the

holdings of North American libraries. This tool is now automated. By using it

to access master microfilm negatives and to assign responsibility for preserving

each class of materials, we can build A national collection of microfilm

masters. Copies then can be made available for a small copying fee to libraries

in all 50 states. The Library of Congress is glad to cooperate with other

research libraries in this country toward fulfilling a national policy. The

Deputy Librarian of Congress, William J. Welsh, led this effort here and abroad,

and has enlisted foreign support through tkr: International Federation of Library

associations. We are also experimenting with optical disk technology as a means

of preservation. Now we need to alert legislators, college and university

administrators, and city councils . 4 crisis in the preservation of our

culture.

Two :,:ndred years ago this Hay some remarkable men gathered in

Philadelphia to draft a Constitution based on faith in man's ability to govern

himself when properly informed, and in the faith in man's insatiable appetite

for knowledge. Today we are talking about access to knowledge, and ways to

keep that access open. In 1765, John Adams wrote: "Let us . . . cherish . . .

the means of knowledge. Let us dare read, think, speak, and write
. . . . Let

every sluice of knowledge be opened and set a-flowing."

Peter Sparks, Director of the Library's Preservation Office is here

to answer any technical questions the Subcommittee may have. He has a brief

statement.
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you.
I also note, for the record, that you have accompanying you a

long-time friend of mine, Adoreen McCormick, and we welcome her
as well to this hearing.

Thank you very much, Mr. Boorstin.
Ms. Huxley?
Ms. HUXLEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I am grateful to have the opportunity to address you this morn-

ing on a problem which New York recognizes as a critical one, and
into which it is investing some $2 million annuallybut which it
knows, State and institutional programs, even in partnership with
existing Federal resources, are not adequate to solve.

There is some irony in New York's being the first to pass legisla-
tion to provide preservation funding because New York was also
the first, perhaps, to understand what it means to suffer irretriev-
able loss of its history and heritage.

In 1911, the New York State Library was one of the great re-
search libraries of this country and of the worldit ranked among
the top 20 in the world.

Books, manuscripts, and the New York State Government Ar-
chives were all housed in the State Capitol, and on the night of
March 29th, 1911 it all went up in flames. We lost, of the total,
450,000 volumes, all but 7,000 of the total 270,000 manuscripts, all
but 80,000.

I brought you this morning to seewe deal every day in our labs
still, our conservation lab, with the results of that fire. These are
the Van Rensselaer Manor papers document our Dutch past, which
we retrieved from the fire with the help of the New York Public
Library and the Library of Congress who came up in 1911 to help
us try and sort this out. But gone was the bulk of our colonial
record in New York State, the early record of our democracy as
documented in New York, Indian records, comprehensive collec-
tions in law and medicine.

The New York State Library today is a fine research library, but
it will never be the institution that it once was. We lost too much,
and so did history lose too much, and so did the documentation of
our democracy.

Today a similar calamity is taking place in the New York State
Library, the New York Public Library, the Library of Congress, re-
search libraries, the National Archivesall our great research re-
positories.

Here is the new kind of catastrophe taking place. This is the su-
perintendents of the poor convention in 1873. It is a very important
book. It is an ordinary book. It ;.; not a rare book. It is an ordinary
book but it documents our understanding of social welfare policy in
1873, and we have had inter-library loan requests for this book in
the past yearthree or four of them. It has been microfilmed.

Our research houses are on fire, as the NEH and Mellon Founda-
tion-produced film Slow Fires has shown. All at the same time, we
have to sound the alarm, try and fight the fire, and save things.
That is what our job is right now.

New York is trying with legislation that was passed in 1984 to
address it from the State's perspective. These funds are partially to
join in a partnership with the 11 major research libraries of New
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York State and for cooperative programs. A quarter of the money is
available for other institutions who have collections of special sig-
nificance. But the bulk of the money goes to a few institutions .

New York sees these funds as a judicious use of public tax dol-
lars to serve the people broadlybecause strengthening our re-
search resources also strengthens our public and private higher
educational systems and our information base. These systems are
important to the continued economic, social well-being of New
Yorkers, and we can't ignore the clear threat to their future any-
more than we would stand and watch our Adirondack wilderness
get chopped down one more time.

At the same time, our State legislation quite appropriately fo-
cuses within our own borders for direct and immediate benefit to
our citizens in its own educational institutions, State and local gov-
ernment, hospitals, and laboratories. Only with the help of NEH
and the Mellon Foundation have we, who administer these State
funds, been able to spend some time trying to shape the program so
that it can be a model for efforts throughout the country. But our
State funding goes to support the work within the State.

NEH has also supported a three-year training and planning
project from which comprehensive document preservation recom-
mendations have come: Our Memory at Riskthere are somecopies of it over thereand that has set our New York State
agenda, still to be funded, in that regard for us as well.

These Federal funds have done a lot to help us, also through the
NHPRC and Title II-C, our understanding of the preservation chal-
lenge and ability to develop and test strategies. However, these
Federal agencies respond to applications and are somewhat reac-
tive in nature, although they have tried to shape these guidelines
with great wisdom.

But what is missing on a Federal level and what we cannot pro-vide at a State level is a strong focus national perspective in lead-
ership with authority in funding to manage a coherent and com-
prehensive operation.

National leadership is needed to establish and support a program
of education for the public for research institutions and for historic
record repositories. Without broad interest and concern of public
officials, we cannot, are not likely to find the resources or the na-
tional will to meet this serious problem in a substantive way.

Secondly, on a national level we need to set consistent policies
and standards for preservation and access. We need to provide na-
tional financial support for preservation of those collectionsthere
are 11 within our State that we focused on nationally, we have to
focus on those few collections which really form the base of our na-
tional research.

Third, we need to support research and testing of preservation
technology, which is not sufficiently attractive to commercial enter-
prisesI think we need to step that up.

We need to assure sufficient resources to the Library of Congress
and the National Archives to meet their own preservation prob-
lems, which are massive, and to share their solutions with the rest
of us.

Finally, there is a great educational opportunity coming up in
the proposed White House Conference on Libraries and Informa-
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tion Services for 1989. Federal action cannot wait for these, never-
theless, prominent on the agenda of that White House Confer-
encewhich I hope will happenshould be Federal/State/private
partnership to address preservation.

These recommendations all require action at your level, not ours,
and without it our efforts will be much less effective. They may be
fragmented; we are going to duplicate; there will be overlap.

I hope that in 75 years the successors of Daniel Boorstin and
Vartan Gregorian aren't coming to you with the sad story I started
with about the loss of their collections. I might just point out that
unless something is done about the government and paper, this is
what the hearing record is going to look like in another 75 years
are commission records from 1918, which are a very important re-
source.

[The prepared statement of Carole F. Huxley follows:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF CAROLSF. fluxum, DEPUTY COMMISSIONER FOR CULTURAL
EDUCATION, NEW YORE STATE EDUCATION DEPARTMENT

Chairman Williams, distinguished members of the House sub-

committee on Post-Secondary Education, good morning. I am Carole

Corcoran Huxley, Deputy Commissioner of Cultural Education for

the New York State Education Department. I am also a member of

the Commission on Preservation and Access. My responsibilities

!n New York include the New York State Library, the New York

State Archives, the New York State Museum and administration of

State and Federal programs of aid for libraries, library systems

and public hroadcasting.

I am grateful to have the opportunity to address you on the

problem of the quiet destruction of this nation's research base,

and commend your farsightedness in holding these hearings. This

forum is particularly important because at the heart of the

problem of brittle books and of the crumbling of our documentary

heritage, is the need for public awareness and for education.

Just as research materials are the educational base for this

nation, education about preservation -- for the public, the

research community, librarians, library and university trustees,

legislators, governors, the Federal Government -- is crucial if

these important materials are to be preserved. Public officials

must ynderstand hat is at stake if there is to be sufficient

support to sustain the effort. Federal, state and private

agencies must have the will and the commitment to attack the

problem simultanemsly on several fronts if it is to be gotten

under control. One of the most important roles on the national

level is that of coordinating all these different approaches.

1
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I would like to be somewhat parochial this n...rning, briefly

describing the New York situation -- our sense of the problems,

the small steps we have begun to solve them, and those areas

which we believe can only be satisfactorily addressed on the

national level. Because my own experience relates to both

research library and archival collections, I will speak to the

related but distinct preservation needs of hist:srical records, as

well as books.

New York was the first State to pass legislation to provide

preservation funding on a continuing basis for major research

collections. For those of us with ties to the New York State

Library, such legislation has a bittersweet connotation.

In 1911, the New York State Library in Albany was one of the

five greatest research libraries in this country and one of the

twenty greatest collections in the world. It included many rare

and irreplaceable volumes, the whole record of colonial and state

government from the Dutch onward and comprehensive collections in

the areas of law and medicine. There were a total of 450,000

volumes and 270,000 manuscripts. The. Library was housed in the

State Capitol in March of 1911 although it had been scheduled to

move into new aarters in January. Construction delays had

prevented thz'

In the early 1,..kning hourp 'f March 29, 1911, a fire broke out

in the Capitoi Bailding. When it was brought under control,

7,000 books and 80,000 manuscripts rema:med. In effect, the

library was gone tut for duplicative volumes stored elsewhere.

2
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In the earliest example I know of the importance of

public/private partnership for preservation, a trustee of The New

York Public Library came to help direct the library salvage

operation. And he persuaded an expert conservator from the

Library of Congress to help us restore what could be saved.

I have described a tragedy with which we still cope daily in

our preservation tab. The New York State Library is a major

research library today, about to accession its two millionth

volume, but it will never be the institution it once was, nor can

any other library duplicate the collections lost in that

disaster. We lost too much. And so did history -- and so did

scholarship. And so did the documentation of public policy in a

state of pivotal importance to the democratic experiment.

Today we have the same kind of calamity taking another shape

in the New York State Library and in Vie New York Public Library

and in the Library of Congress and in our great research

libraries and archives across the country. Our past, our ideas

and imagination, our written achievements are being, quietly

consumed in a silent and invisible conflagration. Acid paper,

heat, colt, dampness, dryness, and simple use are the elements of

this quiet catastrophe. I very much hope that a Congressional

Committee 75 years from now will not be hearing testimony from

Dr. Gregorian's and Dr. Boorstin's successors about the lost

greatness of their institution's collections.

I ask ycur indulgence to extend this "fire" analogy a hit

further.

3

53



50

Our research houses are already on fire. And in many ways

we are fed now with that kind of question. Hut, at the same

time, we have yet to sound the alarm ao that it can be hflard, and

even when it is heard, the equipment available to fight the fire

is (technologx,ally speaking) at the bucket brigade level. All

at the same time, we have to make the alarm heard, find something

to put out the fire and also immediately save what we can.

In New York, perhaps because we know Wa well about loss of

our research base, the State is beginning to address this problem

in partnership with the eleven major research libraries in the

State and with those others which possess unique collections of

special significance.

New York State currently has a $2 miAlion preservation

program, begun with $1.2 million of the total $57 million in

State aid to libraries that was appropriated by the State of New

York in fiscal year 1984-85. The preservation legislation

represented the first State Government support for such activity

anywhere in the nation, and was presented as part of the 1984

Library Omnibus Hill, which was supported by the New York library

community, including the New York Library Association.

However, the conservation piece of New York's legislation

was not being called for by many in our library or research

community. Hany other more visible and immediate problems

absorbed -- and continue to absorb -- their attention.

Resolution C-9 of the 1979 White House Conference on Libraries

proposed the government/private preservation partnership from

4
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''.4hich our legislation had taken its cue, but essentially our

preservation legislation was an exercise in Regents' and

legislative leadership.

The bulk of that money, $990,000, "as earmarked for support

of preservation programs in the elevp, major research libraries

of New York (Columbia, Cornell, New York state Library, New York

University. University of Rochester, Syracuse University, The

Research Libraries of The New York Public Library, and the State

University centers at Albany, Binghamton, Buffalo, and Stony

Brook). $200,000 was set aside for discretionary grants on a

competitive basis to all other libraries and other repositories

which hold collections of special or unique research importance.

Legislation enacted in 1986 increased the annual total

appropriation to $1,840,000, with the incr2ase including $350,000

for cooperative programs among the eleven major research

libraries and an additional $300,000 for discretionary grants

(thereby providing $500,000 annually for discretionary grants).

The purpose of these funds is not to assume responsibility

for an institution's pr nervation program, but to join in a

partnership with the institutions themselves. This is a

judicious use of public funds because our research resources

serve the people of Vew York as a whole and advance the public

welfare. Our public and private higher education system and our

information base are important to the economic and social well-

being of the State, and we cannot afford to see them diminished

any more than we would stand by to allow the destruction of our

5
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magnificent Adirondack wilderness.

Our documentary heritage is similarly precious and the

threats to its preservation are similar, as 'ell. Frank Burke,

the Acting Archivist of the United States, recently noted that

1987, the Year of the Constitution's Bicentennial celebrations,

'is, if anything, a celebration cash in paper." He went on to

say:

"Our constitutional system rests on reams and reams of paper

that have been produced in order to promote and defend, or

attach or change the Constitution.... One does not

understand racial issues by looking at a school bus, or the

war powers of the President by visiting Tonkin Gulf, or the

issue of the franchise by seeing long-gowned women chained

to the White House fence. These momentous issues, reaching

to the very soul of the American system, are understood ,nly

through the documents that they have created -- the essays,

tracts, legal briefs, legislative debate, court hearings,

and the vox ppuli in the press. We are, after all, a

nation built on paper, not tradition."

I have described the State portion cf New York's

partnership, but what is an institution's own responsibility for

its books, manuscripts, archival records? An institution's

primary responsibility is to serve its own constituency,

therefore:

1. It should establish the institution's preservation

priorities, through cooperation among bibliographers,

6
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collection specialists, and those responsible for

preservation;

2. Preservation should be made a more integral part of the

library or archives structure and should be factored

into budgets and into outside funding requests.

3. It should be aware that preservation is not just the

responsibility of the library or archives within a

larger institution, but of the institution as a whole,

4. It should keep abreast of regional and national

developments and concerns in preservation, and attempt

to mesh its internal needs with the needs of the larger

preservation community.

But the State/institution partnership .a not sufficient, we

have found. In our experience, we soon discovered the need for a

larger partnership with federal are. private agencies. The

applications we received demonstrated a desperate need for more

preservation education.

There was nt, dearth of excellent materials in need of

preservation attention, but many of the projects set forth to

help preserve them lacked important information. For instance,

few of the proposed microfilming projects mentiorad adnarence to

the pertinent standards of the American National Standards

Institute. One project to preserve photographs requested copy

prints, yet made no provision for master agatives. In many

cases there was not evidence of a clear understanding of the

difference between what is valuable as an artifact and what is

7
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conservation treatment of items of considerable research value

did not propose to make the content of the items more accessible

through reformatting. There also seemed to be a lack of

understanding about how to select a conservator and how to

consult with a conservator about appropriate treatments.

We did not have the staff or the money for preservation,

planning, education and technical assistance. We also knew that

to expend wisely the dollars we did have, we needed consultation

and guidance from national experts on standards, policies, and

strategies. We were very much aware that because our program was

the first state program, it was important that it be a model.

Why did our state funding not provide for planning, education,

technical assistance and national coordination? Quite

understandaWy, states tend to focus within their own borders

and, quite appropriately in the view of most taxpayers, to think

about direct immediate results within the state.

The National Endowment for the Humanities, understanding the

programss importance as a potential model, provided support,

which the State and the Mellon Foundation are matching, for those

necessary components. NEH has similarly supported a three-year

"New York Conservation Administration training and Planning

Project" in the area of unique research materials, particularly

ou documentary heritage. Its influence on our preservation

efforts has far outstripped the level of its funding because the

funds have been used to support planning, coordination, technical

8
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assistance and model preservation programs. The Federal funds

have done much to advance our understanding of the preservation

problem and of various strategies. Likewise, the National

Historic Publications and Records Commission has supported a

National Survey of Preservation Needs in State Archives, very

recently completed. These federal agencies, however, are

somewhat reactive by nature, responding to proposed initiatives.

Although through skillfully crafted guidelines these agencies

have attempted to set directions for the national effort, what is

missing is clear national leadership-authority and money.

National leadership is needed to:

1. Establish and support a program of education for the

pablic, for research institutions, and for historic

records repositories. Without broad interest and

concern on the part of public officials, we are net

likely to find the resources and the national will to

meet this serious problem in a substantive way.

2. Set consistent policies and standards for preservation

and access which find consensus throughout the research

community. Provide national financial support for

preservation of those collections which constitute our

national research base.

3. Support research and testing of preservation technology

not sufficiently attractive to commercial enterprises.

4. Assure sufficient resources for the Library of Congress

and the National Archives to meet their own vast

9

59



56

preservation problems and to sna:e the solutions they

develop with other libraries and historical records

repositories. Federal granting agencies need better

coordination within the context of an overall national

plan.

5. Support for Senate Joint Resolution 26 and House Joint

Resolution 90, calling for a 1989 White House

Conference on Libraries and Information Services.

Prominent on the agenda should be a

federal/state/private partnership to address

preservation of research collections.

All of these recommendations require action at the national

level and without it, efforts like New York's will be less

effective because strategies from institution to institution and

from state to state will remain fragmented, with the constant

likelihood of both duplication of effort and egregious omissions.

States must, nevertheless, swing into action now. Maine and

New Jersey now have programs, and California is funding

preservation in its university system. Each state should develop

a statewide plan for preservation of library materials and unique

research resources. Under an NEH grant, New York has been able

to develop such a plan for unique research resources, and ou-

recent effort may be a useful model. The report of that project,

Our Memory at Risk, analyzes conditions and needs, sets goals and

objectives for the future and discusses areas of responsibilities

-- citizens, state government, and institutions -- for meeting
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preservation needs.

Finally, we need to focus on the future. We need to make

sure that the problem does not jvst keep growing into the future.

For instance, we need to encourage the broader use of long-life

paper. We need to make sure that new facilities have proper

environmental controls. We need to continue research. And we

need to step up educational efforts -- for scholars, librarians,

archivists and the general public. The fire alarm must be

sounded so that all can hear it for we all must carry water to

put out this fire.

11
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:1r. WILLIAMS. Thank you for wise and vivid testimony.
Mr. Haas?
Mr. HAAS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the sub-

committee. I am Warren Haas, President of tho Counc. an Library
Resources, which I should note is an operating foundation estab-
lished in 1956, initially funded by the Ford Foundation, and now
funded by a number of private foundations.

I am responding to your invitation to speak, not only as Presi-
dent of the Council, but speaking on behalf of the new Commission
on Preservation and Access. You have a description of that Com-
mission in the package we have sent to you. It has been established
with the assistance of the CLR for the specific purpose of dealing
with the problem of brittle books, a generic term that Chairperson
Cheney pointed out includes published items of all kindsbooks,
journals, newspapers, pamphlets. All of these are at risk because
the paper on which they are printed has deteriorated and become
brittled. The books themselves, as items, cannot be saved, but their
contents can.

If this matter is left untended, the record of our accomplish-
ments as a people and a Nation will be jeopardized.

I note that I also appear as an indication of the dimension of in-
terest and concern with the endorsement of the American Council
on Learned Societies and the Association of American Universi-
tiesorganizations that represent many of our leading scholarly
societies and research universities.

The public understanding of the importance of the idea of preser-
vation has been remarkably expanded in recent years. We are
learning to protect the best of what we have built, we are learning
to use our national resources wisely, and to preserve the record of
what we, as individuals, have created, though, and accomplished.

The cause of effective preservation requires common sense, a bal-
ance between all-encompassing aspirations and reality, and persist-
ence. It is an area of importance for members of a mature society
where the needs and interests of the present are informed by the
record of the pastthe exceptional and the ordinary alike.

The record of human thought is found in many places, but it is
most visible in the libraries and archives that are responsible for
collecting, protecting, and making accessible the written and pub-
lished accounts that make up our history.

Those institutions face a continuing challenge to accomplish
their mission with very limited resources. Given the magnitude of
their assignment, libraries have done reasonably well. The current
and historical collections of our finest general and specialized re-
search libraries are exceptional resources, both for public use and
for academic scholarshipteaching and research. But there are
now clear signs that the past is losing out, largely because of the
sheer magnitude of the brittle books problem. I will underscore
that sheer magnitude. We will come back to that, I think, because
it is flat characteristic that dictates the time and the need for spe-
cial attention.

Preservation is a word, I suppose, suggests a kind of static state.
But as an idea, it is alive and dynamic in libraries and archives. It
is also a simple concept, but it is complex in execution.
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As others have pointed out, we need to deal with inherited prob-
lems while reducing the prospect that they, will be repeated in the
future. Thus, those concerned with recorded information are look-
ing to new methods of storing and preserving information to sup-
plement print on paper.

Standards for .permanent and durable paper have been developed
and are slowly influencing paper making and publishing. Storage
conditions for collections are improving because we now under-
stand that the way collections are housed affects their condition.

The prospects for deacidifying existing books in at least some li-
braries are prom' ing, because for materials that are still sound,
physical deterioration will be significantly slowed.

Preservation is becoming an international enterprise, as impor-
tant libraries in many other countries actively join the cause. In
this country, private foundations, universities, and some States
play powerful roles. As has been noted, the Federal Government
especially through the Library of Congress, the National Library of
Medicine, the National Endowment for the Humanitieshas
played an important part in shaping the campaign, taking leader-
ship in specific areas and stimulating participation in others.

It is this past experience, our collective success in some impor-
tant areas, the growing public understanding of the need for
action, and our new comprehension of the character and complex-
ity of the issues, that now make it possible to address the brittle
books problem. Simply put, the leading general research libraries,
with constructive involvement of many others, are ready to join
forces and create what will be, in effect, a national collection of
preserved materials, pei.manently and fully accessible for use by all
Americans.

The stage is in fact set for that collaborationwe are not at the
beginning, there is much that has been accomplishedthe manage-
ment capacity is taking shape; it has been demonstrated that the
necessary production facilities can be established. For example, two
major preservation microfilming facilities now exist. One started in
part with Council funds, the other more recently by the Exxon
Education Foundation. A capacity for continuing technical re-
search exists, much of it in our national libraries.

Thanks to the National Endowment, the pool of trained technical
people and skilled professionals is growing; and active support from
university administrations and the community of scholars can in
fact be enlisted.

The bibliographic structure that we have talked about that is es-
sential to both identify and locate preserved items is largely in
place, and the service facilities that will deliver the end product to
those who need it either exists now or can be developed in phase
with program growth.

But until there is reasonable assurance of funding in sufficient
amounts and over a period long enough to do this specific job, pre-
serving the content of brittle books, little more will happen. The
members of the team have in a sense moved to the line in this con-
test against time. We need now the signal that will start the race.

A copy of the final report of the Committee on Preservation and
Access is attached to my statement. It is incorporated also 'n brit-
tle books.
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The Committee was established to shape the general outline of
an active program to deal specifically with the brittle books prob-
lem. Their report characterizes the problem itself, poses the set of
principles that will guide the work, and proposes a basic organiza-
tional structure.

That structure is now in place. The Commission on Preservation
and Accessa group of nine individuals, three of them who have
appeared here todayLynne Cheney, Bill Welsh, and Vartan Gre-
gorianis now hard at work. They are largely funded by a number
of universities. The work of the Commission has been funded by 9
or 10 universities, plus some foundation assistance. A National Ad-
visory Council on Preservation, with representatives from nearly
20 organizations, has been formed.

The composition and purpose of both organizations are described
in this brochure that we sent copies to you and that accompanies
this statement. We clearly understand that there is no single ap-
proach to the work that needs to be done. Many organizations and
institutions will take part, but their efforts can now take place in the
context of a single set of standards and against a common backdrop.

Our oldest, largest research libraries will, at least initially, be
the focus of this activity simply because it is there that the brittle
books problem is most prominent, and especially in humanistic and
historical subjects, and the concentration of titles at risk is the
highest.

But at heart, the participat of these libraries reflects their
sense of service to the Nation, because by drawing on the collec-
tions they have assembled and maintained over the years, their in-
vestment will become, in fact, a public asset.

The costs will be substantial and will, in the end, be governed by
the number of brittle books that are actually saved. Careful analyt-
ical studiesand I can talk about these if you wishare now
under way to refine earlier work but they suggest that one-fourth
of all volumes now in our general research libraries and a large
number of specialized collections are brittle and already at risk.
Even if we succeed in saving the content only of a third of the
titles in those volumes, we will be dealing with at least three mil-
lion items.

The purpose of the work we have set for ourselves is to protect
the human record as it is and has been. In this cause, we have the
advantage of starting with collections that have been assembled by
librarians and scholars over more than a century; we already have
what has been judged important at many points in time.

Librarians and scholars of the present have demonstrated
through some of the demonstration projects that Chairperson
Cheney noted that they can in fact plot a preservation strategy
that will represent the past fully, not selectively.

The Commission, as part of its assignment, will keep track of
progress and establish a review procedure to make sure that gaps
are filled and corrections made.

But in the main, the path of preservation will be set by hundreds
of people in many different settings, which is the best assurance
that the past is truly reflected for future use.

64



61

This is a remarkable opportunity for many elements of our socie-
tythose that are concerned with saving at least a portion of nur
past for use by those yet to come. Success will be measured .n
many ways, direct and indirect, obvious and subtle.

Failure, if we fail, will be visible and simple. We do not ask that
the Federal Government take over and do the job. We do ask that
it find an appropriate way to join in the '..ask as a constructive
partner and to do its share.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Warren J. Haas, and related materi-

al follow:]
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Mr. Chairman d members of the Subcommittee:

I am Warren J. Haas, President of the Council on Library Resources (CLR).

I am responding to your invitation to speak for the Commission on Preservation

and Access, which has been established with the assistance of CLR for the

specific purpose of dealing with the problem of brittle books, a generic term

that includes published items of all types--books, journals, pamphlets,

newspapers--that are at risk because the paper on which they a,: printed has

deteriorated and becoce brittle. If this matter is left untended, the record

of our accomplishments as a people and a nation will be jeopardized. I note

that I also appear with the endorsement of the American Co.:ncil of Learned

Societies and the Association of American Universities, organizations that

represent many of our leading scholarly societies and research universities.

The public understanding of the importance of the idea of preservation has

uoen remarkably expanded di recent years. We are learning to protect the best

of what we have built, to use our national resources wisely, and to preserve

the record of what we, as individuals, have created, thought, and accomplIshed.

The cause of effective preservation requires common sense, a balance between

all-encompassing aspirations and reality, dedication, ani persistence. It is

an arena of importance for members of a mature society, where the needs and

interests of the present are inf.rmed by the record of the past--the

exceptional and the ordinary alike.

The -cord of human thought is found in many places, but it is most

visible e libraries and archives that are responsible for collecting,

protect. and making accessible the written and published accounts that make

up our history. Those institutions face a continuing challenge to accomplish

1
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their mission with very limited resources. Given the magnitude of their

assignment, libraries have done reasonably well. The current and historical

collections of our finest general and specialized research libraries are

exceptional resources, bob, for public use and for academic scholarship,

teaching, and research. But there are now clear signs that the past is losing

out, largely because :Jr the sheer magnitude of the brittle books problem.

Preservation, as a word, suggests a static state. But as an idea, it is

alive and dynamic in libraries and arc,.!..es. It is also a simple concept, but

it is complex in execution. We need to deal with inherited problems while

reducing the prospect that they will be repeated in the future. Thus, those

concerned with recorded information are poking to new methods of storing and

preserving information to supplement print on paper. Standards for permanent

and durab'J paper have been developed and are sowly influencing paper mating

and publishing. Storage conditions for collections are improving because we

now understand that the way collections are kept affects their condition. The

prospects for deacidifying existing books in at least some libraries are

promising, because for materials that are still sound, physical deterioration

will be significantly slowed.

Preservation is becoming an international enterprise, as important

libraries in many other countries actively join the cause. In this country,

private foundations, universities, and some states play powerful roles. The

federal government -- especially through the Library of Congress. the National

Library of Medicine. and the National Endowment for the Human ties- -has played

an important part in shaping the campaign, taking leadership in specific areas

and stimulating participation on many fronts.

2
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It is this past experience, our collective success in some important

areas, the growing public understanding of the need for action, and our new

comprehension of the character and complexity of the issues, that now make it

possible to address the brittle books problem. Simply put, the leading general

research libraries, wit, :onstructive involvement of many other libraries, are

ready to join forces and create what will be, in effect, a national collection

of preserved materials, permaneh.ty and fully accessible for use by all

Americans. The stage is set for that collaboration: the management capacity

is taking shape; it has been demonstrated that the necessary production

facilities can be established; a capacity for continuing research exists; the

pool of trained technical people and skilled professionals is growing; and

active support from university administrations and the community of scholars

can be enlisted. The bibliographic structure that is essential to identify and

locate preserved items is largely in place, and the service facilities that

will deliver the end product to users either exists or can be developed in

phase with program growth.

But lntil there is reascnable assurance of funding in sufficient amounts

and over a period long enough to do this specific job, little more will happen.

The members of the team are moving to the starting line in this contest against

-, time. We need now the signal that will start the race.

A copy of the final report (April 1986) of the Committee on Preservation

and Access is attached to this statement. The Committee was established to

shape the general outline of an active program to deal with the brittle books

problem. Their report characterizes the problem itself, poses the set of

principles that will guide the work, and proposes a basic organizational

structure.

3

69
, )



66

That structure is now in place. The Commission on Preservation and Access

is hard at work, largely funded by a small number of universities. A National

Advisory Council on Preservation, with representatives from nearly twenty

organizations, has been formed. The composition and purpose of both

organizations are described in the brochure that accompanies this statement.

We understand that there is no single approach to the work. Many organizations

and institutions will take part, but their efforts can now take place in the

context of a single set of standards and against a common backdrop. Our

oldest, largest research libraries will, at least initially, be the focus of

activity, simply because it is there that the brittle books problem is most

prominent, especially in humanistic and historical subjects, and the

concentration of titles at risk is highest. But at heart, the participation of

these libraries reflects their sense of service to the nation, because by

drawing on the collections they have assembled and maintained over the years,

their investment will become, in fact, a true public asset.

The costs will be substantial and will, in the end, be governed by the

number of brittle books that are saved. Careful analytical studies now under

way to refine earlier work suggest that one-fourth of all volumes now in our

general research libraries and a large number of specialized collections are

brittle and already at risk. Even if we succeed in saving only a third of the

titles those volumes represent, we will be dealing with at least three million

items.

The purpose of the work we have set for ourselves is to protect the human

record as it is and has been. in this cause, we have the advantage of starting

with collections that have been assembled by librariarc and scholars over more

than a century; we already have what has been judged important at many points

4
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in time. Librarians and scholars of the present have demonstrated that they

can plot a preservation strategy that will represent the past fully, not

selectively. The Commission, as part of its assignment, will keep track of

progress and establish a review procE- ire to make sure that gaps are filled and

corrections made. But in the main, the path of preservation will be set by

hundreds of people in many different settings, which is the best assurance that

the past is truly reflected for future use.

This is a remarkable opportunity for many elements of our society--those

that are concerned with saving at least a portion of our past for use by those

yet to come. Success will be measured in many ways, direct and indirect,

obvious and subtle. Failure, if we fail, will be visible and simple. We do

not ask the federal government to take over and do the job. We do ask that it

find an appropriate way to join in the task as a constructive partner and to do

its share.

5
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Report Of The Committee On
Preservation And Access

THE BRITTLE BOOKS PROBLEM

The human record, in every form, is fragile. Ancient civilizations are
reconstructed from fragments; the work of even the most distinguished
authors is often scattered and lost; published and archival records of govern-
ments, institutions, and organizations tend to lose integrity and utility with
time. New formats for information storage, whether magnetic or photo-
graphic, are not immune from their own set of hazards. In short, permanence
is a relathe term and preservation of the record of the past, on even the most
selective basis, is a continuing process.

Books have, for centuries, been the principal means for carrying the past to
the future and even in the computer era they remain a remarkably useful
invention. Like all other m..1 books are fragile, but the printing of books
in editions and the dispersion of copies has compensated for the hazards that
face individual volumes. When a single copy is lost, another can usually be
located. Even now, books printed three hundred or four hundred years ago,
often in very small editions, can still be found in multiple copies.

The assurance implicit in duplication is less comforting, however, for
many books printed after 1850. All paper, and thus every book, deteriorates
over time. The rate of deterioration varies greatly and is a function of such
factors as the chemical characteristics of the paper, the mechanical construc-
tion of the volume, storage conditions, and intensity of use. The paper most
often used for books manufactured since the mid-nineteenth century tends to
be acidic and, for that reason, less stable and durable than earlier, alkaline
paper. Careful analytical work undertaken in several leading libraries con-
firms that books printed on acidic paper begin to deteriorate rapidly fifty
years or so after publication.

Because of the size and composition of their collections, old, large, general
research libraries are especially hard hit, but no library of record is immune.
Typically, one-fourth of the volumes in such libraries are described as brittle
that is, the paper breaks after one or two double folds of a page corner. Fur-
ther, up to 80 percent of the books in those collections are acid and, without
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preventive action, eventually all will become brittle. The Library of Congress
estimates that 77,000 volumes in its collection move from the "endangered"
to the "brittle" category each year.

The problem, overwhelming as it already is, is unlikely to be contained in
the near term. The great majority of books published, nationally and interna-
tionally, are still on acid paper. While standards for permanent and durable
book paper have been set, their acc "ptance by leading commercialpublishers
is slow in the U.S. and even less visible abroad. It is difficult to interest the
papennaking industry in the cause of preservation, since only a very small
portion of paper made in the United States is used in books.

There is no absolute solution to the preservation problem and no single ap-
proach to follow. Use of more acid-free paper, worldwide, will bring long-
term help. Deacidification of existing books while they are still physically
sound will slow deterioration and extend their useful life. Many individual
volumes of intrinsic value (e.g., those with important marginal notes; those
that are exceptional examples of bookmaking) should be safeguarded as arti-
facts. But for the greatest portion of books that are already brittle, repro-
duction of content is the only realistic course of action; otherwise, an impor-
tant segment of the human record will be lost forever. How this might best be
done is the subject of this report.

GENERAL OBSERVATIONS

Committee members considered many aspects of preservation, but con-
centrated especially on identifying the fundamental issues anci the essential
characteristics of an effective national undertaking. The starting point was to
understand better the magnitude of the brittle books problem. Several
research libraries have independently surveyed their collections and others
have determined costs of at least some aspects of microfilming and other
replication methods, but there has been no comprehensive study of the
magnitude, costs, and benefits of a comprehensive program. Robert Hayes
was asked to assemble and analyze known information and to provide esti-
mates where needed, in order to reach a reasonable assessment of the dimen-
sion of the brittle books problem. His conclucinn, based on saving only one-
third of the titles now at risk (or to become at risk in the next twenty years)
was that $384 million would be required to preserv_ the content of3.3 million
volumes. (Because so much data concerning costs, duplication of titles
among libraries, and benefits are questionable or lacking, Hayes is
now engaged in a research project that will provide more facts and
new evaluation.)

Despite the inadequacy of much of the basic information, the inescapable
fact for the Committee was the great size of the problem and the high cost of
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a solution. While the cause of preservation alone might justify the effort and
expense, it was the recognition that assured access to the most important
publications produced over 150 years of history is the true objective and the
real justification for a national program. The goal of brittle books preserva-
tion is not to reconstitute the collection of each library as it now is, but to
create, in effect, a new national library of preserved materials. With that
assertion as a base, the Committee went on to establish and encourage action
on key program requirements.

Wide understanding of the preservation problem is necessary if sufficient
and continuing financial and institutional support is to be secured.

With this objective in mind, several Committee members have taken
part in academic and library meetings, the Interim Report has been
widely distributed, and an hour-long film on preservation has been com-
missioned for possible use on public television and for disci ibution to
many kinds of audiences nationally. Ultimate responsibility for building
and maintaining an informed body of supporters rests with many library,
archival, and academic organizations.

Preservation work should employ the most effective technology avail-
able at any given time.

The work of preservation cannot wait for the "ideal" technology. Pro-
duction of microfilm copies of text done to established archival stan-
dards is still the accepted approach. Preservation is labor-intensive, and
there seems little prospect that alternate technologies will reduce initial
costs. Prospects are good that optical/digital disk replication systems
may offer cost and service advantages in terms of producing, on
demand, copies of individual titles, given fully acceptable assurances of
the stability and permanence of such disks. It does seem essential that
attention be paid to converting master copies of text from one format to
another (film to disk, for example), should that prove desirable.

Given the projected costs and the continuing requirement for program
credibility, preservation work must be carried out as economically as
possible, in line with realistic qualitative standards. (A detailed study of
microfilming practices and procedures is now under way to determine
whether personnel costs might be reduced without unduly compromising
the quality of microform master copies.)

An efficient bibliographic system is required.

Given the dispersion of preservation work, the underlying biblio-
graphic record system mus: provide accurate and timely information,
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identifying and locating master copies. The bibliographic system can also
be the source of management information for those concerned with the
level, distribution, and characteristics of preservation activity. The same
bibliographic information must be widely and easily available if the re-
quirements for accessibility are to be met. A review of policies and proce-
dures of the primary bibliographic services indicates that the structure
for effective bibliographic control is essentially in place. Ways to make
records for existing master copies of film more generally available are
being considered. Bibliographic reporting of current preservation work
seems improved, but more timely distribution of such reports nationwide
is needed.

Preservation priorities need additional consideration.

The Committee considered the topic of preservation priorities but
reached no specific conclusions, perhaps because there are so many items
an categories of obvious importance. In the erd, items to be replicated
will be identified by subject and preservation specialists working in many
libraries and archives. The goals and priorities of those individuals (and
their institutions) must be known and subject to review by scholars,
research faculty, and an informed public. It is anticipated that priorities
will become apparent rather than being imposed. Many factors will be in-
fluential: copyright constraints, unit costs, present condition, anticipated
demand, and personal interests. The key to success over time seems to be
the thoughtful involvement in the selection process of a large number of
informed individuals. There is much that will never be preserved, simply
because time will run out. There is also much that is not worth the cost
and effort of preservation. It seems probable that the matter of priority
will be resolved by the evidence of action. It seems less important to
assign ranks of importance from the top down than it is to put aside for
now the items and categories that are unlikely to meet the test of time.

Systematic and purposeful collaboration is essential.

The brittle books problem will not be solved by accident. The scale is
too great, the cost too large, and the setting too complex. A joining of
forces, not unlike that which has characterized the gradual development
of a comprehensive and standardized bibliographic system, is needed.
More than anything else, the projected cost of preservation demands
program efficiency and credibility. Targets must be realistic, results visi-
ble, and benefits unquestioned. Even though the work will be done coop-

eiatively, success in preservation will be dependent on the performance
of each institution. Ideally, the program to preserve brittle books should
improve the methods and enhance the principles of effective collabo-
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ration among libraries and research institutions, for while they are indi-
vidually distinctive, they have a common cause.

ORGANIZATION

Meeting the conditions for success requires action on two frontsestablish-
ing an organizational structure that Nill assist and support the libraries directly
involved, and developing and promoting a funding plan.

In the final analysis, the work of preservation must be done by the individ-
uals and institutions responsible for building and safeguarding the collections

taken together, are our primary record. Meeting that responsibility is dif-
Lult because the present is always more demanding than the past. The ac-
celerated deterioration of collections, only recently acknowledged, turns a dif-
ficult assignment into an impossible one under present circumstances. Unless
new and extraordthary measures are devised and taken, the steady erosion of
important collections, already begun, will quietly continue, and the possibility
of accurately reconstructing important segments of public events and private
accomplishments will slowly but inevitably decline.

Improving prospects for success will not come by shifting responsibility.
Rather, enlisting new forms of help for those who are responsible ,he most
promising course of action. That help must be of a special kind: it must sup-
port without dominating; it must offer continuity of interest and participa-
tion; it must amplify skills and resources already at work and make present
progress more visible; it must seek to strengthen existing capabilities and add
new ones as needed; it must provide the sense of a common purpose that is
essential to increasing financial support; and it must find ways to measure
progress and promote efficiency. In short, a way must be found to add cohe-
sion and force to existing t;fforts and aspirations.

To provide a structure that has these capabilities and, in addition, is able to
adjust to changing needs and conditions, the Committee has encouraged the
formation of two new bodies: a Commission on Preservation and Access and
a National Advisory Council on Preservation, whose members will be desig-
nated by supporting organizations. The Commission, with appropriate staff
support, must develop and carry out the plans and procedures that will
enable libraries and preservation specialists to expand and integrate present
preservation work. The Advisory Council is required to promote participa-
tion of all disciplines and to encourage support by involved and interested
academic and professional organizations. It is also seen as an effective way to
bring the interests and concerns of diverse groups into focus, thus providing
general policy direction for the Commission itself.
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The Commission on Preservation and Access

The success of the projected brittle books program rests with the Commis-
sion and its staff. The Commission will work on behalf of the libraries and
organizations that must, in the end, do the work of preservation. Simul-
taneously, it must be an effective agent for all who will ultimately provide
financial and intellectual support. In a sense, the Commission is seen as the
matrix for this preservation activity, providing an ordered place for existing
components and seeking to supply the elements required to fill the gaps.

The initial membership of the Commission will include some members
from the original Committee and other individuals suggested by Committee
members. Additional membi:, may be enlisted by the Commission itself,
which is expected to shape its own procedures, practices, and program,
building on the conclusions of the founding Committee. For an initial period,
the Council on Library Resources will provide a base for Commission opera-
tions. Funding for staff and Commission expenses for approximately three
years will be required, after which time the Commission will be expected to
have established financial and operating independence.

The Commission will be expected to:

1. Develop a funding plan for the preservation of brittle books and, with
assistance from the Advisory Council, establish and develop a program
to generate funds for use by participating libraries.

2. Establish the general conditions, policies, and procedures governing
preservation work for the guidance of libraries, publishers, and other
agencies interested in participating in the brittle books program.

3. Promote further development of a preservation information service by
the Library of Congress and, especially, encourage the members of the
Advisory Council to bring such information to the attention of their
own organizatrt

4. Encourage technical and other research on topics of importance to the
brittle books program. Leadership of and cooperation among the
national libraries and the National Archives seems especi.:4 critical in
this area.

5. Establish a monitoring system to gather and analyze information about
all aspects of preservation activity. Results of analytical work will help
shape future methods and directions, will keep participants informed,
and will be required in the preparation of reports to funding sources.

6. Monitor the performance of bibliographic systems to assure that infor-
mation required to manage the preservation entel arise and to promote
access to products is readily-available.
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7. Assure that access to preserved materials is efficient and supportive
of research and scholarship. It is probable that existing practices
and procedures will have to be modified as the quantity of available
items increases.

8. Build and maintain effective communication with key organizations
through the Advisory Council and promote participation in planning
and operations by those institutions and individuals committed to the
cause of preservation.

The National Advisory Council on Preservation

The Advisory Council should be affiliated with the Liorary of Congress.
Its initial membership should include individuals designated by those library,
archival, academic, and scholarly organisations with an interest in preserva-
tion. The Council, which is expected to set its own procedures and practices,
may invite participation by additional organizations. The Advisory Council
is intended to provide a link between organizations committed to preservation
and the Preservation and Access Commission itself. The Council is expected
to provide assistance to the Commission, and the Commission will make its
work visible to supporting organizations through Council members.

The Advisory Council and its individual members will:

1. Inform members of their constituent organizations about preservation
plans and operations.

2. Bring to the attention of the Commission the interests, concerns, and
advice of their members.

3. Work in collaboration with the Commission to develop the procedures
and activities required to support funding for preservation. The Coun-
cil should seek to speak with one voice rather than many.

4. With guidance from the Commission, participate in long-range
policy review.

5. Promote the objectives of preservation and conservation internationally.
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FUNDING

The projected cost of addressing the brittle books problem over the next
twenty years cannot be accommodated in the operating budgets of libraries.
!fan extraordinary preservation program is to be established and maintained,
extraordinary funding will be required. The Preservation and Access Com-
mittee was not charged with raising funds for preservation, but it did con-
clude that raising the amounts required, over an appropriate pericd of time,
was possible. The elements essential to success include:

I. Leadership, expressed by a substantial commitment of funds by key
research universities and far-sighted government bodies.

2. Provision of carefully targeted funds by private foundations to assure
initial progress in the essential arease.g., organizational continuity,
installation of prototype programs, public information activities,
incentive funding.

3. A public commitment to preservation that will serve to support federal
and state funding of the brittle books program in increasing amounts.

4. Eventual participation by research universities and research organizations.

5. Provision for preservation of future acquisitions in the operating
budgets of libraries, archives, and other organizations to help assure
that the problem we now face will be contained in time.

6. Constructive involvement of the publishing community and library ser-
vice organizations, especially the segments concerned with scholarly
publicatiols,and the distribution of text on demand.

Futtnt funding must be built on the base that now exists and that has
grown in important ways during recent years. The level of funding needs to
grow gradually and in phase with program development, reaching a stable,
sustainable, and adequate level (approximately $15 million annually) in
perhaps five years.

The measure of success will be in the response to questions such as these:

Will universities be willing to separate the matter of funding a national
brittle books program from the process of setting annual library oper-
ating budgets?

Will library directors, many of them with pressing budget problems, sup-
port institutional participation?

Will private foundations continue and even expand their support
of preservation?
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Will the federal government and state governments join forces with others

to support the brittle books program?

Will the great majority of research institutions take part even though their

own libraries might not seem to have a preservation problem? (Given the

goal of equitable access to preserved materials, there can be no free ride.)

Will all funding sources encourage libraries and archives to "play by the

rules" that will be advanced by the Commission?

The Preservation and Access Committee has not tried to find answers to

these questions. Thoughtful discussion has created a sense of optimism that

this difficult task can he doneperhaps not perfectly,but responsibly. There

is full agreement that now is the time to try.

[Exerpted from pp. 9-15 of "Brittle Books:
Reports of the Committee on Preservation
and Access." Council on Library Resources,
Inc., Washington, D.C., 1986.]
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The Commission on
Preservation and Access

Introduction: The Brittle Book
The problem is well known by librarians: Millions of
books in libraries thro:ghout the nation are in various
stages of disintegration because the acidic paper on which
they are printed is turning to dust. If the contents of these
-brittle books cannot be saved in time. Americans will
lose an important part of their heritage. And b.rt. atse of the
condition and number of the books, the realistic course of
action is to preserve their contents by microfilming or
other appropriate means.

To address the brittle books problem, the 0 Acil on
Library Resources convened in 1984 a study group of
library directors, university officers, and scholars to con-
sider possible action on a national scale. In April 1986, the
group recommended creation of a Commission on Preser-
vation and Access to support, coordinate, and assist in
meeiing the substantial funding requirements of a national
brittle book preservation program.

At the same time, a National Advisory Council on Preser-
vation was established to promote participation in such a
program by interested academic and professional organiza-
tions, and :o advice the Commbsion in its work.

While the Commission on Pmervatran and Access
created in response to a gaming national awarer.ess of the
brittle book problem, its proponents also c-..alized that an
equally important part of the preservation qustion world
be the assurance of cuntinu'd and universal access to pre-
served materials so that the rsult would be both the
prcservation of important informatn.:t and wider access
to it.

Requirements for a National Program
With the assertion of both preservaii.m and access as
goals, the Commission identified these requirements as
necessary for a national program to be successful:

O Widespread understanding of the preservation problem
will be required to help generate sufficient financial and
institutional support.

O Brittle book preservation should employ the most effec-
tive technology available at any given time. (Although
there are good prospects that other technologies will
emerge, microfilming to archival standards is the most
widely accepted technology available at present).

O An efficient bibliographic system will be required,
given the dispersion of preservation work and the need
for accurate and timely tracking of activity.

f
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O Systematic and purposeful collaboration among all
libraries and allied organizations will be essential in

assuming responsibility for selection of categories
of material, and in accomplishing the work of
preservation.

Role of the Commission
Given these requirements, the Commission on Preserva-
tion and Access will:

Provide an organizational structure to assist and
support the libraries directly involved, and

Promote a funding plan for the work.

Both of these tasks are aimed at adding cohesion and force
to existing efforts and aspirations. Thus, the Commission
will work on behalf of those libraries and organizations
that must, in the end, do the work of preservation.

At the same time, the Commission must be an effective
agent for all who will ultimately provide financial and
intellectual support. In a sense the Commission is seen as
the matrix for preservation activity, providing an ordered
place for existing components and seeking to supply the
elements needed to fill the gaps.

The.Commission's initial activities are designed to:

O Develop a funding plan for the preservation of brittle
books and, with assistance from the National Advisory
Council on Preservation, establish and develop a
program to generate funds for use by participating
libraries.

O Establish the general conditions, policies, and proce-
dures governing preservation work for the guidance of
libraries, publishers, and other agencies interested in
participating in the brittle books program.

O Promote further development of a preservation infor-
mation service by the Library of Congress and, espe-
cially, encourage Adv:sory Council members to bring
that information to the attention of their own
organizations.

O Encourage technical and other research on topics of
importanr o the brittle books program.

F_J Establish monitoring -ystem to gather and analyze
information about all aspects of preservation activity.

O Monitor the performance of the essential bibliographic
system.
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O Assure that access to preserved materials is efficient and
supportive of research and scholarship.

0 Build and maintain effective communications with kei,
organizations through the Advisory Council.

Members of the Commission on
Preservation and Access

Billy Frye, Vice President for Research and Dean of the
Graduate School of Arts and Sciences, Emory Uni-
versity, Chairman

Millicent Abell, University Librarian, Yale University

Herbert Bailey, Director Emeritus, Princeton Univer-
sity Press

James Govan, University Librarian, University of
North Carolina at Chapel Hill

Vartan Gregorian, President, New York Public Library

Kenneth Gros Louis, Vice President, Indiana University

Carole Huxley, Deputy Commissioner for Cullum!
Education, New York State Education Department

Sidney Verba, Director, Harvard University; ibiary .

William Welsh, Deputy Librarian of Congress

Sponsors of the Commission's Work
Funding of the initial work of the Commission on Preser-
vation and Access is being prc: ded by:

The Council on Library Resources
The H.W. Wilson Foundation
University of California, Berkeley
Columbia University
Harvard University
University of Illinois
University of Indiana
University of Michigan
Princeton University
Stanford University
Yale University
The research libraries of the New York State

preservation program
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The National Advisory Council
on Preservation
Working alongside the Commission on 13.,ervation and
Access is an advisory body, the National Advisory Council
on Preservation. The Advisory Council seeks to promote
participation in preservation goals and to encourage the
support of the wide variety of academic, governmental,
and professional organizations represented in its member-
ship (see below). The Advisory Council is also seen as an
effective way to brine the interests and concerns of diverse
groups into focus, thus providing general policy direction
for the Commission itself. The Advisory Council includes
representatives from the following organizations:

American Association for the Advancement of Science
American Council of Learned Societies
American Library Association
American Theological Libraries Association
Association of :,merican Universities
Association of Research Libraries
Center for Research Libraries
Chief Officers of State Library Agencies
Library of Congress
National Agricultural Library
National Archives and Records Administration
National Association of State Universities and Land Grant

Colleges
National Endowment for the Humanities
National Library of Medicine
Research Libraries Advi,ory Committee of the Online

Computer library Center
Research Libraries Group
Social Science Research Council
Society of American Archivists

For more information about the Commission on Preserva-
tion and Access or the National Advisory Council on
Preservation, please write in care of the Council on Library
Resources, 1785 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W., Washing-
ton, D.C. 20036.
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you.
Mr. Weber.
Mr. WEBER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I am here to represent the American Library Association and the

Association of Research Libraries. And while I submit to y'u my
written testimony, I think I will excerpt it in order to save some
time.

We are indeed faced with the requirement of improving the situ-
ation with the deteriorating materialsbrittle bookselse we will,
in fact have lost a good deal of who and what we are.

Let me put it in a local context, a personal one. I was born in
Waterville, Maine, a town of some 16,000 people. My parents wrote
a great deal, they publishedand it was difficult to find the mate-
rials needed. Currently, I live in California on unincorporated
county land. The nearest city is Palo Alto, with some 60,000 people.
That city has a public library systema fine onewith 230,00G vol-
umes. The nearby Stanford University Libraries and the Hoover
Institution, together, have about 51/2 million, of which about a
quarter of the books are in brittled condition by our own shelf de-
termination.

In addition to that, there are archival manuscript materials of
phenomenal degree. The Hoover Institution itself must have more
archival records of social action than many entire States.

So we are in fact faced with a very serious problem. How, then,
do we have access to these materials if, in fact, they are not avail-
able for loan? Because when material are in a brittle state, and if
I am working in, whether it be Spokane, Washington or some other
city, I write to the other library and the material is not available,
if that library holds one that is in brittled condition, and if there
has not been a microfilm made of that original.

Similarly, if there is archival material, letters or documents,
then by local policy, those items do not circulate from libraries out-
side the building. And if no film copy exists, again, I am anable to
do the work that I would wish to do.

So it is in fact very limiting to those of us who live outside of the
eastern seaboard in the hinterlands. In Tact, the hinterlands are
most of the United States. This is where most of the librarians, or
members of the American Library Association, do their work. This
is where most of the Association of Research Libraries exibtin
one State after another.

You may well ask: What do these libraries contribute in terms of
paying for their own costs of trying to solve this situation locally?
In fact, we do have some data. College and a few university librar-
ies have found that they could commit one to three percent of their
ope. ,sting moneys to this preservation effort.

A substantial number of ARL libraries have made major efforts
to increase this and are not committing some three to five percent
of their budget. A few libraries, all too few, have been able to
budget as much as six to eight percent of their total expenditures
for preservation activities.

This very significant effort libraries have made to address this
problem is clear when a comparison is made with the amounts
they have spent on preservation activities and the amounts spent
on acquisition of new materials for the colleition.
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From 10 to 25 percent of their entire materials budget to acquire
and preserve materialsfrom 10 to 25 percent is spent for binding,
microfilming, or other preservation treatment.

This can, then, be regarded as a measure of the problemthe ur-
gency with which the need is viewed by the administrations of
these libraries.

It seems apparent that given the size of the problem that we
have to be selective, and my colleagues have mentioned some of the
methods being used. We at Stanford Ur;versity rely very heavily
on the bibliographers and curators, who ere subject specialists, to
choose the materials that an, most embattled and which must be
dealt with first of all.

The need, then, to preserve representative rather than exhaus-
tive collections for all subject areas requires that scholars and li-
brarianssuch as I have mentioneddo plan within a national
context and use limited resources in a coordinated fashion. Thus, a
national collection, in effecta national collectionwill exist, com-
posed of the individual collections of discrete subjects at different
institutions that are formed with minimal duplication and with
future access assured by everyone. This is the result of a major
preservation microfilming program that mutt be greatly enlarged
from its present scale.

The final points I would mention is that since we know the mag-
nitude of the problem, since we have a methodology for selecting
how and where to begin our attack, it is apparent thata solution to
the problem is at hand if we act together.

So in conclusion, let me add to its solution by providing the an-
swers to three other key questions that I believe you have raised
for us.

One: What are the appropriate Federal, State and private sector
roles in efforts to address this problem?

To answer that, each sector plays a key roleas I have suggested
and as my testimony elaborates onessential cooperative planning
is provided by such organizations as the ALA, the ARL, the Re-
search Libraries Group, and the Council on Library Resources.

The new Commission Preservation and Access can play a lead
role. The Library of Congress has for years done us all a great serv-
ice with its research and development .7ork and its publicizing and
proselytizing of the state of the preservation artincluding inter-
national coordination work.

The National Agricultural Library and the National I ibrary of
Medicine have also initiated preservation programs, as you indicat-
ed.

The Government Printing Office should be encouraged to work
with 'ibrarians, archivists and paper companies to establish and
apply standards for acid-free paper and binding as appropriate for
a good part of government publications.

The Higher Education Act Title II-C programof extreme impor-
tanceand the National Historical Publications and Records Com-
mission program are now modestly funded but they do make signif-
icant contributions to the national preservation strategies.

The program of the Office of Preservation in the National En-
dowment for the Humanities is marvelous, and should be greatly
strengthened.
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The second question was: What procedures are necessary to
ensure public access to preserved materials?

Part of the answer is easy, since public academic and independ-
ent research libraries have a longstanding commitment to access.

In addition, it requires that individual institutions, professional
associations and funding agencies insist that bibliographic data be
currently maintained on what is in the queue for filming, what has
been completed and by whom.

It requires that reading copies of the master films be readily
available and publicized, and that the interlibrary services staff
and users consider films as routine rather than exceptional loans.
Here is a role indeed for ALA, ARL and consortia such as the Re-
search Libraries Group.

The third and final question: And what are the costs and who
should bear them?

As you heard from Jim Haas, there have been fair estimates of
the total cost, and it is indeed a daunting figure. While each group
might like some cther to pay full costs, this is patently unrealistic.
A consensus exists among libraries that costs must be shared; some
costs must be covered locally. Start-up costs in particular need gov-
ernmental and foundation help. Ongoing costs require local budget-
ing for at least a significant share, with endowment support for
preservation programs in research libraries to the extent possible.

Yet, one must realize that libraries generally are so meagerly fi-
nanced that there is little budgetary potential for dealing with
problems of 10 to 50 years hence when current book budgets and
clientele services are now severely beleaguered. The brittle books
problem is a national concern, indeed, worldwide. Recognizing that,
Federal support for a few decades is essential. A major share of
start-up costs should be a Federal responsibility, as should a strong
portion of local operating costs.

Just as the Federal highway system is financed as being in the
Nation's interest, for both civilian and national defense purposes,
exactly so should the brittle books system be financed as in the Na-
tion's interest. Students, scholars, our defense structure, our very
civilization demands no less prote;tion against the now recognized
seeds of cultural destruction.

Thus, it seems evident that there must be a Federal role, sharing
the effort with State, local and institutional authorities.

To improve access to cultural resources and safeguard our own
future, the Congress must act, providing leadership and help with
financial aid. On behalf of the Association of Research Libraries
and the American Library Association, I request your support.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of David C. Weber follows:]
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I am David C. Weber, Director of the Stanford University

Libraries, member of the Association of Research Libraries and

Chair of its Committee on Preservation of Research Library

Materials, also a member of the American Library Association and

Past-President of its Association of College and Research

Libraries.

While you have heard of the frightful rate at which

valuable cultural records are becoming embrittled, this "brittle

books" challenge must be faced and correztions made over the next

two to three decades or we all shall have lost a good deal of who

and what we are.

To put it in a local context, I shall describe the

situation in my home town, Palo Alto, California--a city of some

60,000 people including many scientists, engineers, teachers,

government officials, students and writers.

An individual interested in a current political issue and

concerned with its antecedents, causes, and past corrective

attempts has available the following:

o A fine public library with over 230,000 volumes.

o The nearby Stanford University Libraries and

the Hoover Institution, together having 5.5

million volumes, also nearly 3 million
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microtext sheets and large numbers of maps,

motion picture films,photographs, prints,

slides, sound recordings and data sets.

o And within 20 miles there are a state

university library, two private college

libraries, four community college libraries and

a dozen other public libraries linked by a

State Library inter-system service.

A richness for that indivitit.al pursuing a political issue? Yes

and no.

The resources for study are, at 6 million volumes and

upwards of 60 million manuscripts, far greater than in most

communities for 60,000 people. The Hoover Institution alone has

more archival records of social action than many entire states.

However, over a quarter of these resources are now so fragile

that use is perilous, and in little mand than a decade any use

will be problematic due to the rapid decay of paper. Most of

those resources are housed in quarters where temperatures bake

the materials several months of the year, a situation gradually

being corrected at Stanford and elsewhere.

Resources in the West amount to only a fraction of what

they are in the East and North East, even the Midwest. The

hinterlands are in fact most of these United States. Requests

for interlibrary loan increasingly result in no availability

because the owning library indicates its book is too fragile to
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loan, and a microfilm does not exist, or y policy original

letters and archival documents do not circulate outside the

building, and again no film copy exists.

How frustrating for the individual researcher! How

limiting if one does not live in Washington, New York,

Philadelphia or Boston! How frightening to realize that the

condition is nationwide, of awesome proportions, and getting

worse every year!

Concerning interlibrary loan of microfilms, there is a

significant traffic of this type, though it is much less than of

books or photocopies provided in lieu of the volume. An

institution like Stanford University lends to all kinds of

libraries - public and school libraries, county and state

libraries, agencies of government, commercial and not-for-profit

research organizations, as well as community colleges, four yea

colleges and universitiee. In a recent year, Stanford has lent

microfilms to institutions as far away as the State University of

New York at Buffalo, Columbia, Florida, Johns dopkirs, Princeton,

Rutgers, Virginia and Yale. Libraries are experienced in lending

this type of material. All academic and most public libraries

have reading machines available for 35mm film. Pre-filming

activities, including collation and creation of film captions

(targets), and technical specifications for filming, including

quality control procedures, have been well established by

national and international professional and standards
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organizations, with major contributions over the past 40 years by

the Library of Congress.

The production of preservation microfilms is, in fact, one

of long standing. Starting in the early 1930s there have been

programs in some unive.:sity libraries, and other research

libraries such as the New York Public Library, to make archival

master film copies of brittle material, copies from wh$:.h public

reading copies are made, thereby archivally assuring availability

of the original text for future generations.

This preservation filming, sometimes the by-product of an

interlibrary loan request, is in the interest of the nation as a

whole. It is true that the institution making the negative film

is protecting its own investment in the original. But it is

every bit as important t readers, students and scholars

elsewhere throughout the country that the content be archivally

preserved. Otherwise it may be lost, permanently.

Let me use one example. In the early 1950s at the Harvard

University Library, I was responsible for a foreign newspaper

microfilm project that had been originated in 1938 with

Rockefeller Foundation funds. One of the challenges that was

undertaken was to prepare a complete master microfilm of every

issue of Pravda and Izvestia. The first of these Russian

newspapers began publishing March 18, 1917 and the second on

February 28, 1917. The task was to complete the file for the
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first 20 years. This required obtaining negative film from

copies of individual issues held at Columbia, the New York Public

Library, the Hoover Institution, Harvard, the British Museum

Library, the Bibliotheque Nationale, the Bibliotheque de

Documentation Internationale Contemporaine in Paris, and a few

issues found only in Moscow itself. Even so, the master archival

film still lacked 24 issues from 1917, 9 in 1918, 1 in 1919, 4 in

1920 and 1 in 1921.

One can reflect, however, on how important was that

preservation effort, as just one example of this ubiquitous

"brittle books" problem. Copies of that film have now been sold

to many libraries here and abroad. It is the only nearly

complete record of these primary sources, regardless of where in

the world an individual may be working.

Brittle books reside in libraries of all sizes and types.

How any one 11...xary addresses the brittle book problem depends on

a number of factors including but not limited to the number of

brittle books to be treated, the filming and processing

equipment, trained staff, and financial support available to the

library. There is general agreement within the library community

that it is unrealistic for every library to develop in-house

facilities capable of producing archival-quality microfilming of

brittle books. Reformatting is an expensive undertaking and

in-house facilities . difficult to justif7 unless a library
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anticipates a significant volume and steady flow oZ brittle books

to be treated. While there are a few exceptions, only the larger

libraries have developed in-house programs to treat brittle

books. Such operations serve their own institutional needs as

well as serving the needs of other libraries as a source of

microfilm to replace brittle books. Libraries without in-house

preservation facilities, with just as serious a problem but with

fewer numbers of brittle books, face an extra hurdle of

identifying a laboratory or service agency where their unique

materials may be treated.

Smaller libraries facing this special problem might take a

number of different approaches. In some cases, a nearby library

that has developed an in-house facility might provide

preservation services for other libraries. A few commercial

firms can handle archival microfilming. In addition, ,regional

non-profit preservation laboratories have been established as

cooperative and "mutual help" projects. One regional center is

the Northeast Document Conservation Center (NEDCC) in Andover,

Massachusetts; developed with funds from the Council on Library

Resources, the National Endowment for the Humanities, and private

sources, the Center has evolved into a full-service treatment

facility for preservation of research materials. Another center

is the Mid - Atlantic Preservation Service, based at Lehigh
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University. Each of these options has its limitations.

Some commercial facilities that have traditionally provided

filming services mainly for business records have developed or

are developing new services to film brittle books for libraries

to exacting archival standards. In ;his regard, considerable

effort has been made from California to Virginia by individual

librarians and library associations to educate people operating

such commercial faci.ities about the special requirements for the

filming of brittle books, as well as educating librarians as

potential customers of such services to the information filmers

need from them.

By way of example, I would like to note that the

Association of Research Libraries, in partnership with NEDCC and

with funding from the Andrew W. Mellon Foundation and the

National Historical Publications and Records Commission, has

developed a comprehensive instructional manual to assist in

preservation microfilming. We expect publication of the manual

by the American Library Association thir year.

The majority of libraries will seek services outside their

own organization to treat t"tir brittle books. They will require

many of the same things as libraries with an in-house program:

o Staff trained to assess the extent of the

"brittle book problem' in a library collection,
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to develop a strategy for addressing the

problem, and to coordinate the work.

o An internal process to identify, insure completeness

of and prioritize the material needing treatment,

within the context of a national strategy.

o Management support, e.g. operational models,

guidelines, instructions, manuals, public

information programs and staff workshops for

continuing education.

o Bibliographic information within a national

network to determine whether the brittle

materials in library collections are unique,

whether the item has already been reformatted

and the microfilm available, or whether the

item has been selected for filming but not yet

treated elsewhere. (As noted elsewhere in my

statement, the availability of such

bibliographic information is absolutely

essential for using our limited resources most

effectively.)

o Funding to support staff to identify brittle

materials that require reformatting and to pay

for archival preservation filming, entering of

the revised bibliographic data into a national

database, and storage locally or elsewhere of

the archival master film under archival

conditions.
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Libraries without in-house preservation facilities have one

urgent need however: more regional and cooperative centers. The

number is slowly growing but most of the country is still

unserved in this regard. Encouragement as well as financial

support is necessary.

A survey of scholars by the National Humanities Alliance

revealed that their high priority in the area of humanities

scholarship was the preservation of research library material.

Memi8ers of the American Library Association and the Asscciation

of Research Libraries have b-In aware of this crucial need. It

was therefore most welcome news in 1985 when the National

Endowment for the Humanities expanded its response to this

national need by establishing the Office of Preservation. I

could hardly exaggerate now important this NEH Preservation

Program will be to libraries, though the funding has yet been

much too small. Grants available from the Department of

Education under the Higher Education Act, Title IIC constitute

another source of funding of extreme importance to a national

preservation effort. Fortunately foundations such as the Andrew

W. Mellon Foundation have also provided significant support. The

State of New York has budgeted an exemplary statewide

preservation program. And individual libraries have also built

into their basic operating budgets a substantial commitment of

financial resources.

As examples, some college and a few university libraries
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have found that they could commit 1% to 3% of their operating

monies to their preservation effort. A substantial number of ARL

libraries have made major efforts to increase this and are now

committing 3% to 5% of their budget. A few libraries, all too

few, have been able to budget as much as 6% to 8% of their total

expenditures for preservation activities. The very significant

effort libraries have made to address this problem is clear when

a comparison is made between the amounts they have spent on

preservation activities and the amounts spent on acquisition of

new materials for the collection. From 10% to 25% of their

entire materials budget is spent for binding, microfilming or

other preservation treatment. This can be regarded as a measure

of the problem, the urgency with which the need is viewed by the

administrations of these libraries.

One might ask how priorities can be set when libraries are

able to spend limited sums on the preservation of materials and

yet the problem is of awesome dimension. Let me cite a

hypothetical example, based on a program designed for the

Association of Research Libraries. ARL has used a documentary

conspectus to provide a descriptive map of the strength of

existing collections and current collecting efforts in specific

subject fields. That data could provide the basis for selecting

which members of ARL cou. ..eat be asked to undertake

preservation responsibiliti is this or that subject. Since

library collections are not duplicates, two or even three

libraries may need to pool their resources for adequate coverage
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of ona subject. That sum of archival microfilm will then

function as the representative collection of record for that

subject field.

The Research Libraries Group of institutions has followed

the same strategy. (RLG is a Connecticut corporation formed and

supported by about three dozen research universities and

libraries, with services used by many libraries scattered from

Maryland and Florida to Colorado and California.) One of its

long-standing programs is dedicated to the preservation of

research library materials. Its members, nearly all of whom are

also members of the American Library Association and the

Association of Research Libraries, have for four years been

pursuing a focused and carefully worked out program of

preservation microfilming. A conspectus of comparative

collection strengths has .een assembled. Libraries with special

strength in a discrete subject field have undertaken filming of

those items, concentrating first on U.S. imprints between 1850

and 1920. A computer database records decisions to film and

lists resultant master films. Masters are stored archivally by a

Pennsylvanian comLercial firm. A broader cooperative attack on a

similar prioritization basis, extended to foreign imprints and

more recent publications, is now being fashioned by RLG. For an

example, Chinese language materials of 1880-1949 are now being

filmed.

While national standards would be used for a national
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program of preservation filming, the processes and priorities

used to identify items for preservation would be left to the

discretion of subject experts in the individual institution. In

the interest of cost-effectiveness, all variants of a popular

history or text would not be filmed, though all variant editions

of a literary work would be. Also exclui:A would be, e.g.,

offprints and facsimiles. Within the subject designation

assigned to a particular library, funds would be used to

concentrate on the materials identified as being in the most

brittle or physically deteriorated state. Once preservation

copies have been made of those that are most endangered, one

would then turn to those that will be in a similar state in

another five or ten years, and so on in a progressive conversion

effort.

The need to preserve representative rather than exhaustive

collections for all subject areas requires that scholars and

librarians plan within a national context and use limited

resources in a coordinated fashion. Thus a "national collection"

consisting of individual collections of discrete subjects at

different institutions will be formed with minimal duplication

and with future access assured for everyone. Later there may be

the chance to supplement that national collection where other

libraries can fill in significant gaps. But only in this

systematic way can we guarantee that a balanced national

collection of materials in all subject fields will be available

in the next century.
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I do not mean to suggest that all of the procedures and

methods have been agreed to; quite the contrary. Yet the

objective is universally supported. The standards are well

understood. The dependability of preservation microfilming is

well established. The longtime value of this investment is

Assured by storage of the master negative in secure vault-like

quarters with suitable atmospheric conditions.

As the ARL testified in March 1986 before the House

Subcommittee on Appropriations for the Interior Department and

Related Agencies (including funding for the National Endowment

for the Humanities), libraries also recognize an absolute

requirement for a national bibliographic record, or catalog,

which records when the preservation copy has been made, where it

exists, and thereby publicly records where use copies may be

purchased or borrowed. "Given the enormous amount of material to

be preserved, the urgency to move ahead as quickly as possible,

and the limited funding available, duplication must be avoided.

Technology provides a reasonable solution: register local

decisions to preserve a book, newspaper or any research material

in a widely available database to alert others that the title

need not be treated elsewhere and that the title is, or will be,

available for use. Reasonable access to information about what

titles have already been preserved or identified for treatment is

a basic element of the infrastructure necessary to move this

national objective ahead in a cooperative and expeditious

manner. In short, we require a basic bibliographic structure in

place to make wise preservation decisions."
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Since that hearing, I am very pleased to report that the

Mellon Foundation and NEH have awarded the Association of

Research Libraries $1,200,000 in funds to convert all monographic

records in the National Register of Microform Masters (located in

the Library of Congress) into a machine readable database, one

that will be available two years from now in the RLG database,

the OCLC database, the Western Library Network database and

others. This project will be a grand achievement, providing a

basic building block for the national bibliographic network

necessary for economical preservation of brittle books.

Since we know the magnitude of the problem and since wa

have a methodology for selecting how and where to begin our

attack, it is apparent that a solution to the problem is at hand

if we act together. Let me add to its solution by providing the

answers to three other key questions.

1.What are the appropriate Federal, State and private sector

roles in efforts to address this problem? Each sector plays a

key role, as I have suggested in the picture described above.

Essential cooperative planning is provided by such organizations

as ALA, ARL, RLG and the Council on Library Resources. The new

AliMette+ Commission on Preservdtion and Access can play a lead

role. The Library of Congress has for years done us all a great

service with its research and development work and its

publicizing and proselytizing of the state of the preservation

art--including international coordination work. The National
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Agricultural Library and the National Library of Medicine have

also initiated preservation programs of value nationally and

internationally. The Government Printing Office should be

encouraged to work with librarians, archivists and paper

companies to establish and apply standards for acid-free paper

and binding as appropriate for a good part of government

publications. The Higher Education Act Title II-C program and

the National Historical Publications and Records Commission

program are modestly funded but make significant contributions to

the national preservaiton strategies. The program of the Offica

of Preservation in the National Endcwment for the Humanities

should be greatly strergthened.

2 What procedures are necessary to ensure public access to

preserved materials? Part of the answer is easy, since public,

academic and independent research libraries have a long-standing

commitment to access. In addition, it requires that individual

institutions, professional associations and funding agencies

insist that bibliographic data be currently maintained on what is

in the queue for filming, what has been completed and by whom.

It requires that reading copies of the master films be readily

available and publicized, and that the interlibrary services

staff and users consider films as routine rather than exceptional

loans. There is a role here for ALA, ARL and consortia such as

RLG.

3.And what are the costs and who should bear them? The Council
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of Library Resources has made fair estimates of the total

cost. The total effort we face is daunting, perhaps on the order

of tens of millions of dollars. While each group might like some

other to pay full costs, that is patently unrealistic. A

consensus exists among libraries that costs must be shared; some

costs must be covered locally. Start up costs in particular need

government and foundation help. Ongoing costs require local

budgeting for at least a significant share, with endowment

support for preservation programs in research libraries to the

extent possible.

Yet one must recognize that libraries generally are so

meagerly financed that there is little budgetary potential for

dealing with problems of ten or fifty years henco when current

book budgets and clientele services are severely beleaguered.

The brittle books problem is a national concern, and indeed

worldwide. Recognizing that, Federal support for a few decades

is essential. A majo: share of start up costs should be a

Federal responsibility, as should a strong portion of local

operating costs.

Just as the Federal highway system is financed as being in

the nation's interest, for both civilian and national defense

purposes, exactly so should the "brittle books" system

financed as in the nation's interest. Students, schola. our

defense structure, our very civilization demands no less

protection against the now recognized seeds of cultural

destruction.
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Thus it seems evident that THERE MUST BE A FEDERAL ROLE,

sharing the effort with state, local and institutional

authorities.

Resolutions supporting a second White House Conference on

Library and Information Services for 1989 have been introduced in

the House and the Senate (H.J. Res. 90 and S.J. Res. 26). I call

attention to this proposal on this occasion because we anticipate

such a forum could provide an opportunity to focus national

attention on the catastrophic consequences of the deterioration

of printed material in the nation's libraries. As this hearing

demonstrates, Congress is aware of the problem and is actively

engagod in defining an appropriate federal role to contribute

toward a solution. But we all acknowledge that Congress cannot

solve the problem alone - nor can any other single agent. The

enormity of the problem and the costs associated with developing

and implementing programs to preserve brittle books dictate a

responsibility within every sector of the nation. Therefore,

while the proposed White House Conference on Library and

Information Services will not 'solve' the brittle book problem we

consider here today, it would provide a forum to continue to

raise the level of understanding about the scope and seriousness

of the challenge we ail face. We appreciate the support members

of the Subcommittee showed in the past for the Conference and

hope we may count on that support continuing again this year.

To sum up: We recognize the urgency and magnitude of the
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librfiry materials preservation problem. We have a plan whereby

decisions can be made as to what material needs preservation and

in what priority. We ave a rough idea of the costs involved.

We accept the concept of reasonable cost sharing. And we are

rather well equipped - except for the lack of a federal policy of

commitment to help resolve the problem of brittle library

materials, and except for sufficient funding.

To improve access to cultural resources and safeguard otr

own future, the Congress must act, providing leadership and help

with financial aid. On behalf of the Association of Research

Libraries and the American Library Association, I request your

support.
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Sparks, do you have testimony as well?
Mr. SPARKS. Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I

have some brief remarks to update you on what the Library of Con-
gress has been fining over the last two decades to meet our preser-
vation challenges.

Dr. Boorstin and Dr. Gregorian have handled the problem of brit-
tle books and have ably covered the difficult task facing us in the
very near future if we are to salvage the intellectual conthnts of
these millions of volumes.

When the Library created the Preservation Office in the fall of
1967, it realized that a constant commitment to scientific research
was essential to develop lasting solutions to the preservation prob-
lems. To this end, a Preservation Research and Testing Office was
established.

Over the last two decades, sign..ficant and original contributions
to library and archive preservation have been made. Examples of
this include approaches to the deacidification and stabilization of
paper, the development of the use of polyester film in encapsula-
tion as a physical protection for fragile paper, and other contribu-
tions which have had a major impact on preservation practices in
libraries and archives throughout the world.

Our Conservation Office has issued a number of practical
cations to assist libraries in preservation and conservation work.
The National Preservation Program Office, established in 1985, en-
courages regional and national preservation efforts, issues a quar-
terly newsletter giving information about activities at LC and ef-
forts of other institutions to cope with their preservation programs,
and provides worldwide information on preservation practices.

The most highly publicizedand the most promisingsolution to
prevent books and other paper-based materials in the Library's col-
lections from moving into the brittle state is the development of a
gaseous process for the mass deacidification of books. This method
was developed in our Research and Testing Office and was patent-

. by the Library to arrest paper degradation and increase the life
cif library materials by a factor of three to five times.

Based on gas phase permeation and reaction with diethyl zinc,
the process neutralizes the paper's acidity and leaves a residue of
zinc oxide that protects paper for many centuries from further
acid-induced loss of strength.

Two large-scale tests in 1978 and 1982 served to establish the
large-scale feasibility of the process and 13 small-scale tests proved
the process was capable of producing a well deacidified book.

fa 1984, Congress autlorized the Librarian of Congress, under
the supervision of the Army Corps of Engineers, to proceed with
the design and the construction of the Library of Congress Mass
Book Deacidification Facility at Fort Detrick in Frederick, Mary-
land. $11.5 million was appropriated for a facility capable of treat-
ing up to one million volumes per year from the Library's general
and law collections.

A pilot facility had been constructed to Goddard Space Flight
Center for engineering scale-up studies. Two incidents at this pilot
facility in December of 1985 and February of 1986 caused the Li-
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brary of Congress to redirect its engineer efforts for the pilot facili-
ty to the chemical process industry.

In this past year we have strengthened project management and
contracted with Texas Alkyls, Incorporated, and S & B Engineering
in Houston, Texas to redesign and construct a new pilot facility in
Houston. We estimate that the Fort Detrick facility will be oper-
ational in 1990.

, The really good news is that the 1984 survey indicated that 75
percent of our existing general and law book collections can greatly
benefit from deacidificationin addition, all incoming books can
greatly benefit from deacidificationbefore going on our shelves.

Successful implementation of our facilit, could lead to licensing
arrangements to the private sector for c her facilities of a smaller
scale to be constructed on a regional basis.

Beginning the decade of the 1990s we expect, for the first time, to
have a program in place that will effectively deal with the destruc-
tive force of acid in books. If in conjunction with that program we
have a large-scale national cooperative microfilming effort focused
on those books beyond the ;each of deacidification, we will in fact
have a comprehensive national program.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Peter C. Sparks follows:]
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Statement of Peter G. Sparks
Director, Preservation Office

Subcommittee on Postsecondary Education
Committee on Education and Labor
U.S. House of Representatives

Harch 3, 1987

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

I have brief remarks to update you on what the Library of Congress

has been doing over the last two decades to meet our preservation

challenges. Dr. Boorstin and Dr. Gregorian have handled the problem of

brittle books and have ably covered the difficult task facing us in the very

near future if we are to salvage the intellectual contents of these millions

of volumes.

When the Library created the Preservation Office in the fall of

1967, it realized that a constant commitment to scientific research was

essential to develop lasting solutions to the preservation problems. To

this end a Preservation Research and Testing Office was established. Over

the last two decades, significant and original contributions to library and

archive preservation have been made. Examples of this include approaches to

the deacidification and stabilization of paper, the development of the use

of polyester film in encapsulation as a physical protection for fragile

paper and other contributions wLich have had a major impact on preservation

practices in libraries and archives throughout the world.

Our Conservation Office has issued a number of practical

publications to assist libraries in preservation and conservation work. The

National Preservation Program Office established in 1985 encourages regional

and national preservation efforts and issues a quarterly newsletter giving
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information about activities at LC and efforts of other institutions to cope

with their preservation program.

The most highly publicized--and the most promising--solution to

prevent books and other paper materials in the Library's collections from

moving into the brittle state is the development of a gaseous process for

the mass deacidification of books. This method was developed in our

Research and Testing Office and was patented by the Library to arrest paper

degradation and increase the life of library materials by a factor of three

to five times. Based on gas phase permeation and reaction with diethyl

zinc, the process neutralizes the paper's acidity and leaves a residue of

zinc oxide that protects paper for many centuries from further acid-induced

loss of strength.

Two large-scale bests in 1973 and 1982 served to establish the

large scale feasibility of the process and thirteen small scale tests proved

the process was capable of producing a well deacidified book.

In 1984 Congress authorized the Librarian of Congress, under the

supervision of the Army Corps of Eng_neers, to proceed with the design and

construction of the Library of Congress Mass Book Deacidification Facility

at Fort Detrick, Frederick, Maryland. $11.5 million was appropriated for a

facility capable of treating up to 1,000,000 volumes per year from the

Library's general and law collections.

A pilot facility had been constructed at Goddard Space Flight

Center for engineering scale-up studies. Two incidents at this pilot

facility in December 1985 and February 1986 caused the Library of Congress

to redirect its engineering efforts for the pilot facility to the chemical

process industry.
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In the past year we have strengthened project management and

contracted with Texas Alkyls, Inc., and S & B Engineering, in Houston,

Texas, to redesign and construct a new pilot facility in Houston. We

estimate that Fort Detr_ck's facility will be operational in 1990.

The good news is that the 1984 survey indicated that 75 percent of

our existing general and law collections would benefit from deacidification,

moreover, all incoming books can greatly benefit from deacidification before

going on our shelves. Successful implementation of our facility could lead

to licensing arrangements to the private sector for other facilities of a

smaller scale to be constructed on a regional basis. Beginning in the

decade of the 1990's we expect, for the first time, to have a program in

place which will effectively deal with the destructive force of acid in

books. If in conjunction with that program, we have a large scale national

cooperative microfilming effort focused on those books beyond the reach of

deacidification, we will have a comprehensive national program.
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Owens, any questions?
Mr. OWENS. Yes.
First, Mr. Haas, do you have any idea, any figures, which show

how many libraries across the country have microfilm readers? It's
a question I think that most congressmen will be interested in.

How does our constituency get access to microfilm material sincethat is the only wayonce books brittle, that is the only way to
deal with them, I understand. Deacidification is something else.

Does anybody have any idea of how many microfilm readers
there are out there?

Mr. HAAS. The answer is no. There are some 3,000 academic li-
braries of all kinds in the country, more than 9,000 public libraries,
not counting their branches. I would guess that in all butin
terms of numbers and people, sir, I would guess 75 or 80 percent of
that set of libraries has the reading equipment. It is only modest in
cost.

I don't want to confuse the issue but I will slightly. Preservation
is accomplishedthe kind of preservation we are talking about is
accomplished through microfilming. But once you have something
on film, new technology suggests that there may be additional
ways in which to use the item. For example, some years ago there
was a machine where one could run microfilm in and get out the
paperthe copy flow machine.

It is not unlikely, I think, that the wealth of film that we are
building up as a national archive can be used to convert to digital
form for reading on a computer terminal, for using it as a base for
printing a new edition in small numbers.

Mr. OWENS. But my concern is, currently the number of micro-
film readers out there is far too few when you consider that there
are 9,000 public library systems. The book and public library
system has about 60 branches and most of them don't have micro-film readers.

I go to the main library on Sundayif you are not in the first 10-
minute wave that goes in, you don't get a microfilm reader, al-
though they have a number of microfilm readers there at the mainlibrary. So there is a key problem. I just wanted to establish that
fact. I do that in order to emphasize that the great hope in preser-
vation, really, I think is in deacidification of some process that
really continues to preserve the physical book for large numbers of
people.

And on that question, Mr. Sparks or Dr. Boorstin, I have a chro-
nology here which says, as Mr. Sparks noted, in 1979 you began
testing the DEZ treatment in large-scale trials. In 1983at that
time you predicted that collections, the treatment of the Library of
Congress collection would begin in 1982but in 1983 you were test-
ing, and still continuing, and your prediction was that you would
begin in 1985.

Then in 1986, after a flash fire and an explosion, NASA blows upthe LOC, a $11 million dollar treatment facility, and declares its
design was fatally flawed. You decided at that time to contract
with a chemical company to establish a new facility. And now you
are predicting that full treatment will start in 1989.
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Another chronology for Canada and their deacidification project,
is that in 1974 they began testing. In 1978, they opened a pilot test-
ing plant. In 1981, they became fully operational. They deacidified
about 40,000 books a year.

Now, what is the difference in the processes? The basic proceis,
is there a difference? And if the Canadian process works and ours
doesn't, why have we not before not adopted the Canadian process?

Congress made quite a commitment, I think, and it is to be con-
gratulated, just as the Library of Congress is to be congratulated
for making the proposal and for taking this initiative. But we have
an $11 million project here which has not worked to date. And
before the accountants catch up with this, I think the profession
should get ahead of this and let's have some concrete direct action
as immediately as possible.

I understand there is controversy. I mentioned the editorial that
appeared in the Library Journal a few minutes ago and I will come
back to that in a minute.

But what is going to happen now that is different from what has
been happening up to now?

Why isn't that basic process used by Canada worthy of adoption
in our process?

Mr. BOORSTIN. Major Owens, I would like to ask Mr. Sparks to
respond to that.

But I would just mention that the $111/2 million has not been
spent, Major Owens. You are aware of that, of course.

Mr. OWENS. No, I am not. Maybe you can bring us up to date on
how much has been spent.

Mr. BOORSTIN. We have waited cautiously until we have been as-
sured that the process engineering design will work before we built
the plant. So that money is not spent. What money has been spent
on experiments, using test facilities, that you mentioned, Major
Owens. But with respect to the details, I would like to ask Mr.
Sparks to speak.

Mr. SPARKS. Mr. Owens, let me address the chronology for a
minute.

The pilot facility at NASA was built after we did a variety of
small-scale tests to determine that the chemistry of the process
worked very well. The pilot facility concept was part of the engi-
neering required prior to designing the big facility at Fort Detrick.
We are building a chemical plant. The normal approach to building
a chemical plant is to be build a pilot facility to test the design.

Mr. OWENS. I have limited time.
Mr. SPARKS. Yes, sir.
Mr. OWENS. Can you tell me why you are not using the Canadi-

anhow is the Canadian process appear to be? The U.S. processed
at least once. Why have you not adopted that?

Mr. SPARKS. The two processes are very different. We are com-
mitted to the idea of using a gas phase process and not a liquid
phase process. The Canadian process is a liquid process.

Mr. OWENS. Because that is cheaper or --
Mr. SPARKS. We feel that a gaseous process using diethylzinc as

the gas is technically better and that it will lend itself to the large
size and the great diversity of our collections. For example, we
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hope to deacidify when we are at full capacity, 30,000 books a
week.

The Canadian facility, which is a small facility, deacidifies 150
books a day. We want much greater production capacity. There are
certain technical difficulties with liquid phase deacidification. We
do not want to adopt the liquid Phase treatment for our collections.
Our scientists believe that the best approach for large-scale deacid-
ification of a very varied collectionthe Library has many, paper
formats that we want to deacidifycan best be met by using a gas
phase technology. So we have pursued that approach for over a
decade.

I think from my own perspective, we do need to give the Canadi-
ans creditas you have doneto have taken this liquid phase tech-
nology and done a certain amount of deacidification. However, if
you went up there and saw that operation and then look at the size
of the operation that we are trying to implement at the Library of
Congress, it would be intuitively obvious that it would be very diffi-
cult for us to use a liquid phase technology effectively.

Mr. OWENS. So you have studied the process and decided that it
just is not suitable.

My problem is that over a 10-year period we should have more to
show for cur effort, it seems to me. And since the benefits of de-
acidification are monumental, and I would like to hear something
that says that we can expect some resultsand you don't have to
wait for another 10 years.

Mr. SPARKS. I would hope so, too.
I would point out that we did not begin large-scale testing until

the beginning of the 1980s, and it took another two years after
those first two large-scale tests which indicated this process could
work on a large scale, to iron out the technical aspects of the proc-
ess, so that we knew we had something that was good. We had
never anticipated being fully operational until late 1987we now
are saying 1990.

Mr. OWENS. Why did you give the contract to NASA? Did they
claim expertise in this area?

Mr. SPARKS. At that time, we were looking for availability of
large vacuum chambers that we had to do the test in. They had a
lot of vacuum chambers and engineers that wanted to take on the
project.

In their defense, I think we had a very successful testing pro-
gram there. Where we ran into difficulty is when we started to
design a production chemical facility. On that point, we had to
move from NASA to the chemical process industry. We have done
this and the new design is in place. The contractor is going to con-
struct a new pilot facility starting in June. The design looks very. good.

Mr. OWENS. Mr. Boorstin.
Mr. BooRsrpt. May I ask for a worn from the Deputy Librarian

who has been very close to this problem and the international as-
pects of it.

Mr. WELSH. Mr. Owens, I will be very quick.
As Dr. Sparks said, we began in t o laboratory. We used a pres-

sure cookerfour books and a preLsure cookerto first test the
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process. Then we went to the GE facility at Valley Forge. Every
time we moved ahead it was try to get to a scaled up the operation.

Then we went to NASA because they had the 81/2 foot 15 foot
vacuum chamber, which they can make available to us. It was a
vacuum chamber that was in use in the space program. They
agreed to make it available to us.

After we did that, we did a test run of 5,000 books where we had
taken the acid out of the books, extended the life of those books
four to five hundred years.

Our test facility in Houston, Texas will be zip and running ac-
cording to schedule in September of this year. Give us a few more
months and we will demonstrate the process engineering.

We are talking about a monumental program. Even with this ca-
pacity that Dr. Sparks talks about, it will take us 20 years to deaci-
dify all of the books currently in the Library's collection.

Mr. OWENS. I want to take this point to offer for the record the
editorial that did appear in the Library Journal and the article
that is also contained in that issue to let you know that there are
dissenting voices as to what we have heard here in terms of going
ahead with that same

Mr. WELSH. Mr. Owens, would you please include my response?
Mr. OWENS. Do what?
Mr. WELSH. Would you please include my responses also in the

record?
Mr. OWENS. Oh, yes, your response will be on the record.
Mr. WELSH. Thank you, sir.
Mr. OWENS. Your written response? Yes, if you will submit it for

the committee.
I will ask also, Mr. Chairman, that the response be included for

the record because I think within the library community it will be
good to try to work out these solutions and not have them escalate
into the larger community which will be wondering why $11 mil-
lion has not been spent if it has been made available.

We also would like to see some effort, extraordinary effort, made
to hasten the day when the benefits of deacidification can be made
available in the process of preserving books. So I would like to at
least have the record show that.

Mr. WELSH. Mr. Owens, would you permit me to add further
comment?

Mr. Owzigs. Yes.
Mr. WELSH. There is no single solution to the problem that we

face in libraries. We use microfilming, and this is what we are talk-
ing about here, because there's a certain number of volumes that
can only be saved through microfilming. There's optical disk tech-
nology that the Library of Congress is a pioneer in. There's cold
storage also.

Mr. OWENS. Yes, I am aware of that. I hope that al., a result of
this hearing and the committee will come up with legislation that
will deal with all aspects of it, including, Mr. Chairman, I hope we
find some way to have some kind of help to get more microfilm
readers purchasers because that is a short-term reader benefit that
is needed out there, plus all the other kinds of things that have
been proposed.
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But on this matter, I have never seen the Library Journal, as
one of the leading professional journals, take such a strident tonein its criticism. I think that shows that within the profession there
is a problem in terms of reaching the best solution to this very dif-
ficult problem, which, if solved, will give us such great benefits. So
I hope that we can move forward in that spirit.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Without objection, the gentleman's request for the
inclusion of the editorial will be accepted into the record as, of
course, Mr. Welsh's statement.

[The Library Journal article and editorial material follow:]
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It's Time To Dump DEZ
Congress has already appropriated SII,S million
to build a plant for the miss deacidification of
books at Fort Detrick in Maryland, using the
diethyl zinc (DEZ) process developed by the Li-
brary of Congress (LC). LC long ago made its
choice of a process for book deacieiheation and
has spent years developing and pubiicizin4 the

DEZ process.
The library community and the Congress

have 'had to rely primarily on statements and
reporta from the Library of Congress to get an-
swers to four basic, crucial questions about the
DEZ process: What are the dangers in the use of
the DEZ process? What if the potential of the
DEZ process for mass applications or as a proto-
type for library installations elsewhere? What
actual progress has been cr is being made by the
Library of Congress to develop an industrially
viable upsizing of the DEZ process, which
works in miniature in the labdratory, in order to
de :cidrfy the paper in masses of books? Finally,
what is the intended scope of the use of the DEZ
process by the Library of Congress on its own
collections?

The report on pages 33.35 of this issue of U
is the result clan examination of the documenta-
tion we have been able to amass on DEZ over
several years. From that examination one can
reach only one conclusion, that, inadvertently
or not, the Library or Congress has not fully
reported to Congress or the library community a
number of very serious problems with the DEZ
process and its wider application. A time of
reckoning is at hand.

Only a year ago, one prominent member of
the library preservation community, asked by
U to comment on the news of the demolition of
the LC pilot plant at Goddard Space Flight Cen-
ter, lamented that "we know so little ... we
have to rely on the scientists."

Fortunately, information which will go far
toward making informed decisions on deacidifi-
cation is now ,or will be shortly) available. The
Library Technology Program of the American
Library Association plans to publish an issue of
its Library Technology Reports devoted to com-

parative information on rnctlitets of mass 4:-
acidifieftion.

Edited by veteran preservation
George Cunha, who gave the preservation world
a preview glimpse of it in May at Oxford, Eng-
land, the report provides the most complete in-
formation to date on the facts about existing
deacidification processes and is specifically de-
signed to help library administrators make in-
formed decisions in this area.

There seems to be little doubt that the Li-
brary of Congress has taken a wrong road with
DEZ, but LC is apparently still determined to
convince the U.S. library commun'ty to follow.
Why has LC persisted with DEZ when other
avenues of research are so much more promis-
ing and have already resulted in both successful
operating plants and vigorous research with al-
ternative chemicals?

The seeming inability to abandon behavior
that is Manifestly unfruitful has been noted in
gambling addicts, and has lately drawn the at
tention of behavioral scientists, who are using
the term "entrapment" to describe such behav-
ior, whether observed in human relations, gam-
bling, business, or politics.

Sometimes it seems that there is an epidemic
of "entrapment" in government: the Sergeant
York gun that, after millions spent upon it, just
doesn't work; the predilection for backing the
finally discredited losers in international affairs,
the loss of the Challenger. The DEZ process be-
longs right Alongside these failures.

In O.:inscrutable West, the ultimate disaster
appears .be loss of face; fear of it seems often to
be the Itioris.:.1 motivation for persisting in folly.
But when the whole world can see the egg on
your face, it's time to wash it off.

Senior Editor
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The DEZ Process
and the Library

of Congress
By Karl Nyren

,/iE SEARCH for a solution to
1 the problem of the deteriora

Lion of books due to the acid in
the paper upon which they arc print.
ed spans several decades. A number
of chemical processes to deacidify a
volume have been developed in that
time, and currently at least two arc
claimed to have potential as "indus.
trial" processes for use in applies.
tions that can deacidify thousands of
volumes at a time.

121e Library of Congress has opt.
ed to use a process involving the vol.
stile chemical diethyl zinc (DEZ),
and for several years has been en.
gaged in experiments and projects to
develop a prototype plant for massive
applications of the DEZ descidifica-
tion process, with the aim of develop.
ing a prototype process for world.
wide adoption of the DEZbased
method for the mass dcacidification
of books. The process would be used
on both old books already deteriorat
ing on library shelves and new ones
being added to library collections.

In statements mad: public over a
number of years, the Library of Con-
gress has:

Karl Nyren Is Sink/ Edam at LI

Asserted that the diethyl zinc
(DEZ) process is safe;

Proposed that it be a model or
prototype for deacidification plants
to be built around the country;

Reported steady progress in
achieving a successful process; and,
inadvertently or not,

Allowed the impression to be
created that 13 million older books
now disintegrating on LC shelves are
the prime reason LC has proposed
building an $11.5 million deacidifica
Lion plant at Fort Detrick in Mat yland.

The danger of DEZ
The inherent danger of the basic

chemical involved, dtethyl zinc, has
been known all along. LC has
claimed for years that it has success
fully harnessed DEZ for mass deacid
ification.

Early in the LC effort to move
the DEZ process from miniature
szie in the laboratory to an industrial
process, a project was contracted to
an engineering team from Northrop
Services, Inc. Working at the NASA
Goddard Space Flight facility, the
team went to great pains to educate
themselves about DEZ, spent several
days at the plant of the Stauffer
Chemical Company, the Houston
manufacturer of DEZ, and worked
out ways to transport and handle the
chemical.

DEZ is too dangerous to ship ex
cept in sealed steel cylinders, in a di.
lute solution with oil, and then not in
any vehicle carrying passengers or
traveling by air. It can be shipped by
UPS.

72.c Northrop Services team de.
signed a process which they consid
C-4 safe, one in which the risks of
any serious mishap wet: rated as
close to zero. That rating was disput
ed by one member of the engineering
team who felt that the hazards of DEZ
had not been fully explored. As safety
engineer for the job, he sounded the
alarm and was allowed to resign. The
project proceeded without him.

Success in harnessing DEZ has
been regularly announced by the Li.
brary of Congress:

In 1980, LC Research Scientist
George Kelly said that 'Me process
now appears ready for commercial
use," with the wamink that it should
not be set up in a library or residential
neighborhood.

In the LC information Bulletin
of April 23, 1984, it was said that
"The safety aspects of [DEZ) have
been completely defined and the han
&ins of diethyl zinc by trained opera.
tors has been reduced to a routine
matter. T e process is entirely safe to
personnel and the environment and
presents no damage to the books be-
ing deaciditicd."
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On May 7, 1984, on the basis of
LC testimony, the Rouse Committee
on Public Works and Transportation
said that "The Library of Congress
has successfully demonstrated that
DEZ can be safely used and the cle-
ment of risk connected with its use
substantially minimized if not elimi
nated."

On August 2, 1984, Congress
was told that "The Library of Con-
gress, in cooperation with NASA and
an independent safety consultant, un-
dertook a detailed, stcp-by.step anal-
ysis of the equipment used in the
process to evaluate risks in the engi-
neered design. This analysis resulted
in numerous changes in the design to
eliminate any potential hazards, and
these changes will be incorporated in
the fully at Fort Detrick. As cur-
rently engineered, the Library of
Congress states that there v411 be ab'
solutely m s,fety risks to personnel
or books with the Library of Con-
gress process."

On the basis of reports like
these, Congress appropriated 511.3
million to build a plant for the library
of Congress process at Fort Detrick.
On February 20,1986, although there
had already been two fires and an ex-
plosion, all unexplained, at the God-
dard installation, and LC was admit-
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tint that one of them "may be due to
incompatibility of materials in the
piping system." the Library of Con-
gress was admitting to no more than
delay. On the following day, Febru-
ary 21, 1986, the pint at Goddard
was ordered demolished by NASA.
which found the safety factors unac-
ceptable, despite a previous study,
noted above, which had set the risk
factor at close to zero. According to a
draft report by NASA personnel, due
to be released in late July, but not yet
available, the demolition, it was
learned, may have averted truly
massive explosion.

Neither Congress nor the library
community has been told of the pre-
ponderance of evidence for the din.
ger and unmanageability of DEZ. In
an address delivered May 19. 1986 at
Oxford, England, LC Scientist Don.
ald Sebera did not even mention the
fires, explosions, and final demoli
tion of the LC pilot plant, although it
was alluded to by at least one other
speaker,

The DEZ process as prototype
The Library of Congress has re-

peatedly claimed that its process
would provide a prototype, not only
for due idification plants in this cols.
try, but for the world. Congress likes
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to have the money it traria bear fruit;
and accepting LC's asssonces that it
had tamed DEZ, it litrened to Librar-
ian of Congress Daniel Boorstin, at
the April 11, 1984 U.S. Senate Corn.
mince on Rules and Administratimi,
saying that '7he facilities for which
we seek authorization can be a proto-
type for others in the United States
and so encourage economies of pro-
ovation and acquisition for all our
nation's libraries."

The downplaying of the safety
risks that would be associated with
placing facilities using this volatile,
and still not fully understood, process
has made the notion of "prototype"
facilities seem credible to both Con-
gress and the library community.

Progress claimed
Details of the DEZ process have

never been released by the Library of
Congress, although they have been
requested. It may be that full infor-
mation to convert the process to an
"industrial" one simply doesn't ex-
ist, since the development of the
DEZ process has proceeded only as
far as the chemical engineering in.
volved. Development of an industrial
process is still not accomplished, al.
though it would seem to have been a
reasonable expectation of the Con-



gross when it appropriated SI 1.5 mil
lion for the facility.

Past LC reports made it seem
that. even years ago, the process was
sufficiently developed to be de-
scribed in detail and considered a fin-
'shed product.

In September 1980. George Kel
ly told the Society for Archives and
Institute for Paper Conservation that
"After five yearn of development. we
now believe the diethyl zinc process
is ready foe commercial use. Large-
scale trials of this process have been
described in a paper presented at the
sixth AIC Annual Meeting in Fort
Worth, Texas in June 1978. At that
time, some problems remained, but
they have now been resolved." Kelly
also predicted. in the first of many
target dates, that LC would "con'.
bly begin treatment of the collections
in 1982."

In the footnotes to his paper,
Kelly gave the first public report of a
5000book test of the DEZ process,
claiming that, "The books were thor-
outhly tested by the Library of Con.
VC11 for complete effectiveness of
the treatment . .."

Not reported to Congress and
the libr ary community was the fact
that nearly 50 percent of the books
which were put through the process
were not fully &acidified and many
were actually damaged. These two
facts have been left out of almost all
reports, although LC officials have
shared with nonlibrary audiences on
more than One °cession.

Donald &hers, speaking at the
1983 American Institute for Conne-
latiOn Annual Meeting of the Book
and Paper Specialty Group on the re-
sults of the 5009book test, also re-
kind to it as a "success," although
he admitted that of the $000 books
treated. "we were estimating some.
wnere on the orderd50 to 55 percent
were fully treated." Sebera's re-
marks were transcribed from an ern.
edited tape of the meeting.

In August 1483. Peter Sparks, di.
rector for preservation at LC, tokt an
1FLA audience that the DEZ process
had been "successfully der,uzytrat-
ed ... at the large-plant level wish
about 6600 books (formerly referred
to as 509:4 treated." He predicted an
Operational plant for late 198$ at the
earliest and claimed: "We are in the
home stretch of making (the DEZ
process) available for production
treatment."

On March 17, 1986, after the pi-
lot plant had been blown up by
NASA order, the library moved Its
timetable ahead again, but In wording
that made it appear that no change

71-305 0 87 5
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had been made, referring now to the
"scheduled completion of the project
within a time frame close to the °Tie
sal one of 19118."

nth books to sere?
On the occasion cited above. Se-

ben said that the Fort Detrick plant
was designed primanly to handle new
acquisitions. According to Sebera.
"We're concerned only with, in this
development stage, new, nonrare
books. These books will be pro-
cased by the DEZ process before
being put on the shelf for use in the
collection. Liter than it may well be,
and we expect there will be, some
application to older materials. Per-
haps manuscripts, perhaps Cider
books in the collection. But, the de-
sign, is for new books, of a nonrare
type."

Further on. Scher* says that
"within 70 years we expect that this
process will not need to be used to
any great extent. We will be in the
secondary format, wi l be either opti
cal discs or some others, and the new
books coming out, probably many of
them will already come in these sec-
ondary formats."

Various figures have been cited,
but new acquisitions at LC are OE-
meted to number 3$0.000 a year.
With a capacity of $00,000 books a
year. Fort Detrick. at best, would be
able to deacidify 200,093 of the 14
million older books In the LC stacks
each year. In 20 years that would be
four million books.

Much of the support for mass de-
acidification has bccn in response to
appeals based on the potential lots
through deterioration of millions of
volumes of Irreplaceable treasures.
While new acquisitions will be pre-
served for the ages, books now on
LC shelves will be "systematically"
treated. The choice of the term "sys
tematie" suggests that l.0 dots not
plan to deacidify all its oilier books or
to preserve them In thek' origin4
form.

Appeals for support of the DEZ
froceas have usually been made in
the name of these older books. In
1971, LC Scientist John C. Williams,
In a paper on she chemistry of deac id-
ificatIon. said "Libraries today are
hospitals for sick books .... the Li-
brary of Congress ... has six million
volumes too brittle to circulate."

In 1974. Williams and Kelly in a
joint paper noted that "the Library of
Congress has six million books which
are already I!, such a condition that
they should not circulate and ... the
whole collection should be neutral.
ized and buffered to halt the &grads-
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lion . fin the Wiled States) there
must be 100 times this or300.030ions
In the emergency class."

Again in September 1980. Kelly
said. "The Library of Congress has
six or seven million books which arc
so deteriorated that they should not
circulate and with some exceptions,
the whole collection should be new
tralized and buffered." The diethyl
zinc process, he said, is ready to
solve the problem.

According to the Washington
Pon on February 21, 1986, Sparks,
joining Bqsrstin at P House budget
hearing in testimony on the effect of
the GrammRudmanHollings budget
cuts, referred to the deaeidification
project as one intended to "remove
acid from most of library's 13 mil
lion book' "

AtternatIreS to DEZ
Alternatives to the use of DEZ

and other zinc compounds gist, and
even now are being used successfully
and safely, both at Princeton and at
the National Archives of Canada,
where one process, based on mune-
slum rather than zinc, has been work.
Ins since 1971. The British Library is
reported actively developing a some-
what similar chemical approach. as is
France's Bibliothtque Nationale.

LC'S response
A letter in the August issue of LI

(p. 12, 14) by Sparks claimed that
there were several inaccuracies in the
April 1 Li news story (p. 12) on the
demolition of LCs test facility at the
Goddard Space Center.

Key goeslions
One purpose for this review of

the DEZ information above is to pro.
vide further documentation for state-
ments In that April 1 LI report. The
Issue of whether the Congress or the
library community have been proper.
ly informed regarding the DEZ pro-
cess hinges on such matters as the
danger Ins olved In the DEZ process,
the likelihood of the system being a
useful prototype for similar plants to
be built around the country, the accu-
racy of reports of progress made to-
ward a successful process, and the
primary objective of the mass deacid.
Manion plant to be built In Mary.
land.

The key question, of course, is
why the Library of Congress has per-
sisted In backing the DEZ process
when the expenditure of years of ef-
fort and untold funds to make it work
have come tr, so little. Congress and
the libn rye community should expect
a credit!. response,

121
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The Deputy Librarian of Congress responds
to 1.-J's September reports on the DEZ process

In Defense of DEZ:
LC's Perspective

By William J. Welsh

IT WAS MOST disappointing to
and both an editorial and an ni.
ek by a senior U edaor about the

DEZ process (U. September 15, p.
4. 33.35) that to misrepresents the
role of the Library of Congress in the
development of this important break
through in preservation technology.
Neither the library profession nor its
premier journal is served by mislead
ins and vitriolic reporting especially
when it Involves the discusuon of
topic as complicated and crucial as
mass deseichhcation of library mate.
dais. In an attempt to set the record
straight. I would like 3 respond to
the five points raised by NYrent

1. Is the dictli) I tine (DEZ) proc-
ess dangerous?

2. Is the LC DEZ process/ram
intended to be a prototype for de.sud-
ification plants to be built around the
country?

3. Has the Library of Congress
misrepresented the progress and sue.
cess of the DEZ process develop.
ment?

4. Which books in 11 ."s colke-
tions will be deuiddled with DEZ?

And. finally:
5. Why has the Library of Con-

gress persisted In the development of
the DU process?

Safety and DEZ
Diethyl zinc. fast described by

scientists In 1849. has for many years
been ivsed as catalyst in the produc.

MIAs* J. Wild% is Deputy blow* et
Coavess

"Neither the library
profession nor its
premier journal is served
by miskading and
vitriolic rep/Offing
especially when it
involves the discussion
of a topic as complicated
and crucial as mass
deacidification of library
materials"

tiara of common plastics, including
polyethylene, polystyrene. onlypeo-
pylerie. and polyester. DEZ Is pro-
duced as a liquid, and in that form is
prophoric. I.e.. it burns spontane
only when it tomes in contact with
the air, When used as a deseldifica.
tion agent. DEZ Is vaporized into a
gas In a contained vacuum environ.
meat where, as a gas, it Is not pyro.
phasic.

Because it is produced and
shipped in liquid form. DEZ requires
special handling as do gasoline, na.
hall gas, and other industrial chemi.
call to insure their safe transport and
svrage. Liquid DEZ does at" ...to.
tsz.e through physical impact at igni
tion, and when properly container.
lied is certified for shipment by
normal truck and rail transport and
poses ISO hazard in storage at normal
temperatures. In a closed vessel,
DEZ remains stable for years. Once
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received at its destination, appropri-
ate safety measures are put into place
in handling the chemical during its
transfer from the storage tank to the
chemical delivery system for vapor.
ization into the gas phase and com-
mencement of the deaciddleation
process in the treatment chamber.

The Library knew from the ba
ginning that strict safety measures
would be necessary when handling
DEL, and so informed the Congress
prior to authorization of funds to
build the DEZ plant. Subsequently.
extensive studies were undertaken.
procedures outlined, and ptecautions
recommended to meet safely frquiro
aunts, Unfortunately. the engincv.
(rag contractor at NASA made several
design and procedural errors in de-
veloping the DEZ test facility, the
consequences of which ate well
known and have been openly de-
scribed En great detail in the Library
of Congress Information Bulletins.

Having learned from this experi-
ence. the libra.y remains confident
that DEZ cs.r be handled safely in the
same way that millions of pounds of
Prophoric materials have been man.
ufaetured. transponed, and used
worldwide by the chemical industry
for decades.

The advantages of the DEZ de
acidification process for the treat.
mans of the collections of the Library
of Congress are so compelling that
we consider the effort required to de-
v clop appropriate handling strategies
for DEZ to be full y stifled.

The DEZ process as a proloOpc
The enormous scope of the ores-

ervstion problem at the Library of



Congress was deter, tined. after care-
ft)) study, to be best addressed by
gasphase deacidification, with dieth-
yl zinc as the gas. for the followiag
compelling reasons:

I) size of the collections (13 mil-
lion volumes in Our general and law
collections alone);

2) high acid content of the collet-
lions (greater than 80 percent with
pH 5 or lower because of the large
number of materials collected from
around the world); and

3) diversity of materials to be
treated (an endless variety of sizes,
formats, media, and bindings).

These considerations led us to
seek a vapor-phase deacidifeation
process with DEZ as the gas of
choice rather than a mixedsolvent
aqueous or nonaqueous liquid proc-
ess utilizing some other chemical. We
are satisfied with our choice because
gasphase deacidification with DEZ
meets all our criteria for an effective
deacidification treatment that will en-
&bit u: to deal efficiently with large
cambers of items without presekc-
don or sorting to eliminate unusual
material or soluble media.

Technically. the LC dacichfica-
don plant to be built at Ft. Detrick,
Maryland could be viewed as a proto-
type for others at the same size or at a
imam scale. Each library or archive
that is considering the mass deacidifi-
cation of its collections will have to
make its own evaluation and deci-
sion. based on its own circum-
stances. Like LC. they will have to
examine their collections, staff, re-
sources, and needs and match them
with the technical aspects of the
process that are most suitable for
their institution.

We anticipate that our plant will,
by its successful operation, bet useful
example and model for others to con-
sider and perhaps emulate. We would
encourage such developments, in any
way we can, to contribute to the solu-
tion of the acidpaper, problem that we
all face in one degree or another.

Prop% and stioniss dined
The Library of Congress has

been working toward the solution of
the mass paper deacidification prob-
km for more than ten years. Starting
with its first successful experim.nt
with a few books in an ordinary kitch-
en pressure cooker, the library his
progressed to the sophisticated facili-
ties of a Goddard Space Center and
its widely reported 5000.book test in
1982. This test proved out the con-
cept of DEZ mass deacidif 'cation
(more books were thoroughly feacid-
Vied in the test than have enr before

119

'The Library knew
from the beginning
that strict safety
measures would be
necessary when
handling DEZ, and so
informed the Congress
prior to authorization
of funds to build the
DEZ plant"

been deacidified in one chamber) and
identified problems associated with
treatment at that scale that were
solved with subsequent testing.

Whkh books to use
Deacidification and the forma-

tion of an adequate alkaline reserve
will extend the life of a book three
to five times. Deacidification cannot
resurrect the lost strength of a book,
it can only capture the paper's
strength at its present level. If a
brary's collection is to survive as

'Ion, as possible, then deterioration of
paper must be arrested as soon as
possible. Paper ages (loses strength)
rapidly at first and more slowly when
it is older. To derive the maximum
ber.efit from deacidilication, the
book should be treated while the pa-
per is still relatively new and strong.
Treating materials en masse before
they are added to the collection is lo-
gistically easier than trying to identify
and find newer books that have al-
ready been shelyed.

While we are interested in get-
ling in front of the problem of acid
deterioriation by treating new materi-
als, we also want to move as quickly
as possible on older acidic materials
that are rapidly losing strength and
will soon be too fragile to survive
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normal handling safely. This two-
Prong approach has been our strategy
from the outset and has been well do-
cumented in Congressional testimo.
ny and in many talks to professional
library groups. The manner in which
retrospetive materials will be chosen
for deacidification has been estab-
lished and the library's Preservation
Policy Committee has worked out a
systematic approach that includes
the treatment of retrospective materi-
als using the LC book classification
system.

Why stick with DEZ?
We have pursued the develop-

ment of DEZ for the treatment of our
collections because it offers a number
of advantages that meet our needs.
First, by sting a gasphase treatment.
the effects of solvents on ink, colors,
adhesives, and other solubles in pa-
pers are eliminated. Therefore, no
preselection of books to remove or
isolate solventsensitive materials is
required. Second, a gasphase proc-
ess ermbles uniform treatment of the
book through gaseous diffusion of the
small DEZ molecule throughout the
pages and fibers. In so doing, all the
weak and strong acids in the papers
are neutralized.

Third, in a separate reaction,
DEZ forms an alkaline reserve that
is deposited uniformly at en optimal
level throughout the materials, thus
stabilizing them against future deteri
oration. Fourth, DEZ is efficient. It is
good for any format, regardless of di-
mensions, and works on all paper in-
cluding groundwood and coated
stock. It works fast, which makes
possible a high production capability.
It does not alter colors or inks. has no
effect on the adhesion of labels, and
is safe for other materials used in
books. The alkaline reserve, zinc ox-
ide, has tested safely in toxicological
studies for skin and mucous mem-
branes. As an extra bonus. DEZ in-
hibits mold growth in paper and the
total DEZ process may have biocidal
activity.

Given the facts, the Library of
Congress feels confident that it is act-
ing responsibly and prudently in pur-
suing a. mass deacidification strategy
based on gasphase DEZ technology.
Our purpose is to reserve the national
collections from the devastating ef-
fects of acid in paper, on a truly mas-
sive scale, and to do so without darn-
aging the books in any way. A
successful effort will be of incalcula-
ble value. We seek the active support
of ethers who share our vision and
nth.fit profit by our example and hope
that U will, in due course, join us.
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LETTERS

DEZ is all we've got

Nyren's editorial ("It's Time to
Amy DEZ." September 15.1986, p.
43 raises questions about the DEZ
process which only work underway at
the Library of Congress can answer.
It has been established that DEZ is an
effective agent for mass deacidifica-
tion: what remains to be done is the
engineering to make that method
practicable and safe. Dumping the
project now will give us nothing for

the funds invested. Much of the proj
ect Is experimental. and it endured
some setbacks. But these certainly do
not warrant a hyperbolic analogy with
the Challenger disaster. What seems
to have failed is not the DEZ process
but the nerve of some who have most
to gain from its success. The fact that
the chemical is highly flammable
should not be a deterrent: such mate-
rials have been harnessed before, as
the familiar example of the internal
combustion engine demonstrates.

_ 1
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It is interesting to me that this
work at LC is. to date, the only eon
being made in the United Starts on
mass dearidification of library mate.
riots. We know there are other meth
ods, but they have not been tested in
pilot projects that would be helpful
and informative to the library corn.
munity. There is recent evidence that
the commercial sector will not devel.
op such technology. I AM surprised
that no research university has of.
fend to combine the strengths of its
library with its departments of chem.
istry and engineering to undertake
such workespecially since that
kind of project would be eligible for
consideration in the funding category
which I administer at NEH. But such
an effort would rely on the support
and participation of the library com-
munity, which would not be forth-
coming if Nyren's views are in any
way typical of the profession.

Prospective preservation, after
all, offers only three choices: use of
arid-free paper, improvement of the
storage environment, or deacidifica
Soo. Thanks to librarians and direc-
tors of university presses, we have
national standards for paper perma-
nence. We know what needs to be
done to improve storage environ-
ments, but deacidification still has
only one appropriately funded pilot
project underway. We should all be
grateful for that, but recognize the
need to do more.

Harold C. Cannon. Director.
Office of Preservation. National En-
dowment for the Humanities

We're number one

Baughman's "Sense Is Preferable to
Sound" (U, October 15.1986, p. 42-
44) demonstrates that more than one
town has a claim to the first public
library. We certainly think we do:
read all about it in U,lune 15,1978(p.
1223): "At Salisbury, Connecticut the
first known municipal taxation came
about in 1810 .. . ." Ibis earliest tax
support fora library was prompted by
a gift of books for youth, but the tax
funds supported an cleating library for
adults as well. These claims depend
on bow you define your terms. but on
any terms, Baughman seems to have
overlooked us, and we'd like to set the
record straight.

Sara B. O'Connor. Director,
Scoville Memorial Library Associa-
tion, Salisbury, Connecticut
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VTLS has real choices
in library automation

VTLS Installations
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VTLS ts a compreheren e, integrated. turnkey lilxary automation system.
A single price buys all twelve modules. The system serves more than 70
lilansts worldwide. Call and find out why

MICRO-VTLS Small but Powerful

VT1S ssconncerred about small collations. Small collections have all the
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tion control, full data entry capabilities, and anon-line catalog with access
by all authors. subsets. tales, sena, and standard control numbers.

See us at ALA

VPVirginia Tech Library Systems
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Try, try again with DEZ

Nyren's ed,torial and article (CJ,
September 15.1986. p. 4,33-35) point
to the conclusion that the Library of
Congress ought to dump DEZ. Even
ifNyren's statements are correct, 1
would not like to see LC dump its
research on DE.Z, when so much time
and energy has already been invested
in bringinz DEZ so near the point of
completion.

Continued research on deacidifi-
cation with DEZ is warranted by the
critical importance of finding a solu-
tion to the problem of large-scale de-
terioration of Vbrary collections and
the need for a mass deacidification
system engineered specifically for
the needs of LC. The problem is far
from licked. While no one can be
certain that the research on DEZ
will ultimately lead to the develop-
ment of a production technology, the
more approaches we try, the more
likely it is that we will find a viable
solution.

LC has one of the few laborato-
ries in this country capable of under-
taking scientific research and
engineering development, in a field
which generally lacks any initiatives
in this area. The support of the re-
search on DEZ to date has been an
invaluable contribution to the preser-
vation field.

Although the two fires at the ex-
perimental facility at the Goddard
Space Flight Center were unfortu-
nate, the lessons learned from those
setbacks can only result in a better
system. The whole purpose of the ex-
tensive testing program is to debug
the system now, rather than later. If
problems are identified and 11.1-

dressed in the testing phase, then the
testing program is meeting its pur-
pose. LC has already invested thou-
sands of hours of staff time in proving
that the chemistry of deacidification
with DEZ is sound. The program
should not be abandoned because
there are snags or failures along the
way. The setbacks should be seen as
a part of the course of any research
and development process.

The dedicated preservation staff
and scientists at LC must be able to
continue their work in an atmosphere
of support. They should not be con-
demned to failure prematurely before
their investigation is complete.

Ann Russell. Director, North-
east Document Conservation Center,
Andover, Massachusetts
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Accident/Illness Reportirm and Investigation

Host pieces have sone sort of reporting aselurtiza for

serious accidents and illnesses. Investigatiers of the

CAMS of these accidents or illnesses can result in recce-

variations that can prevent a recurrence. However, cut

fingers, spills, headaches, eye irritation, dermatitis, and

ocher minor problems are often &coxed until core serious

malifestations such as sedating finger, liver damee or

chemical pascals result. If these earlier, minor problems

had been reported, investigated and their causes corrected,

then the sore serious problems might have been prevented.

A formal reporting mechanism for all proven asd suspect

occupational illnesses, accidents and spills, including near

'misses, should be developed. A report fora to be filled out

by the supervisor should be provided for this purpose. In

some !nurses the health staff may be the ones to discover

probless. In such a use they also should fill on

reporting fora.

These reports shook} go to the Health and Safety CZ..

eleeft shich should designate soccome to investigate the

case of the problem and to reccsnd corrective action.

The resulting investigative report should be discussed by

the entire Comittee and its reconmendatiorms recorded in

the minutes.

LIBRARY JOURNAL ATTACKS LC

The September 15 Library Journal carried a hostile

ad uanforsed article hy Sailor Editor Karl hyrel, entitled

"The 182 Process and the Library of Congress." It can be

taken as a cautionary mespie of tow wrong inane can be

then they venture into areas outside their range of ezzer-

[Ise.

Hyrem feels that IC has been deceiving the public and

Congress: its real purpose In developing a sass dezidif !ca-

tion process using diethyl zinc has been to push it as a

prototype for world use--not to deacidify its an books.

IC, he says, deliberately misled Congress in order to get

the $11.5 million for its deacidification Pisa: it gave

the impression that it was going to use the 136 process to

preserve the 13 million books now in its collection, sk,ereas

the plant's capacity will be too scull to do rush more than

keep up with incasing beaks. He sees NASA not as a rather

inept cattractor, but as a white knight that blew tp the

pilot slant at the Goddard base on Febsuary 20, 1984,

because it "found the safety factors unacceptable." The

so-called denoliticn "coy have averted a truly massive

explosion."

It is far easier to make careless allegations than it

is to disprove thee. Perhaps it is even foolish to try to

disprove thee one by one, especially when there are as may

as there are In this article (at least 13 on the first two

pages) and then so may of vim are only 'slums, mamestans

or vague statements that are impossible either to prove or

to disprove. A very sane, effective rebuttal by tallies J.

Welsh was published in the same journal, p. 62-63 of the

A-rsarY Issue ("In ttfense of DETh IC's Perspective").

Nevertheless, certain facts of the case need to be made part

of the record.

First of all, IC's motives. Hymns says he wants to

issua "shy the Library of Comress has persisted in backing

the C6 preens." Of course, It is to deacidify toles and

prolong their lives. If hyren had been listening all these

years, he would not now have the feeling that the truth has

been kept free kin. He could also not have gotten the

implymssien that LC vas going to use 182 to rejuvenate the

old books now in its collection. He could have realized

that people in preservation have been talking about the

millions of brittle taxies in library collections because

if roe do not start dasidifying on a large scale now, there

1411 be even more millions of them in the future. And the

DM process corks. it soaks on &grind scale. hyren calls

the 1982 trial of 5030 books a (allure because the gas dad

not fully deacidify sore Cam half the books put in the

chamber; but by this reasoning, the tight Brothers' flight

at Kitty Hask should be called a failure because the plane

was not able to stay in the air fors:ore Min 12seconds.

NASA did not blow up the pilot plant because of coccenz

for safety with 06; It bier up a pipe, probably unreces,,ar-

ily, because it thapht there was some liquid 182 pooled in

it and building p pressure. The reason they got into this

spot cos that the system had not been designed with adequate

pressure valves and monitoring instnments in the cha-ber or

pipes. The test facility was designed by NASA. not LC.

To give as idea of Wren's ccemmx1 of facts: He calls

the Society of Archivists the "Society for Archives" and the

Institute of Paper Conservation the "InattUme for Paper

Ccnservaticn"; he says, on page 35, that Peter Sparks said

in 1983 that 6603 books had been treated by the process, but

that this was "forsarly referred to as 5003' backs (warne;

there wen 5000 has in one trial, but there had been other

smaller trials); he says that George Kelly reported the 1982

trial at the meeting at Cambridge in 1980.

In his rebuttal, tallies J. Wish says that diethyl

alto has ban used for years in the sensfacture of carmen

plastics, including polyethylene, polypropylene end poly-

ester. Like gasoline, natural gas and other industrial

chemicals, it requires special handling. Because of the

diversity of materials in the Library of Congress, gathered

frO2 all over the world, the deacidification process out be

safe for unusual materials and soluble media; ta is safe

erargh to be used without any presorting procedures. Both

current and retrospective materials will be treated. IC

has been working on deacidification for over 10 years. Its

purpose is "to preserve the national collections from the

devastating effects of acid in paper, on a truly massive

scale, and to do so without damaging the books in any way."

At this stage in the history of preservation, no one

Mows shich deacidi:incan method or methods will be the

most widely used, or how may new ones will be invented in

the future, but it really does not matter. All effective

roans should be used, as soon and as intensively as possi-

ble. The Library of Congress is a pioneer, and a world

leader in both a formal and an Thibaut sense. It deserves

the support of all librarians, evenoespeelailyothose the

are senior editors of the Library Journal, and mho are the

opinionnekers in the American library corruatY.
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Mr. OWENS. No further questions.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Hayes.
Mr. HAYES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I just wanted to, for the record, indicate that my tardiness this

morning certainly does not in any way imply my lack of interest in
the subject matter before this subcommittee. It just so happens
that we schedule subcommittee hearings sometimes so close togeth-
er that they conflict in time. I had another subcommittee whichbegan a half hour before this one, and once you get locked into it,
it is hard to leave to go to another one.

Thank you very much.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you.
Mr. Sparks and others of you that would want to respond to this,

including you, Mr. Welsh: Mr. Owens had said in effect that the
great hope for this problem lies in deacidification rather thanmici °filming .

When I asked Dr. Gregorian for his thoughts concerning thosetwo competing interestsalthough we recognize they are not truly
competing, but rather, both aiming toward the same goalhe indi-
cated that microfilming, if I recallif I am reflecting his responses
correctlyhe indicated that microfilming was of more certain im-
mediate firportance.

I would like Mr. Sparks and perhaps ahem of you to give us a
direction.

Mr. WELSH. May I begin, Mr. Chairman, thank you for the oppor-tunity.
The Library of Congress has been dedicated the task of micro-

filming since 1968. We have in that period microfilmed 400,000 vol-
umes. We believe, as Mr. Haas and others have testified, that it is
the way to go to solve the brittle book problem. We are really dedi-cated to that.

There isn't any other technology that is going to address that
problem at this time.

Mr. SPARKS. Let me just make one comment here, Mr. Chairman,
which gets at Mr. Owens' point. The dimensions of the problem
hereif you look at LC's collection which is representative of
many research library collectionsis that 75 percent of our collec-
tion is not brittle, and 25 percent is. We are struggling with the 25
percent to try to save the contents of this material through microfilming.

If we can prevent that 75 percent from getting brittle, that is a
really important task. That is why deacidification, as a technology,
is important to put in place.

Mr. WELSH. Deacidification would, of course, approach the prob-
lem prospectively and microfilming the brittle books does it retro-
spectively. If we can address the immediate problem by microfilm-
ing, and solve the problem for the future, then we will avoid this
problem that we now have.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Ms. Huxley?
Ms. HUXLEY. There is an additional element as well prospective-

ly, and that is the encouragement of publishers, and also of govern-
ments at the Federal and State level. To do something different in
terms of their ordering paper, to begin to press on a large scale for
the use of paper that isn't acid to begin with.
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Mr. WILLIAms. We do need t' consider that. I notice that this
book isn't printed on acid-free paper eitherthe Report on Brittle
Books.

Ms. HUXLEY. Yes, it is.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Oh, it is?
Ms. HUXLEY. Yes.
Mr. WILLIAMS. How can one tell that from looking at a publica-

tion?
Mr. HAAS. In the last couple of years the American National

Standards Association formally set a standard for permanent and
acid-free paper that includes not only a sentence or two to that
effect but a symbol of infinity. That infinity symbol is being used
I think it is not in that one

Mr. WILLIAMS. No, that's why I --
Mr. HAAS [continuing]. But the statement is in there that is acid-

free paper.
Mr. WILLIAMS. I see.
Mr. HAAs. Probably about 25 percent of the paper that goes into

books today is acid-free. That number is slowly- -
Mr. WILLIAMS. Twenty-five?
Mr. HAAS. Percent of the paper that goes into principally major

published books today is probably acid-free. University presses, for
example, almost uniformly use acid-free paper.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Yes.
Ms. Huxley, you mentioned we need to sound the alarm, fight

the fire, and save things all concurrently here if we can. You also
stated that we need national leadership to provide both appropriate
authority and funding.

Mr. Weber said that a major share of the start-up costs should be
a Federal responsibility.

Chairperson Cheney indicated that the infrastructure was not
yet in place to absorb increased Federal funding, or perhaps in-
creased dollars from any sourcecertainly increased Federal fund-
ing.

Given those thoughts, will you expand some on what you think
the appropriate immediate Federal role would be, because that is
the primary purpose of this hearing. We are not only trying to
sound the alarm with youwhich hopefully we have helped accom-
plishbut we would also like to be able to fight the fire, and we
want to aim our hoses at the right place here.

Ms. HUXLEY. We hope that the Library of Congress' work will
enable us to be fighting with more than buckets, which we are
doing.

Mr. WILLIAMS. The bucket brigade.
Ms. HUXLEY. I will answer the question nationally, but to say

that we have found in our two years experience in New York that
$2 millionI won't say a drop in the bucket$2 million does not
do the job even for us. The Regents have requested an increase to
$3 million immediately. We could have used that $3 million last
year because the pressure on those funds is great.

It is my feeling that while there is a great deal to doand the
job of coordination, even in our State, is not easythat it is appro-
priate to begin to save what we can even as we improve strategies

/
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for coordination and work out the details of assuring a smooth
operation.

I believe the same thing is true at the national level. The prob-
lem is so urgent that we simply have to risk a little with prudence
and provide the money to get started. We know that there are
major collections of major iml.,ortance to all of us residing at the
Yale University Library, for example, and not available even to re-
searchers at Yale, but could be available to researchers in New
York and in Montana and across the country, if we got started and
took care of those collections. The same is true at those other
major libraries.

I would think that a tenfold increase in the level of funding that
is available.at the national level would not be too much.

Mr. WILLIAMS. The infrastructure in New York and in the facili-
ties with which you are familiar is appropriately in place to proper-
ly absorb that significant a percentage increase in funding?

Ms. HUXLEY. You are assuming that the Federal money--you
mean our increase or yours, I'm sorry?

Mr. WILLIAMS. I don't know where thaincrease would come from.
The indication that I had from others who testified was that the
infrastructure might not be in place to be able to appropriately
absorb significant increases in funding, wherever that money camefrom. Is that

Ms. HUXLEY. I believe that in a facility like the New York Public
Library, for example, which has a massive problem, that if the
money were availableand that is certainly a national library,
almost as the Library of Congress isif the funding were avail-
ableI don't want to speak for Vartan Gregorian, but it would be
possible to contract out work to get going on those identified collec-
tions which are standing in line at the moment.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Haas?
Mr. HAAS. Over the last three or four years, the level of activity

has in fact gone up. I have no doubt at all that a rapid increase in
the amount of available funds specifically geared to the brittle
books could be effectively, intellectually, and technically put to use.
A new microfilming facility was established last October in Lehigh
University, owned by a consortium of Middle Atlantic State univer-
sities. That facility, by the end of March, will need new space, will
have five cameras going full time, films developed, processing
equipmentand it is a going enterprise.

It has got its work cut out for it. They could now, I think, keep
five cameras occupied for one shift for the next year with the work
that they already have lined up from a number of universities
around the country without advertising their availability. The ca-pacity is there, in some areas the bibliographic machinery is in
place. The large general research libraries that have in fact takenthe lead in creating preservation programs can very quickly scale
up their capacities.

We are on a plateau now. We have demonstrated, I think, that
we can in fact accomplish what needs to be done in each step alongthe way. But a kind of giant step is needed. I have been in this
almost as long as the Council. I have just no question that the time
is right and that persuasions, action at this point in time will in
fact stimulate imagination and participation.
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This is an area where the library world and the university world
are speaking with one voice, and that that in itself is of great
importance.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Boorstin?
Mr. BOORSTIN. Mr. Chairman, may I reinforce a point that Major

Owens made, which I think is the heart of the matter, and that is,
we have been talking about materials and philosophies, while what
we are really concerned about is accessthe access of our citizens,
present and future, to the sources of knowledge. This is a total pic-
ture of the problem which has at least three aspects to it: One, to
save what can be saved, and if necessary, spend the $50 a volume
that we have to spend to put something on microfilm, but also, be
sure that the microfilm reading machines are out there so people
can profit from that $50 a volume.

Secondly, we should pursue the program of preventive mainte-
nance, which the Library of Congress has been doing through de-
acidification, which, if successful, will preserve a volume at a cost
of only $5.00 a volume for four or five hundred years.

Finally, we should pursue an educational program for publishers
and printers to persuade them to use acid-free paper so it won't be
necessary to disacidify.

All of these we should pursue. I think that some of us have even
thought it might be desirablethe infinity symbol is good educa-
tion, but also it is concealed, following the example of the Surgeon
General, it might even be possible on the back of a book the state-
ment that this book may be dangerous to your library. That is part
of the process education.

It is a toted problema problem of making the sources of our
culture available, and each element in it is significant and needs
the help of the Congress, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. WILLIAMS. You can see we have a vote and we have to go
respond to it. We very much appreciate the information that has
been provided to this committee by this panel and the first panel
as well.

I do want to note that this is the first hearing in this Congress by
this subcommittee, we chose to have this early hearing on this im-
portant topic because of the obvious urgency and because, along
with you, we wanted to help sound the alarm and see what we can
do to fight these slow fires.

I thank you all very much.
[Additional material submitted for inclusion in the record.]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. THOMAS J. DOWNEY, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM NEW YORK

Mr. Chairman, first I would like to commend you for holding

these hearings and thank you for inviting ne to participate. I

remember discussing with you the problem of preservation of rare and

brittle books this past spring when we visited the New York Public

Library.

I would also like to welcome the distinguished President of the

New York Public ,ibrary, Dr. Vartan Gregorian, to these hearings.

Dr. Gregorian has done a great deal to place this problem on the

Congressional agenda and future generations will owe tam an immense

debt for his efforts.

When I read the Interim Report of the Committee on Preservation

and Access of the Council on Library Resources I was struck by the

statement that approximately one quarter of the collections of the

Library of Congress and the New York Public Library are in danger of

severe deterioration. In the words of the report they are '. . . so

embrittled that they will soon become useless.' I should add that

this is not a problem involving just
these two libraries, but one

that affects libraries throughout the country.

Clearly we are in danger of losing a significant part of our

cultural heritage. Were the Library of Congress or the New York

Public Library to suffer some sudden disaster that threatened such a

large part of its collection, people would sit up and take notice.

They would demand that something be done. Our problem is that the

threat is a quiet one and advances largely unnoticed by the puhlic.
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The Committee on Preservation and Access has been working over

the past several years to develop a coordinated response to the

problem and I commend them for their work. The Committee has

Identified this as a National problem. This is a problem which has

grave implications for our political system.

Anyone who has ever spent any time in the reading rooms at the

New York Public Library or the abrary of Congress knows what a

critical role these collections play in the public and political

life of our Nation. Our democracy has thrived because it has never

limited knowledge to an elite. The reading rooms are filled with

such a great diversity of people - scholars with impressive lists of

degrees and the self-ta at, professionals and amateur researchers -

all of whom have free access to the works that have shaped us as a

people. Public discourse in the United States will be much the

poorer if we have to restrict access to the collections because the

books cannot be adequately preserved.

The task before us in Congress is to support the efforts of

those who are trying to develop a program to preserve these books.

The most direct way in which we can help is to provide adequate

funding at the National level so that librarians and archivists can

get on with the task at hand. I will do whatever I can to see that

Congress authorizes the needed funds.

Once again, I would like to thank Chairman Williams for taking

the initiative in holding these hearings. I am ready to work with

you and members of the library and archive community.
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF ARTHUR W. SCHULTZ, MEMBER, PRESIDENT'S COMMITTEE ON
THE ARTS AND THE HUMANITIES AND CHAIRMAN, NATIONAL COMMITTEE To SAVE
AMERICA'S CULTURAL COLLECTIONS

Mr. Chairman, members of the Subcommittee, I am pleased to submit
written testimony on the national problem of preservation. Millions
of volumes in libraries, as well as important collections of maps,
music scores, and historic documents are seriously deteriorating.
While much of this material suffers from general wear and tear,
exacerbated by frequent use and improper storage conditions, the
problem is compounded by the fact that many books are printed on
brittle paper. Due to an acid residue on paper produced in the mid-
nineteenth century, virtually every item published during that
period is beginning to crumble before our very eyes.

Last year, the President's Committee on the Arts and the Humanities
and the National Institute for the Conservation of Cultural Property
(NIC) began working together on a project to promote the care and
preservation of America's cultural collections. We recognized that
a lack of visibility of the problem and the cost of preserving our
books are problems shared by all cultural institutions -- libraries
and archives as well as museums and historical societies. We agreed
that the key to improving preservation efforts across tho country is
to stimulate awareness of the problem and encourage support for
action.

As a result, the President's Committee and the N.I.C. have created
the National Committee to Save America's Cultural Collections. The
Committee, a distinguished panel of experts combining the talents of
conservation and preservation professionals, officers of major
cultural institutions, and civic and philanthropic leaders, is
considering this problem. I am honored to serve as the Chairman of
this distinguished group, which consists of Arthur Beale, Lloyd E.
Cotsen, Joan Kent Dillon, Stanley Freehling, Marshall Field, Peter
C. Marzio, Emily Rauh Pulitzer, Peter G. Sparks, and James M. Wood.
The Committee represents a major effort to involve the private
sector in supporting conservation and preservation programs. In the
past, these activities have been funded in the private sector by
only a handful of enlightened foundations and corporations.

The goals of the Committee are: 1) to focus public attention on the
urgent need to preserve cultural collections and significant
architecture; 2) to bring a greater understanding of conservation
and preservation activities to cultural institutions; and 3) to
encourage private sector support for these vital efforts.
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As its first project, the Committee is planning a pilot regional
forum for cultural decision-makers, including museum and library
trustees, corporate and foundation executives, and key processionals
from the museum and library fields. The fol!um will be held from
June 16-18, 1987, at the Art Institute of Chicago. Invitations to
the forum will be extended to selected participants from Indiana,
Illinois, Iowa, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Ohio, and Wisconsin.

Entitled "Invest in the American Collection," the forum will address
four major themes related to conservation and preservation: 1) the
critical needs of our cultural collections; 2) the achievements and
limitations of recent efforts to save cultural objects; 3) the
current status of training, treatment, and research; and 4) the
expansion of conservation and preservation resources. The forum
will feature nationally recognized speakers and tours of notable
Chicago-area conservation facilities.

Through this pilot forum, we hope to begin to build a resource
network for preservation in the Midwest and provide a model for
similar conferences in other regions of the country.

Mr. Chairman, members of the Subcommittee, we are gratified that
through hearings such as this, the important problem of saving our
nation's books is being brought to the public's attention. Thank
you for the opportunity to discuss our efforts to help address this
significant national concern.
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About the President's Committee on the Arts a.. the '4etanities.

The President's Committee on the Arts and the Humanities was created
by an Executive Order of the President on June 15, li432. The
Committee, an outgrowth of the Presidential Task Force on the Arts
and the Humanities, was established to assist in efforts to increase
private sector support for the arts and the humanities. As the
committee has evolved, it has focused its energies on the
identification of current needs in the arts and humanities and ways
to address these needs. Typically, these initiatives are organized
to analyze and explore possible solutions and to set up specific
projects. If a given initiative proves successful, the Committee
then ensures that a mechanism is in place to replicate the project
in communities or regions across the country.

The Committee is composed of the Chairman of the National Endowment
for the Arts and the Chairman of the National Endowment for the
Humanities, heads of a number of other federal agencies, and private
sector members selected by the President who have an interest in and
commitment to the arts and the humanities.
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About the National Institute for the Conservation of Cultural

Property, Inc.

The National Institute for the Conservation of Cultural Property,

Inc. (NIC) was created in 1982 to succeed the National Conservation

Advisory Council. NIC serves as a national forum for cooperation

and planning among institutions and programs concerned with

preserving our nlonis cultural heritage. Its membership of more
than 90 major cultural institutions provides an effective resource
network for all types or conservation disciplines and programs.

NIC has participated in important national studies on collections

care and works to increas* awareness of collections needs within

institutions. It serves conservation and preservation professionals
through information programs and projects in support of research and
training.
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MEMBERS OF THE NATIONAL COMMITTEE
TO SAVE AMERICA'S CULTURAL COLLECTIONS

Arthur W. Schultz is the former Chief Executive Officer of
Foote, Cone 4 Belding Communications and tormer Chairman of the
Board of Trustees of the Art Institute of Chicago. He is a
member of the President's Committee on the Arts and the
Humanities, a trustee of the University of Chicago and chairman
of the university's visiting committee for the humanities.

Arthur Beale is Director of the Research Laboratory of the
Boston Museum of Fine Arts and former Director/Conservator of
Sculpture and Objects, the Center for Conservation and Technical
Studies, Harvard University Art Museums. He served as Chairman
of the National Institute for the Conservation of Cultural
Property for three years.

Lloyd E. Cotsen, a member of the President's Committee on the
Arts and the Humanities, is President and Chief Executive
Officer of Neutrogena Corporation. He is a trustee and board
member of the Archaeological Institute of America and the
American School of Classical Studies in Athens. Mr. Cotsen
serves on the Advisory Council of the Art and Archaeology
Department at Princeton University and of the Museum of Cultural
History at UCLA.

Joan Kent Dillon, a professional volunteer in the arts and
historic preservation, is past president of the Performing Arts
Foundation of Kansas City, Missouri. She is a member of the
boards of the National Trust for Historic Preservation and the
League of Historic American Theatres. She is a member of the
President's Committee on the Arts and the Humanities and of the
Governors Board of the Nelson Gallery of Art.

Stanley M. Freehling. is Senior Partner in the firm of Freehling
and Company and a member of the President's Committee on the
Arts and the Humanities. He is Vice-Chairman of the Board of
the Art Institute of Chicago and Chairman of the Art Institute's
Film Center; at the University of Chicago, he chairs the
visiting committee for the visual arts and is a member of the
visiting committee for the humanities.

Marshall Field is Chairman of the Field Corporation in Chicago,
Illinois, and former publisher of the Chicago Sun-Times and the
Chicago Daily News. He is a trustee and Vice-Chairman of the
Art Institute of Chicago aal the Field Museum of Natural
History, a trustee of the Museum of Science and Industry, and a
member of the Board of Directors of the Field Foundation of
Illinois.
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Peter C. Marzio is Director of the Museum of Fine Arts in
Houston, Texas, former Director of the Corcoran Gallery in
Washington, D.C. and formerly Associate Curator and Chairman of
the Department of Cultural History of the Smithsonian's National
Museum of History and Technology.

Emily Rauh Pulitzer is a Commissioner o" the St. Louis Art
Museum and a member of the Board of Directors of the St. Louis
Mercantile Library Association, the Hark Rothko Foundation, and
the Art Museum Association of America. She is a former member
of the National Museum Services Board and a former curator of
the City Art Museum in St. Louis and the Fogg Art Museum at
Harvard.

Peter G. Sparks is the Director for Preservation and National
Preservation Program Officer at the Library of Congress. He is
a member of the Committee on Preservation of the Association of
Research Libraries, past editor of the Journal of the American
Institute for Conservation, and President emeritus of the board
of the Conservation Center for Artistic and Historic Artifacts,
a regional paper conservation facility in Philadelphia.

James N. Wood is Director of the Art Institute of Chicago and a
member of the National Council on the Arts. He is former
Director of the St. Louis Art Museum and former Associate
Director of the Albright-Knox Art Gallery in Buffalo, New York;
past Chairman of the Federal Indemnity Panel and past President
of the Intermuseum Conservation Association in Oberlin, Ohio.
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CIRCOUNCIL ON LIBRARY RESOURCES
1705 Nies,ecrksserta Avenue NW Wrsehrvt.oh.00 00336 TO 202 403-747.1

COMMISSION ON PRESERVATION ANO ACCESS

March 2, 1987

The Honorable Pat Williams
Chairman of the Subcommittee on

Postsecondary Education
House Annex 1, Room 617
Washington, O.C. 20515

Dear Congressman Williams:

As chairman of the Commission on Preservation and Actess, I am gratified
that the Subcommittee on Postsecondary Educatica is considering the brittle
book problem. The prospect of federal assistance in solving this pervasive
plague of our nation's libraries offers hope for what otherwise may be an
almost insurmountable problem.

Your committee will be addressed on this issue by some of the most
knowledgeable people in the country on the subject of brittle paper. I will,
therefore, limit myself to just a few brief points that I believe argue for the
importance and legitimacy of significant federal support to help deal with the
problem:

First, with hundreds of millions of volumes already at or near the point
of deterioration where normal usage is no longer possible, it is clear that
brittle paper is indeed a massive problem that threatens a large fraction of
our written heritage, our informational capital.

Second, the cost of preserving the information printed on brittle paper is
very large. A few hundred million dollars must be spent on preservation over
the next decade or two, even if careful choices are made to preserve only those
materials that are judged to be of greatest importance.

Third, with as much as 25 to 50 percent of their collections "at risk" or
already deteriorated beyond use, it is clear that individual libraries and
universities working alone cannot hope to find the resources necessary to solve
the problem. We must bring a focused, cooperative plan of action to bear upon
it. Such a plan will not only attain prompt action and avoid wasteful
redundancy, but will have the added advantage of making the fruits of the
effort universally available to small libraries as well as large. Thus,
although the brittle paper problem and the responsibility for it resides
largely in a relatively small number of major libraries, the benclits of a
suitable solution can be shared by all.

Okay Frye. Emory Um., eraty. Charmers Mocent Abex V,/ 0,.....,ty t..rhe 1 O. elyJOnlef. Govon. Unaere,ty of North Cerotren at Chapel MA Vith... Cr, N. v .ororyKenneth Gros loom Ind ono Un.verimy Carole Huxley, Now York State C.,/,,c (Voorrmonc.S.dney Verbs. Ncv`vIN/ Uneyerety Wn,. WoNh.L.Orury 0' CoNz.,..
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The Honorable Pat Williams
March 2, 1987
Page Two

The Commission on Preservation and Access has proposed a plan of
cooperative microfilming that would (1) greatly accelerate the pare of
microfilming, beginning now and continuing over the next lecade; (2) assure the
participation of the nation's principal libraries in proportion to the scope
and value of their collections; (3) avoid wasteful redundancy; and (4) make the
results widely available so that all benefit.

The key to the plan is funding. Obviously, major funding is needed to pay
the costs of a coordinated plan of preservation on the scale that is needed.
Less obvious, perhaps, is the fact that such funding is also necessary to
coalesce the participants around the effort that ue envision.

Many university and other libraries have already shown their ccnmitment by
establishing their own preservation programs and by suppurting and endorsing
the activities of the Commission. Undoubtedly, they will continue to provide
further support in the future within the limits of their capacity. Funds will
also be sought from foundations and corporations, and more states will be
encouraged to provide significant funding for preservation, as New York has

done. But even given such sources of funding, federal funds will be needed to
assure that we make significant progress while there is still time. I hope

that your Committee will not only agree that it is necessary to spend federal
funds to assure the success of this undertaking, but will also find it
eminently appropriate to do so as we celebrate the bicentennial anniversary of
our Coistitution. We would all agree, I am sure, that the printed word
represents an invaluable and irreplaceable part of our national heritage. The

task is urgent.

Again, I want to express my deep thanks to you and tne Committee for
giving your attention to the brittle paper problem.

Sincerely yours,

BEF/et
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UNITED STA ES HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

SUB - COMMITTEE ON POST- SECONDARY EDUCATION

Written Testimony on the Brittle Book Problem

The need for action to alleviate preservation problems is undeni-
able. The brittle book problem, in its enormity, demands both that
we develop and implement a program of crisis management for today
and that we put in place a means of strategic planning for the
future. A program of crisis management is mandatory if we are to

ft save the millions of volumes in our nation's libraries and reposi-
tories that are currently too brittle for continued use. such a
program should include three categories of action:

1) the immediate design and creation of an infrastructure
of cooperation and commitment;

2) a massive infusion of financial support;

3) an equally massive infusion of human resources.

In many ways, the Council on Library Resources' Commission on
Preservation and Access has already begun to respond to the need
for an infrastructure of cooperation and commitment by stating the
case for a concerted program of action among the nation's researcn
institutions. The Commission is in a position to serve as the
focal point for preservation advocacy both nationally and inter-
nationally; its role as primary crganizer of a unified national
plan for preservation action should be sanctioned by both the
United States House of Representatives and Senate. Further, that
Commission should be provided with funding at a scale sufficient to
follow through with this broad responsibility.

Although our national libraries and repositories have for years
recognized the need for long-range planning to cope with their
preservation needs, few, if any, have the resources to deal
effectively with the problem. Through the Commission, Congress
might provide specialized funding packages, specifically earmarked
for converting currently embrittled materials into stable media. As
a prerequisite to the receipt of this funding, these institu- tions
would develop long-range preservation action plans and associated
budgets for the identification and reformatting of the important
materials in their collections.

Much of the reformatting activity in which institutions are
currently engaged is funded through such agencies as The National
Endowment for the Humanities (Office of Preservation) and the
Department of Education O'itle II-C). The budgets for these
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agencies should be substantially increased, thus making available
greater support for fledgling efforts and at the same time
providing opportunities for the expansion of existing reformatting
capabilities in both the private and public sectors.

The management of a national plan such as is being described,
endorsed by Congress, implemented by the Commission and funded by
both federal agencies and private sector dollars, could be
supported further through an active advocacy role on the part of
members of Congress in their home states.

Currently, The National Endowment for the Humanities supports those
states committed to the U.S. Newspaper Project, a project designed
to preserve the content of all at-risk newspapers published in the
United States. Similar projects should be encouraged and funded at
the state level to address the brittleness problem as it affects
other materials (e.g. maps, photographic materiels, sheet music,
pamphlets, manuscripts, books and journals) residing in our state
libraries and repositories. These regional treasures are typically
unique and are as vital to our national heritage as are the
holdings (..f the Library of Congress.

Cooperation and commitment to the preservation of deteriorating
materials is more common today among the nation's academic research
institutions than it was ten years ago; nevertheless, we are still
faced with the certainty that the number of endangered materials
far surpasses our current financial capability to respond. Speci-
fically, there are currently too few microfilming centers where
materials could be sent for reformatting, not enough trained people
to staff them, and not enough dollars to pay for all the work
needing to be done.

The House of Representatives can, by officially sanctioning and
funding the work of the Commission on Preservation and Access, by
increasing its funding support of The National Endowment's Office
of Preservation and The Department of Education, and by encouraging
indi. lual responsibility for state-held materials, have a major
impact on both the numbers of endangered volumes we are able to
sa "2 and the speed at which we are able to preserve them.

Submitted By: Richard M. Dougherty
Director, University Library
The University of Michigan
Ann Arbor, Michigan
March 2, 1987
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Statement of Nova Iran Corporation
A Subsidiary of Union Carbide Corporation

Before The
Subcommittee on Postsecondary Lineation

Committee on Education and Labor
U.S. House oi Representatives

March 9, 1987

Five Iran Corporation, a subsidiary of Union Carbide Corporation, is
pleased to submit comments to the Subcommittee on Postsecondary Education
on the problem of decomposition of books - becoming "brittle" - and on
emerging technologies to combat this problem. it is a problem that is of
increasing concern to all libraries and educational systems.

It has been estimated that thirty to forty percent of the contents of
U.S, libraries are becoming or already are brittle. libraries are
encouraging publishers to print on non-acidic paper to prevent this
problem in future generations, but progress has been slow.

There clearly is a need to find ways to keep books available for use
by future generations. Some have suggested that society move away from
books in favor of computers ana microfilming of written material. While
these technologies are important, and have a place, we must preserve the
heritage of the past and the vitality of new generations oi writers ano
publishers. lo do this, new ways must be found to preserwe books and
other written material and doc-.ments in their oriOnal state.

Nova Iran Corporation has developed advanced technology which will
help address the problem of brittle be :' This technology relies on the
use of parylene protective coatings.

Developed by union Carbide in the 1960s, p,-ylene is an essential
tool for the electrola.-s industry as a means of protecting delicate
microcircuitry from moist-re and corrosion. Parylene is the generic name
for certain polymers known as Para-xylylenes. Its unique physical and
chemical properties, coupled with an advanced application process, make

parylene an important new conservation medium for books and other
archival materials.

Parylene polymer is colorless and transparent. It is extremely
resistant to chemical attack and is iosolubIe in most known chemicals.
It is also extremely resistant to moisture iv any form. It remains
stable at all temperatures that books and other archival materials are
likely to be exposed to.

The polymerization process, done in three steps, is accomplished at
rzbient room temperature without any thermal, mechanical or chemical
stress placed upon the materials being coated. Parylene polymers are
deposited onto these materials so that all sides of an object are coated
uniformly.
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The capability of parylene coatings to be highly efficient in their
application become significant when related to the encapsulation of books

and other archival materials. Paper is, in essence, a cellulose sponge

composed of thousands of individual cellulose fibers. Parylene, rather

than being a surface coating, will penetrate the paper and encapsulate
each individual cellulose fiber to a uniform thickness.

During the deposition process the parylene bill form what are
essentially polyLer 'bridges" between individual fibers. Together these

bridges significantly strengthen the paper. Optimum strength has been
established for different materials and can be readily determined for

books or archival materials to be encapsulated.

Tests have demonstrated the protection provided by parylene

coatings. For example, pages from a 20-year-olZ pulp paperback novel
encapsulated with parylene demonstrated tremendous resistance to the

stresses placed on them.

In one test, for example. a corner of as encapsulated page was bent
back and forth through 360° and creased with the fingers after each

flexure. This is a commonly ',sea test for embrittlement. After flexing

the corner 1000 times, the corner piece showed little evidence of

separation. A normal page fell apart after flexing it less than 100

times.

In another test, parylene encapsualted paper immersed in water for
six months showed no evidence of deterioration, while regular paper had
become translbcent and brownish in color, limp and easily torn.

The encapsulation process should be irreversible on most if not all

organic substrates. Its applicability should extend to entire books,

using special techniques and fixtures. A number of books, representing a

variety of techniques, coatings and thicknesses, are undergoing analysis

in cooperation with the library of Congress.

The barrier properties of parylene are known and documented and the
technology has been well established and refined over 20 yearn. This

technology provides a new range of alternatives for the field of
conservation of artifacts and archival materials. The addition of new

technologies, or the application of existing ones, serves to place
additional tools in the hands of conservators, thus increasing their
capabilities and contributing to the preservation of materials which

would eventually be lost if such alternatives were not available.

Our children and their children will some day thank us for seeing
ways to preserving those precious books that will some day comprise the

written account of their legacy.
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We hope this brief discussion of the parylene coatings technology
Nova Tran Corporation has developed and the potential applications to the
conservation of books and other archival materials will be helpful to the
Subcommittee.

0886C
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN UNIVERSITIES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION OF STATE UNIVERSITIES AND LAND-GRANT COLLEGES

This statement addresses the problem of brittle books--the
real and growing threat to substantial portions of the printed
record of our past--from the perspective of university presidents
responsible for some of the major libraries housing these
threatened collections. The library plays a central role in the
operation of a research university: the business of universities
is tha discovery, o-ganization, and dissemination of knowledge;
and the library is the facility in which accumulated and
accumulating knowledge is catalogued, stored, retrieved, and
shared. In most disciplines, library collections are the primary
scholarly tool for both students and scholars; in disciplines
such as history and literature, libraries are the virtual
research laboratories of faculty investigators.

Many people, while they understand the Importance of
libraries as essential repositories of information, nonetheless
view them as rather static places, easily and quietly accom-
modating vast stacks of books. A university president is quickly
disabused of any such notion by contemplating the library budget.
The volume of information has grown exponentially; it is not
trprising, therefore, that the operating expenditures of univer-

si,y libraries have substantially exceeded rates of inflation.

Superimposed on this struggle to keep pace with the
burgeoning of information is the urgent need to preserve the
record of our past. The deterioration of existing printed
material is the most serious crisis confronting research
libraries. But it is a crisis, not just for a set of academic
institutions but for the nation. The cause is the disintegration
of acid-based paper; the consequence is the progressive,
irreparable loss of printed information, the principal means of
carrying the past into the future. In the major research
libraries, approximately one-fourth of the books are already
brittle--too deteriorated to be safely used. As high as 80% of
the volumes in these collections were manufactured using acid-
based paper; they are steadily deteriorating and, without preven-
tive action, will become brittle.

A primary dimension of our intellectual heritage is at risk.
The costs of inaction are broadly cast and unacceptably large.
The need for sustained, systematic action is immediate. The
responsibility for action is widely shareduniversities, founda-
tions, federal and state governments must act.

Several responses to the preservation problem be
carrie=r out simultaneously. fortunately, a number of efforts are
already underw&j. More books are being padished n acid-fre(
paper. The Library of. Congress has made considerable progress in
developing a process for mass. 4eacidification. Many individual
libraries are carrying out prt-s-...e,ion projects. Several states
have begun statewide efforts. The federal governmert provides
funds for preservation through the recently establiv..ed Office of
Preservation of the National Endowment for th.i Hu.tanities and
through the Title II-C research library grant p ogram
administered through the Department of Education.
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These activities are important and must be continued. But
much more remains to be done. For more than two years, the
Council on Library Resources has sponsored a series of analyses
and discussions of the preservation problem. With funding pro-
vided by private foundations, CLR organized the Committee on
Preservation and Access in June, 1984. The committee included
library directors, university presidents, provosts, scholars, and
state and federal government officials. Over 18 months, the
committee examined the problem in all its dimensions: the number
of volumes at risk, the solutions available, the infrastructure
needed to carry out the procedure selected, and the cost and
duration of the effort.

Although the quantitative dimensions of the problem are
difficult to specify precisely, certain conclusions are clear.
The number of volumes at risk is enormous; after factoring in
duplicate copies, volumes already preserved and those that, for a
variety of reasons will not be saved, in excess of 3 million
volumes are at risk. Because the costs of preserving the books
themselves is prohibitive, the preservation effort must focus
reproduction of the contents. The most feasable technology now
available to accomplish this is the production of archival
quality microfilm copies of text. The coats involved are sub-
stantial, perhaps $15 million annually over a ten-year period.

The Commission on Preservation and Access has been organized
to carry out a coordinated, national preservation program.
Formed in conjunction with commission, the National Advisory
Council on Preservation will provide advice to the commission and
carry information to its constituent organizations, which repre-
sent universities, libraries, scholarly groups, and government
agencies.

Initial funding for the work of the commission is being
provided by a group of universities and foundations. The
Association of Research Libraries is developing the essential
bibliographic network to track accurately the microfilming
activity that will be carried out.

Thus, the critical decisions on how to proceed have been
made, the technology to preserve threatened stores of information
is available, and the organizational infrastructure to carry out
a national effort effectively and efficiently has been created.
What now is needed is the provision of sustained, stable fundingto support a multiyear effort.

It is appropriate and essential that the federal government
be a key supporter of this effort. Universities have accepted in
advance their responsibility to provide significant new funds forpreservation. Foundations have contributed and undoubtedly willcontinuo to contribute. But the federal government must increase
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its investment beyond the focused projects and model programs it
is now supporting to contribute a stable source of funding for
the project over the duration of its activity. The problem is
national in scope, and the federal government must be a central
participant in the solution.

It is important to note that this effort is more than a
battle to prevent irreparable loss. In the process of saving the
contents of deteriorating texts, we will be creating an
accessible national collection of preserved materials--to quote
from a report of the Committee on Preservation and Access, "a
'substantial and growing collection of master copies of items
produced from deteriorated t)ooke selected for preservation
because of their importance and available for replication for
collections or personal use." This expansion of access to valu-
able collections will directly benefit a large number of
libraries and individual scholars. Properly and promptly done, a
national preservation project will not only save our threatened
record of the past but will transform that record into an
expanding and widely accessible collection for the future.

The preparation for this national eneeavor has been care-
fully and thoughtfully conducted. It is now essentially
complete. It is time to begin the preservation work.

Mr. WILLIAMS. This hearing is adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 12:10 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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